Published for SISSA by 2 Springer

RECEIVED: December 3, 2013 ACCEPTED: December 16, 2013 PUBLISHED: January 15, 2014

# Boundary stress-energy tensor and Newton-Cartan geometry in Lifshitz holography

Morten H. Christensen,<sup>a</sup> Jelle Hartong,<sup>a</sup> Niels A. Obers<sup>a</sup> and Blaise Rollier<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> The Niels Bohr Institute, Copenhagen University, Blegdamsvej 17, DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø, Denmark
<sup>b</sup> Institute for Theoretical Physics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, Postbus 94485, 1090 GL Amsterdam, The Netherlands
E-mail: mchriste@fys.ku.dk, hartong@nbi.dk, obers@nbi.dk, B.R.Rollier@uva.nl

ABSTRACT: For a specific action supporting z = 2 Lifshitz geometries we identify the Lifshitz UV completion by solving for the most general solution near the Lifshitz boundary. We identify all the sources as leading components of bulk fields which requires a vielbein formalism. This includes two linear combinations of the bulk gauge field and timelike vielbein where one asymptotes to the boundary timelike vielbein and the other to the boundary gauge field. The geometry induced from the bulk onto the boundary is a novel extension of Newton-Cartan geometry that we call torsional Newton-Cartan (TNC) geometry. There is a constraint on the sources but its pairing with a Ward identity allows one to reduce the variation of the on-shell action to unconstrained sources. We compute all the vevs along with their Ward identities and derive conditions for the boundary theory to admit conserved currents obtained by contracting the boundary stress-energy tensor with a TNC analogue of a conformal Killing vector. We also obtain the anisotropic Weyl anomaly that takes the form of a Hořava-Lifshitz action defined on a TNC geometry. The Fefferman-Graham expansion contains a free function that does not appear in the variation of the on-shell action. We show that this is related to an irrelevant deformation that selects between two different UV completions.

KEYWORDS: Gauge-gravity correspondence, AdS-CFT Correspondence, Holography and condensed matter physics (AdS/CMT)

ARXIV EPRINT: 1311.6471



## Contents

1	Introduction			
	1.1	Scope and motivation	1	
	1.2	Summary and outline	3	
<b>2</b>	Background			
	2.1	The model	7	
	2.2	Lifshitz space-times	8	
	2.3	AlLif space-times and beyond	10	
	2.4	Radial gauge	14	
3	The Lifshitz UV completion			
	3.1	Frame fields	16	
	3.2	Boundary conditions	16	
	3.3	The 4-dimensional sources	18	
4	Boundary geometry			
	4.1	Contraction of the local Lorentz group	20	
	4.2	Covariant derivative and vielbein postulate	22	
	4.3	The choice of $\Gamma^c_{(0)ab}$	24	
	4.4	Newton-Cartan	25	
	4.5	Torsional Newton-Cartan	26	
	4.6	Curvature	27	
<b>5</b>	Boundary stress-energy tensor and Ward identities			
	5.1	The action with counterterms and its variation	30	
	5.2	Variation of the on-shell action	31	
	5.3	Ward identities	33	
	5.4	Dimensional reduction of the vevs and additional Ward identities	34	
	5.5	Local tangent space transformations of the sources and vevs	34	
	5.6	Gauge transformations and scaling dimensions of the vevs	37	
	5.7	Covariantizing the Ward identities	38	
6	Further physical properties			
	6.1	Conserved boundary currents	40	
	6.2	Anisotropic Weyl anomaly	42	
	6.3	Irrelevant deformations and a second UV completion	45	
7	Discussion and outlook			

$\mathbf{A}$	Holographic renormalization of the 5-dimensional theory			
	A.1 Fefferman-Graham expansions and counterterms	50		
	A.2 One-point functions	52		
	A.3 Boundary foliations	53		
	A.4 Five-dimensional Ward identities	54		
в	B Transformation to radial gauge			
$\mathbf{C}$	C Reduction of the anomaly density			
D	D Holographic reconstruction			
$\mathbf{E}$	E A hyperscaling $\theta = -1$ and $z = 1$ UV completion			

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Scope and motivation

Ever since the birth of the AdS/CFT correspondence [1–3] there has been a continuous effort to find more examples of holographic correspondences. In recent years this has received an extra boost due to the growing interest in using holography as a tool to study strong coupling physics of potential relevance to phenomenology such as holographic QCD, quark-gluon plasma physics, far from equilibrium dynamics, thermalization, high- $T_c$  superconductors and many other condensed matter systems (see [4–11] for reviews). Apart from the obvious phenomenological interest, this development provides a field theory inspired guidance to look for interesting problems on the gravitational side of the duality. In fact, very often the dual field theories are not known explicitly and one (quasi) defines them in the appropriate regime of the coupling constant at large N via the holographic duality. These developments have led to a tremendous activity in the field of applied holography leading e.g. to many new interesting asymptotically AdS black holes solutions and the construction of new types of holographic dualities involving non-asymptotically AdS space-times such as Schrödinger, Lifshitz and hyperscaling violating geometries.

The motivation of the present paper lies in understanding the basic ingredients of holographic dualities for scale invariant field theories with dynamical exponent z > 1. Such theories are of relevance to condensed matter theory (CMT) where one frequently finds effective field theory descriptions of a system near some quantum critical point that is invariant under the Lifshitz symmetry group (z-dependent scale transformations  $t \to \lambda^z t$ ,  $\vec{x} \to \lambda \vec{x}$ , space-time translations and spatial rotations). Lifshitz geometries [12–14] together with hyperscaling violating geometries [15–19] as well as more general Bianchi type spacetimes [20] have occurred as effective IR geometries that could furnish as a groundstate geometry of some CM system. Depending on one's interest one can then consider either an AdS (with or without hyperscaling violation) or a Lifshitz UV completion (again with or without hyperscaling violation). In this work we will see an example where a z = 2 Lifshitz IR geometry becomes either z = 2 Lifshitz in the UV or AdS with hyperscaling exponent  $\theta = -1$ .

The study of scale invariant (or covariant as in the case of hyperscaling violating) geometries provides furthermore a great opportunity to extend our understanding of holography beyond the familiar AdS/CFT context. There are many interesting open problems regarding the precise holographic nature (already at the level where a gravitational approximation applies) of Schrödinger, Lifshitz and hyperscaling violating geometries. Many such questions are in one way or another related to the precise properties of the analogue Fefferman-Graham (FG) theorem which so far is only known when contact with an AdS space-time can be made (e.g. by dualities such as TsT in the case of z = 2 Schrödinger holography [21–28] or by dimensional reduction as in the case of z = 2 Lifshitz holography which will be elaborated on further below). As a result, many properties of the holographic dictionary such as the boundary geometry, holographic renormalization, and one-point functions including the boundary stress-energy tensor are currently ill understood.

Extending the holographic paradigm to space-times that go beyond the original AdSsetting has thus received a great impetus in recent years. As remarked above, this has been motivated in part by applying holographic ideas to the study of strongly coupled condensed matter systems, which often exhibit non-relativistic scaling, and thus necessitate the consideration of bulk space-times with asymptotics different from AdS. Moreover, beyond the success of holography to study different types of strongly coupled quantum field theories, it is interesting to examine more generally to what extent holography is applicable in spaces with different asymptotics. This may shed further light on the nature of quantum gravity and elucidate puzzles in black hole physics.

From now on we will focus our attention on holography for Lifshitz space-times. By far the majority of work on Lifshitz holography has been within the context of the massive vector model [13, 14] because it is simple in matter content and because it can account for all values of z by suitably choosing the cosmological constant and mass parameter. For a holographic study of this model see [29–34]. From an analysis of the linearized perturbations [29–31, 35] it is known that one must separately study the following three cases: i). 1 < z < 2, ii). z = 2 (see also [36–38]) and iii). z > 2. For a perturbative approach to values of z close to one see the recent works [39, 40]. Black hole solutions of the massive vector model have been studied in [35, 41–43]. For related work on solutions such as Lifshitz black holes in other models for Lifshitz holography see e.g. [14, 44–48]. Probe fields and correlation functions have been studied in [13, 14, 49–54].

As an alternative approach one could give up generality and study a specific model where z is fixed but with the advantage that one controls the asymptotic expansions to the equations of motion. Such a scenario is known to be possible when z = 2 for the following reason. A Lifshitz space-time with z = 2 can be uplifted to an asymptotically AdS space-time in one dimension higher [55, 56]. This observation has motivated the search for Lagrangians that in 4 dimensions admit z = 2 Lifshitz solutions and that can be uplifted to 5 dimensions where they admit asymptotically AdS solutions [57–59]. The central idea is then to construct the FG expansions of the solutions in 5 dimensions and to reduce this to 4 dimensions. A first step in this direction was taken in [60] where the focus was on deriving the counterterms in 4 dimensions. Using this philosophy, we have presented in [61] the basic ingredients of an explicit holographic dictionary for Lifshitz holography at the level of the supergravity approximation. The aim of this paper is to give the details of the calculations that underlie the results of [61] and to present a number of other important properties of this holographic correspondence. In particular we explicitly address the holographic dictionary, including the corresponding boundary geometry, the identification of sources+vevs and the computation of Ward identities as well as many other important properties of the boundary stress-energy tensor such as the anisotropic Weyl anomaly and conserved boundary currents, as will be detailed below.

#### 1.2 Summary and outline

As an aid to the reader, we present here an outline of the paper, along with a summary of the main results.

**Section 2.** We begin in section 2 with a brief summary of the model that we use. The starting point is the 5-dimensional (renormalized) action (2.1) of Einstein gravity with a negative cosmological constant coupled to an axion-dilaton system. Note that throughout the paper we use the following notation: 5-dimensional quantities/indices are hatted while 4-dimensional quantities do not have a hat. Further, a, b-type indices refer to the boundary space-time and underlined indices denote tangent space. Our input will be the FG expansion of the solution to the equations of motion of the 5-dimensional action near the boundary (see [60, 62]), along with the identification of the sources and vevs in this model and the Ward identities satisfied by the vevs. The reduction from 5 to 4 dimensions is a Scherk-Schwarz reduction which we choose to perform such that the 5-dimensional axion has the form  $\hat{\chi} = ku + \chi$  with  $\chi$  a 4-dimensional axion and where  $u \sim u + 2\pi L$  parametrizes the reduction circle. The reduction ansatz for the remaining fields is of the standard Kaluza-Klein (KK) form. This Scherk-Schwarz reduction gauges the axion shift symmetry with the KK vector leading to a massive vector in 4 dimensions via the Stückelberg mechanism. This is a consistent reduction meaning that all solutions of the 4-dimensional theory can be uplifted to solutions of the 5-dimensional theory. When  $k \neq 0$ , which we will always assume, the 4-dimensional solutions split up into two classes depending on the asymptotic behavior of the KK dilaton. We will mostly focus on solutions belonging to the class for which there exists a Lifshitz UV completion. We show that this requires a certain constraint on the sources.

The reduction is spacelike everywhere in the bulk of the 5-dimensional space-time but must remain null on the boundary (which is the origin of the constraint just mentioned). There are two scales involved, k and L and we will be working in the regime where  $kL \ll 1$ . We show that this is compatible with the usual requirements of weak curvature and type IIB string coupling. In this situation we can ignore the KK tower of massive states and we obtain a 3-dimensional boundary theory. The weak coupling description of this theory has not been worked out in detail. Some general comments can be made about it. The axion in the bulk sources a theta angle in  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM and its reduction will give rise to a Chern-Simons term in 3-dimensions. Further since the reduction is along a null circle (from a boundary perspective) the theory will have a z = 2 dynamical exponent. It has therefore been dubbed a Lifshitz-Chern-Simons gauge theory [63, 64]. Hence a specific subset of the 5-dimensional asymptotically AdS solutions can be reduced to 4-dimensional asymptotically Lifshitz geometries [60] while maintaining a well-defined low energy approximation of type IIB string theory. The 4-dimensional action is given in (2.9).

Section 2.3 gives a preview of our results for the sources that are obtained upon dimensional reduction. We discuss a sequence of boundary conditions: asymptotically Lifshitz, asymptotically locally Lifshitz and UV Lifshitz which is such that the next item is weaker than the previous one. For each of these boundary conditions we list the corresponding boundary geometry in table 1. The reduction suggests (see also [65]) that the 4-dimensional asymptotic expansions are naturally formulated in a non-radial gauge. The section concludes with a discussion of the issues one faces when trying to transform to radial gauge.

Section 3. We obtain the most general boundary conditions that determine the z = 2Lifshitz UV completion in section 3, which we denote by Lif UV. Due to the constraint mentioned above, namely that the reduction circle must remain null on the boundary, the Lif UV boundary conditions are most conveniently implemented using a vielbein formalism. This is the subject of section 3.2. In fact if we demand that the sources appear as the leading components of bulk fields then it is mandatory to use vielbeins. By relating the 4-dimensional bulk frame fields to those in 5 dimensions (3.2)–(3.6) we obtain a simple relation between the 4- and 5-dimensional sources as given in (3.38)–(3.41). We notice the appearance of two special combinations (3.5) and (3.6) of the bulk gauge field with the bulk timelike frame field. The leading component of (3.5) will be the boundary timelike vielbein  $\tau_{(0)a}$  while the leading component of (3.6) will be the boundary gauge field  $A_{(0)a}$ . With these ingredients at hand, we can then compute the boundary geometry along with the variation of the on-shell action and obtain the Ward identities.

Section 4. In section 4 we obtain and study in detail the boundary geometry of the z = 2Lifshitz space-times of our model, and the resulting torsional Newton-Cartan structure is one of our central results. The appearance of Newton-Cartan structures is expected, since in our case the boundary geometry is obtained by null-reduction of the 5-dimensional asymptotically locally AdS boundary geometry. To study the metric structure of the boundary we start by obtaining the transformations induced on the boundary vielbeins by bulk local Lorentz transformations that leave dr/r invariant. The result is that the boundary vielbeins transform under the contracted Lorentz group consisting of local SO(2) rotations and Galilean boosts (see (4.22)–(4.25)). The construction of covariant derivatives containing two types of connections, one for local tangent space transformations and for coordinate transformations together with the corresponding vielbein postulates is discussed in subsection 4.2. Here we will see for the first time the important role played by torsion. The vielbein postulates relate the two types of connections.

In section 4.3 we choose our connection  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$  for covariant derivatives of tensors that are inert under local tangent space transformations. The choice is naturally suggested by the null reduction of the 5-dimensional asymptotically locally AdS boundary geometry and amounts to taking  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$  to be of the same functional form as in Newton-Cartan geometry but with the important difference that we do not set to zero a specific torsion tensor. Hence the name torsional Newton-Cartan (TNC). Even though we obtained the boundary geometry for a specific model admitting a z = 2 Lifshitz UV completion, nothing depends essentially on z = 2 but rather on the fact that the local tangent space group is a contraction of the Lorentz group. Since this will be the case for any z > 1 we expect the TNC geometry to be generic for Lifshitz holography.

In section 4.4 we discuss two important special cases namely twistless torsional Newton-Cartan (TTNC) obtained by taking  $\tau_{(0)a}$  to be hypersurface orthogonal and Newton-Cartan (NC) obtained by taking  $\tau_{(0)a}$  to be closed. For the case of TTNC (and thus automatically also for NC) we work out the geometry induced on the hypersurfaces to which  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is orthogonal in section 4.6. It turns out that this is described by Riemannian geometry (there is no torsion in directions tangential to these hypersurfaces). The geometric notions defined in section 4 enable us to write the Ward identities of our model in a covariant form, and furthermore play an important role in the study of the anisotropic Weyl anomaly.

Section 5. The vevs are calculated in section 5. The variation of the on-shell action is given in (5.35). The Ward identities for the vevs can be readily obtained by reducing the 5-dimensional PBH transformations. This is done in section 5.3 and gives rise to a set of algebraic and differential relations for the vevs and sources. The differential expressions will be written in a covariant form using the TNC geometry in section 5.7. The vevs appearing in the variation of the on-shell action (5.35) can be related to the 5-dimensional vevs by dimensional reduction. This is done in section 5.4. The relation between the 5- and 4-dimensional vevs shows a number of interesting features: i) it implies various additional Ward identities in 4 dimensions, and ii) the relation given in (5.59)-(5.61) is not invertible, i.e. we cannot express all 5-dimensional vevs in terms of 4-dimensional ones. The implications of this are discussed in section 6.3 which we will summarize shortly below.

As regards to point i), namely the extra Ward identities, some of these are to be expected and are simply related to the fact that we work with a vielbein formalism so that there will be Ward identities related to the local tangent space transformations, i.e. the Galilean boosts and the SO(2) rotations and this is indeed what we find. However we find one more Ward identity (5.63) whose origin we explain in section 5.5 and we show that it is intimately connected with the constraint that the reduction circle on the boundary is null. The relation (5.63) allows us to remove the term proportional to  $\delta \Phi_{(0)}$  in the variation of the on-shell action (5.35) leaving us with only unconstrained sources. Further sections 5.5 and 5.6 discuss the various transformation properties of the sources and vevs under the various local symmetries. This leads us to define the unique gauge and local tangent space invariant boundary stress-energy tensor  $\mathcal{T}^a_{(0)b}$  as given in (5.86). We derive the scale dimensions of its tangent space components which in [29, 30] have been referred to as the energy density, the momentum density, the energy flux and the stress. Interestingly the energy flux appears to be a dimension 5 operator. Nevertheless we are able to compute it because it should really be viewed as a contraction of a dimension 3 vev with a dimension 2 source.

The last section 6 is a collection of various physical properties of the boundary Section 6. stress-energy tensor. The Ward identity for the boundary stress-energy tensor is not of the form of a conservation equation. This is common for stress-energy tensors defined by variation with respect to vielbeins whenever there are vectors in the theory [66]. The main difference between  $\mathcal{T}^a_{(0)b}$  and the HIM [66] boundary stress-energy tensor is due to the TNC boundary geometry, i.e. the fact that we cannot raise/lower indices and the presence of torsion. In section 6.1 we derive necessary and sufficient conditions for there to be conserved currents obtained by contracting the boundary stress-energy tensor with some vector  $K^a_{(0)}$ . This leads to a set of conditions on  $K^a_{(0)}$  that can be thought of as the analogue of the conformal Killing equation in the context of TNC. In section 6.2 we evaluate the anisotropic Weyl anomaly density  $\mathcal{A}_{(0)}$  and show that it takes the form of a Hořava-Lifshitz (HL) action but with the important difference that it is defined on a TNC geometry as opposed to a Lorentzian geometry as is the case for HL theories. An important role here is played by the boundary gauge field which is necessary to make kinetic terms appearing in  $\mathcal{A}_{(0)}$  invariant under local Galilean boosts. The expression for  $\mathcal{A}_{(0)}$  contains three different types of terms: those that are zeroth order in derivatives, second order kinetic terms and fourth order spatial derivative terms. In section 6.3 we come back to the issue that not all components of the 5-dimensional vevs can be rewritten in terms of 4-dimensional vevs. In fact we show that there is a specific component of the 5-dimensional boundary stressenergy tensor that decouples from all the Ward identities upon reduction and that appears in the 4-dimensional FG expansion without a dual sources. This is due to the fact that we have turned its source off. This is once again related to the constraint coming from the fact that the reduction circle must remain null on the boundary in order to have a Lifshitz UV completion. From the point of view of perturbations around the z = 2 Lifshitz space-time this corresponds to turning off an irrelevant deformation. If we were to allow for this irrelevant deformation we would obtain a UV completion that is of the hyperscaling violating type with  $\theta = -1$  and z = 1 as is shown in appendix **E**.

**Discussion and appendices.** In the discussion section 7 we further elaborate on some of our findings and suggest future directions for research. Appendix A contains background material on the details of the 5-dimensional theory where section A.3 can be used to convert our results to any 4-dimensional boundary ADM gauge. Appendices B and C contain calculational details that have been omitted in the main text regarding the transformation to radial gauge and the reduction of the 5-dimensional Weyl anomaly, respectively. Appendix D collects the 4-dimensional Fefferman-Graham expansions written in metric (i.e. non-vielbein) language. Finally as already mentioned appendix E deals with the second UV completion obtained by taking the reduction circle spacelike on the boundary.

#### 2 Background

As this work is a continuation of earlier work [59, 60] we briefly summarize the model used there. This also allows us to introduce notation and to motivate more precisely our interest in the structure of the sources and vevs of the theory, the corresponding Ward identities, and the boundary geometry.

#### 2.1 The model

The model that we use can be obtained by dimensional reduction of the following 5dimensional action [57, 58, 62]

$$S_{\rm ren} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_5^2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^5x \sqrt{-\hat{g}} \left( \hat{R} + 12 - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\hat{\mu}} \hat{\phi} \partial^{\hat{\mu}} \hat{\phi} - \frac{1}{2} e^{2\hat{\phi}} \partial_{\hat{\mu}} \hat{\chi} \partial^{\hat{\mu}} \hat{\chi} \right) + \frac{1}{\kappa_5^2} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} d^4x \sqrt{-\hat{h}} \hat{K} + S_{\rm ct} \,,$$

$$\tag{2.1}$$

where  $\kappa_5^2 = 8\pi G_5$  with  $G_5$  the 5-dimensional Newton's constant and where  $\hat{h}$  denotes the determinant of the metric on  $\partial \mathcal{M}$ . The action (2.1) can be obtained by a Freund-Rubin compactification of type IIB supergravity. The AdS<sub>5</sub> length has been set equal to one. Throughout this paper we will denote 5-dimensional quantities/indices by putting a hat on them. The action  $S_{\rm ct}$  contains all the counterterms (see (A.14)–(A.16) for their explicit expressions). The equations of motion are

$$\hat{\mathcal{E}}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} = \hat{G}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} - 6\hat{g}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} - \hat{T}^{\text{bulk}}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} = 0, \qquad (2.2)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{E}}_{\hat{\phi}} = \hat{\Box}\hat{\phi} - e^{2\phi}(\partial\hat{\chi})^2 = 0, \qquad (2.3)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{E}}_{\hat{\chi}} = \hat{\nabla}_{\hat{\mu}} \left( e^{2\hat{\phi}} \partial^{\hat{\mu}} \hat{\chi} \right) = 0, \qquad (2.4)$$

where the bulk energy-momentum tensor is

$$\hat{T}^{\text{bulk}}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\hat{\mu}} \hat{\phi} \partial_{\hat{\nu}} \hat{\phi} + \frac{1}{2} e^{2\hat{\phi}} \partial_{\hat{\mu}} \hat{\chi} \partial_{\hat{\nu}} \hat{\chi} - \frac{1}{4} \hat{g}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} \left( (\partial\hat{\phi})^2 + e^{2\hat{\phi}} (\partial\hat{\chi})^2 \right) \,. \tag{2.5}$$

Dimensional reduction of the action (2.1) can be performed using the ansatz

$$d\hat{s}^{2} = \hat{g}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}}dx^{\hat{\mu}}dx^{\hat{\nu}} = e^{-\Phi}g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + e^{2\Phi}\left(du + A_{\mu}dx^{\mu}\right)^{2}, \qquad (2.6)$$

$$\hat{\chi} = \chi + ku\,,\tag{2.7}$$

$$\hat{\phi} = \phi \,, \tag{2.8}$$

where the four dimensional unhatted fields are independent of the fifth coordinate u which is periodically identified  $u \sim u + 2\pi L$ , giving

$$S_{\rm ren} = \frac{2\pi L}{2\kappa_5^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left( R - \frac{3}{2} \partial_\mu \Phi \partial^\mu \Phi - \frac{1}{4} e^{3\Phi} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi - \frac{1}{2} e^{2\phi} D_\mu \chi D^\mu \chi - V \right) + \frac{2\pi L}{\kappa_5^2} \int d^3x \sqrt{-h} K + S_{\rm ct} \,,$$
(2.9)

where

$$D_{\mu}\chi = \partial_{\mu}\chi - kA_{\mu}, \qquad (2.10)$$

$$F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}, \qquad (2.11)$$

$$V = \frac{k^2}{2}e^{-3\Phi + 2\phi} - 12e^{-\Phi}, \qquad (2.12)$$

and we take  $k \neq 0$ . The reduced counterterm action was obtained in [60] and is given in (5.1). The corresponding equations of motion of the reduced theory are then given by

$$\mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu} = G_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{8} e^{3\Phi} g_{\mu\nu} F_{\rho\sigma} F^{\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{2} e^{3\Phi} F_{\mu\rho} F_{\nu}{}^{\rho} + \frac{1}{4} e^{2\phi} g_{\mu\nu} D_{\rho} \chi D^{\rho} \chi - \frac{1}{2} e^{2\phi} D_{\mu} \chi D_{\nu} \chi + \frac{3}{4} g_{\mu\nu} \partial_{\rho} \Phi \partial^{\rho} \Phi - \frac{3}{2} \partial_{\mu} \Phi \partial_{\nu} \Phi + \frac{1}{4} g_{\mu\nu} \partial_{\rho} \phi \partial^{\rho} \phi - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi + \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} V , \qquad (2.13)$$

$$\mathcal{E}^{\nu} = \nabla_{\mu} \left( e^{3\Phi} F^{\mu\nu} \right) + k e^{2\phi} D^{\nu} \chi \,, \tag{2.14}$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{\Phi} = 3\Box \Phi - \frac{3}{4}e^{3\Phi}F_{\mu\nu}F^{\mu\nu} + \frac{3}{2}k^2e^{-3\Phi+2\phi} - 12e^{-\Phi}, \qquad (2.15)$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{\phi} = \Box \phi - e^{2\phi} D_{\mu} \chi D^{\mu} \chi - k^2 e^{-3\Phi + 2\phi} , \qquad (2.16)$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{\chi} = \nabla_{\mu} \left( e^{2\phi} D^{\mu} \chi \right) \,. \tag{2.17}$$

#### 2.2 Lifshitz space-times

The equations (2.13) to (2.17) admit the pure z = 2 Lifshitz space-time as a solution,

$$ds^{2} = g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = e^{\Phi_{(0)}} \left(\frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} - e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}}\frac{dt^{2}}{r^{4}} + \frac{1}{r^{2}}\left(dx^{2} + dy^{2}\right)\right), \qquad (2.18)$$

$$A = A_{\mu}dx^{\mu} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}}\frac{dt}{r^2}, \qquad (2.19)$$

$$\Phi = \Phi_{(0)} = \phi_{(0)} + \log \frac{k}{2}, \qquad (2.20)$$

$$\phi = \phi_{(0)} = \operatorname{cst}.$$
 (2.21)

From a 5-dimensional perspective this solution is a z = 0 Schrödinger space-time [55–57] and reads

$$d\hat{s}^{2} = \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} \left( 2dtdu + dx^{2} + dy^{2} \right) + \frac{k^{2}}{4}g_{s}^{2}du^{2}, \qquad (2.22)$$

$$\hat{\phi} = \hat{\phi}_{(0)} = \phi_{(0)} = \log g_s = \operatorname{cst},$$
(2.23)

$$\hat{\chi} = ku + \text{cst} \,. \tag{2.24}$$

For the remainder of this subsection we find it convenient to reintroduce the  $AdS_5$  length parameter *l*. The supergravity approximation, i.e. small curvature and weak string coupling, requires

$$\frac{l}{l_s} \gg 1, \qquad g_s \ll 1. \tag{2.25}$$

The first condition is the usual limit of large 't Hooft coupling  $l/l_s = \lambda^{1/4}$ . The radius of the circle over which we compactify from 5 to 4 dimensions is given by (in units of string length)

$$\frac{2\pi L_{\rm phys}}{l_s} = \frac{1}{l_s} \int_0^{2\pi L} du \sqrt{g_{uu}} = \frac{1}{l_s} (2\pi L) \frac{lkg_s}{2} , \qquad (2.26)$$

where

$$e^{\Phi_{(0)}} = \frac{lkg_s}{2} \,. \tag{2.27}$$

In order not to have any light string winding modes we demand that

$$\frac{L_{\text{phys}}}{l_s} = \frac{l}{l_s} \frac{Lkg_s}{2} \gg 1.$$
(2.28)

Hence in order for the 5-dimensional supergravity approximation to hold (on a background with a circle) we need (2.25) and (2.28). We will always assume these conditions to be satisfied. We conclude that the circle is spacelike everywhere in the bulk and can be taken large in units of  $l_s$ . Despite this, the circle on the boundary metric obtained by rescaling (2.22) by  $r^2$  and setting r = 0 is null. This will have important consequences that will be discussed below.

In type IIB string theory the axion shift symmetry is broken to a symmetry under integer shifts (which here follows from single-valuedness of the axion wavefunction along u) so that

$$2\pi Lk \in \mathbb{Z} \,. \tag{2.29}$$

It follows from (2.28) that the physical size  $L_{phys}$  of the compactification radius in units of the AdS length is given by

$$\frac{L_{\rm phys}}{l} = L \frac{kg_s}{2} \,, \tag{2.30}$$

so that the decompactification limit corresponds to

$$\frac{L_{\rm phys}}{l} \gg 1.$$
 (2.31)

Next we consider the opposite regime with  $\frac{L_{\text{phys}}}{l} \ll 1$  (with  $l/l_s$  sufficiently large such that (2.28) remains satisfied) and argue that this is the range in which the boundary theory becomes 3-dimensional. To this end we look at a probe scalar  $\hat{\varphi}$  on the 5-dimensional background (2.22) described by the equation

$$\left(\hat{\Box} - m^2\right)\hat{\varphi} = 0. \qquad (2.32)$$

Decomposing

$$\hat{\varphi} = \sum_{n} e^{\mathrm{inu/L}} \varphi_n \,, \tag{2.33}$$

where the  $\varphi_n$  are complex valued we obtain for each  $\varphi_n$  the equation<sup>1</sup>

$$\left(D_{\mu}D^{\mu} - m_{\rm Lif}^2\right)\varphi_n = 0, \qquad (2.34)$$

where

$$D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - i \frac{n}{L} A_{\mu} , \qquad (2.35)$$

and

$$m_{\rm Lif}^2 = e^{-\Phi_{(0)}} \left( m^2 + e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \frac{n^2}{L^2} \right) \,. \tag{2.36}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We incidentally note that a good probe equation of motion for a charged scalar field on Lifshitz involves a minimal coupling term to the background gauge field.

Using that the Lifshitz radius  $l_{\text{Lif}}$  is given by (see equation (2.18))

$$l_{\rm Lif}^2 = l^2 e^{\Phi_{(0)}} , \qquad (2.37)$$

we have

$$m_{\rm Lif}^2 l_{\rm Lif}^2 = m^2 l^2 + \frac{4n^2}{k^2 g_s^2 L^2} = m^2 l^2 + \frac{l^2 n^2}{L_{\rm phys}^2}.$$
 (2.38)

In order to stay well below the KK mass scale we thus need

$$\frac{L_{\rm phys}}{l} \ll 1. \tag{2.39}$$

Above the decompactification scale  $kL \gg g_s^{-1}$  the theory is 4-dimensional  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM in the background of a nontrivial theta angle (sourced by the axion). For  $kL \sim g_s^{-1}$  we cannot ignore the KK modes and the theory is a DLCQ of  $\mathcal{N} = 4$  SYM but where the DLCQ is deformed by the axion flux. When  $kL \ll g_s^{-1}$  the boundary theory is a 3-dimensional Lifshitz-Chern-Simons non-Abelian gauge theory [63, 64]. Of course throughout we need  $l/l_s$  sufficiently large and  $g_s$  small.

#### 2.3 AlLif space-times and beyond

It is instructive to look at (2.22) from the point of view of a 5-dimensional Fefferman-Graham expansion. Since this was already done in [60] we shall be brief. To this end we write the 5-dimensional metric as

$$d\hat{s}^2 = \frac{dr^2}{r^2} + \hat{h}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} dx^{\hat{a}} dx^{\hat{b}} , \qquad (2.40)$$

and using the general metric expansion (A.1) we conclude by comparing with (2.22) that we have

$$\hat{h}_{(0)uu} = 0, \qquad (2.41)$$

$$\hat{h}_{(2)uu} = \frac{k^2 g_s^2}{4} \,. \tag{2.42}$$

The latter condition implies via (A.5) that for the z = 0 Schrödinger space-time

$$\hat{R}_{(0)uu} = 0. (2.43)$$

Using that  $\partial_u$  is a null Killing vector and thus tangent to a null geodesic congruence it has been shown in [60] that provided (2.43) holds  $\partial_u$  is hypersurface orthogonal.

In the pure Lifshitz solution of the previous subsection the two dilatons  $\Phi$  and  $\phi$  were constant and related via  $\Phi - \phi = \log \frac{k}{2}$ . When considering more general space-times a natural generalization of this would be to consider  $\Phi$  and  $\phi$  such that they asymptote to something of order  $r^0$ . We would thus demand that we have

$$\Phi = \Phi_{(0)} + \dots, \qquad (2.44)$$

$$\phi = \phi_{(0)} + \dots, \qquad (2.45)$$

where the boundary values  $\Phi_{(0)}$  and  $\phi_{(0)}$  are arbitrary functions of the boundary coordinates. The reduction ansatz (2.6) tells us that

$$e^{2\Phi} = \hat{h}_{uu} \,. \tag{2.46}$$

In order that  $\Phi$  asymptotes in general to something of order  $r^0$  we need that (2.41) holds.

The case where (2.41) is dropped is discussed in appendix E. For a large part of the paper we do not consider this case because it does not contain the Lifshitz space-time of the previous subsection.<sup>2</sup> From the lowest order in the expansion of (2.46) we obtain

$$e^{2\Phi_{(0)}} = -\frac{1}{2}\hat{R}_{(0)uu} + \frac{k^2}{4}e^{2\phi_{(0)}}, \qquad (2.47)$$

where we used (A.5). It is therefore not possible for both the boundary values  $\Phi_{(0)}$  and  $\phi_{(0)}$  to fluctuate arbitrarily. This constraint can be viewed as a 4-dimensional analogue of the condition that the reduction circle, which is spacelike everywhere in the bulk, is null on the boundary, i.e. (2.41). As discussed in the previous subsection this is not equivalent to a standard DLCQ reduction of the boundary theory. We showed that there is a well-defined parameter regime in which the reduction is well-defined (consistent and within suitable parameter ranges in order for the low energy approximation to apply) and we can truncate the KK tower of massive particles with the boundary theory being described by a Lifshitz-Chern-Simons gauge theory.

Since from the point of view of the boundary of the 5-dimensional AlAdS spacetime the reduction is along a null circle we expect that the boundary structure of the 4-dimensional space-time shows non-relativistic structures. Indeed we will see later that we obtain Newton-Cartan boundary geometries as well as generalizations thereof. To this end it is very useful to introduce frame fields.

From the reduction ansatz (2.6) and (2.40) we learn that the 4-dimensional metric can be written as

$$ds^{2} = e^{\Phi} \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} + h_{ab} dx^{a} dx^{b}, \qquad (2.48)$$

where r is the 5-dimensional radial gauge coordinate and where

$$h_{ab} = \left(\hat{h}_{uu}\right)^{1/2} \left(\hat{h}_{ab} - \frac{\hat{h}_{au}\hat{h}_{bu}}{\hat{h}_{uu}}\right) \,. \tag{2.49}$$

We write the 4D metric  $h_{ab}$  in a frame field basis as follows

$$h_{ab} = -e_{\bar{a}}^{\underline{t}} e_{\bar{b}}^{\underline{t}} + \delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}} e_{\bar{a}}^{\underline{i}} e_{\bar{b}}^{\underline{j}} \,. \tag{2.50}$$

Here and in the following we use the notation that underlined indices are (flat) tangent space indices and  $\underline{a} = \{\underline{t}, \underline{i}\}$  with i = 1, 2. Since we impose (2.41) it follows that the second

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In appendix E we show that our 4-dimensional model does contain geometries that asymptote to a hyperscaling violating geometry with  $\theta = -1$  and z = 1. However in 4-dimensions one cannot continuously deform (while staying close to the UV at r = 0) the class of solutions containing asymptotic  $\theta = -1$  and z = 1 space-times to the class of solutions containing asymptotic  $\theta = 0$  and z = 2 space-times. We discuss the role of these two different UV theories further in section 6.3.

term in (2.49) starts at order  $r^{-4}$ . Hence we have for the frame fields

$$e^{\underline{t}} = r^{-2} e^{-\Phi_{(0)}/2} \tau_{(0)a} dx^a + \dots, \qquad (2.51)$$

$$e^{\underline{i}} = r^{-1} e^{\Phi_{(0)}/2} e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} dx^a + \dots$$
(2.52)

We have included specific powers of  $e^{\Phi_{(0)}}$  that will prove very convenient<sup>3</sup> in the analysis of the vevs in section 5.

It can be shown that (see section 3.3),

$$\hat{R}_{(0)uu} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \varepsilon^{abc}_{(0)} \tau_{(0)a} \partial_b \tau_{(0)c} \right)^2 \,, \tag{2.53}$$

where

$$\varepsilon_{(0)}^{abc} = \epsilon^{\underline{abc}} e^{a}_{(0)\underline{a}} e^{b}_{(0)\underline{b}} e^{c}_{(0)\underline{c}} = e^{-1}_{(0)} \epsilon^{abc} , \qquad (2.54)$$

with  $\epsilon^{\underline{abc}}$  and  $\epsilon^{\underline{abc}}$  the Levi-Cività symbol in flat and curved indices, respectively and where  $e_{(0)}$  is the determinant of  $e^{\underline{a}}_{(0)a}$ . We take  $\epsilon^{\underline{tij}} = -\epsilon^{\underline{ij}}$ . It follows that hypersurface orthogonality of  $\tau_{(0)a}$ , i.e. the vanishing of  $\varepsilon^{\underline{abc}}_{(0)}\tau_{(0)a}\partial_b\tau_{(0)c}$  is equivalent to hypersurface orthogonality of the null Killing vector  $\partial_u$  with respect to the AlAdS boundary metric,<sup>4</sup> i.e. the vanishing of  $\hat{R}_{(0)uu}$ . Using the expression (2.53) we can rewrite the constraint (2.47) as

$$e^{2\Phi_{(0)}} = -\frac{1}{4} \left( \varepsilon_{(0)}^{abc} \tau_{(0)a} \partial_b \tau_{(0)c} \right)^2 + \frac{k^2}{4} e^{2\phi_{(0)}} .$$
(2.55)

Next we turn our attention to the KK vector of the 4D theory, which takes the form

$$A_r = 0, \qquad (2.56)$$

$$A_a = \frac{h_{au}}{\hat{h}_{uu}}, \qquad (2.57)$$

using the reduction ansatz (2.6). We thus get the expansion

$$A_a = r^{-2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \tau_{(0)a} + \dots, \qquad (2.58)$$

after using the relations (2.46) and (2.49). We see that asymptotically the bulk gauge field is proportional to the timelike frame field  $e_a^t$ .

We have so far discussed the sources that are the leading components of the frame fields and scalar fields and we observed that the leading term in the expansion of the KK vector is given in terms of those. There are two more sources that will play a role later on, and that are given here for completeness

$$A_a - e^{-3\Phi/2} e_{\bar{a}}^{\underline{t}} = A_{(0)a} + \dots , \qquad (2.59)$$

$$\chi = \chi_{(0)} + \dots, \qquad (2.60)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The reason for this is explained below eq. (5.79) under the heading "local dilatations". This choice is therefore justified a posteriori.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We note that boundary metrics of 5-dimensional AAdS space-times that admit a hypersurface orthogonal null Killing vector also played a key role in the construction of 5-dimensional z = 2 asymptotically Schrödinger space-times by using TsT transformations [25]. This could be easily generalized to the case of AlAdS<sub>5</sub> space-times whose boundary metric admits a hypersurface orthogonal null Killing vector.

Asymptotics	$\tau_{(0)} \wedge d\tau_{(0)}$	$d au_{(0)}$	Boundary Geometry
ALif	0	0	NC
AlLif	0	$\neq 0$	TTNC
Lif UV	$\neq 0$	$\neq 0$	TNC

**Table 1.** Indicated are the 3 different boundary conditions discussed in the text depending on the behavior of  $\tau_{(0)}$ . The last column indicates the type of boundary geometry.

where  $A_{(0)a}$  is the boundary gauge field and  $\chi_{(0)}$  the boundary axion. We will define AlLif and their deformations independently of what happens with  $A_{(0)a}$  and  $\chi_{(0)}$ . The notion of boundary gauge field as defined in (2.59) has to the best of our knowledge been overlooked in the Lifshitz literature. It forms an essential part of the boundary geometry. This boundary geometry, as will be explained in section 4, will turn out to be Newton-Cartan geometry extended with a certain torsion tensor. The geometrical role of the boundary gauge field will be further discussed in section 5.5.

Consider the following two types of asymptotic structures:

- 1. AlLif:  $\Phi_{(0)} \phi_{(0)} = \log \frac{k}{2}$ .
- 2. Lifshitz UV: no extra conditions other than (2.47).

The condition that  $\Phi_{(0)} - \phi_{(0)} = \log \frac{k}{2}$  is via (2.55) equivalent to the hypersurface orthogonality condition

$$\tau_{(0)[a}\partial_b\tau_{(0)c]} = 0 \tag{2.61}$$

for  $\tau_{(0)a}$ . In section 4.4 we will see that the boundary geometry is torsional Newton-Cartan geometry with torsion proportional to  $\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a}$ .

A special subclass of AlLif boundary conditions is obtained by setting

$$\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a} = 0. \tag{2.62}$$

As shown in section 4.4 this gives rise to Newton-Cartan boundary geometry (i.e. without torsion). We can then without loss of generality choose coordinates such that  $\tau_{(0)a} = \partial_a t$ . It also corresponds to a class of space-times for which the Lifshitz scale transformation is still an asymptotic symmetry. We will refer to this subset as asymptotically Lifshitz space-times (ALif).

The proper time between two events connected by some path  $\gamma$  is given by  $\int_{\gamma} \tau_{(0)}$ . When  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is hypersurface orthogonal we can choose a coordinate system in which  $\tau_{(0)i} = 0$ so that  $\tau_{(0)a} = \tau_{(0)t}\partial_a t$ . This is an ADM decomposition in which surfaces of constant tdescribe absolute simultaneity. If furthermore (2.62) is satisfied t becomes absolute time.

We summarize the various asymptotic structures in the table 1. In the last column we have indicated the type of boundary geometry that corresponds to the boundary conditions where NC denotes Newton-Cartan, TNC torsional Newton-Cartan and TTNC twistless torsional Newton-Cartan. These concepts will be defined in section 4.

In the remainder of this paper we will use the most general boundary conditions, i.e. the ones we call the Lifshitz UV. These include all deformations that take one away from AlLif boundary conditions. The goal will be to study the boundary geometry and compute the vevs and their Ward identities for this most general case. We will in particular focus our attention on computing the boundary stress energy tensor as defined by [29, 66] and its Ward identities.

The definition of an AlLif space-time as given in [30] uses a radial gauge. Here we find it more convenient to work in the gauge (2.48). In the next section we will consider the problem of transforming to radial gauge.

#### 2.4 Radial gauge

It is common practice to study solutions to the equations of motion admitting Lifshitz solutions in Einstein frame in radial gauge. To this end we will study the problem of rewriting our non-radial gauge Einstein frame metric (2.48) in radial gauge, i.e. we wish to perform the following coordinate transformation

$$ds^{2} = e^{\Phi} \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} + h_{ab} dx^{a} dx^{b} = l_{\text{Lif}}^{2} \left( \frac{dr'^{2}}{r'^{2}} + h'_{ab} dx'^{a} dx'^{b} \right) , \qquad (2.63)$$

where  $l_{\text{Lif}}^2$  is the Lifshitz radius. To do this in full generality is prohibitively difficult so we will restrict ourselves to infinitesimal coordinate transformations. To this end we will assume that  $\Phi$  can be approximated by

$$\Phi = 2\log l_{\rm Lif} + \delta\Phi, \qquad (2.64)$$

$$\delta \Phi = \epsilon \delta_{[1]} \Phi + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \delta_{[2]} \Phi + O(\epsilon^3), \qquad (2.65)$$

where  $\epsilon$  is some small expansion parameter similar to the expansion parameter that would be used when studying perturbations around a Lifshitz background. To achieve the desired coordinate transformation we transform the left hand side of (2.63) using

$$r = r' - \xi^r(r', x') + \frac{1}{2}\xi^\nu \partial'_\nu \xi^r + O(\epsilon^3), \qquad x^a = x'^a - \xi^a(r', x') + \frac{1}{2}\xi^\nu \partial'_\nu \xi^a + O(\epsilon^3), \quad (2.66)$$

where we expand  $\xi^{\mu}$  as

$$\xi^{\mu} = \epsilon \xi^{\mu}_{[1]} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \xi^{\mu}_{[2]} + O(\epsilon^3) \,. \tag{2.67}$$

For further details we refer the reader to appendix B and we proceed by stating the end result of the calculation presented in that appendix. Expressing the radial gauge metric  $h'_{ab}$  in terms of  $h_{ab}$  and the functions appearing in the expansion of  $\xi^{\mu}$  we obtain

$$h'_{ab} = l_{\text{Lif}}^{-2} \left( h_{ab} - \epsilon \left( \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r h_{ab} + L_{\xi_{[1]}} h_{ab} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \left( \xi_{[2]}^r \partial_r h_{ab} + L_{\xi_{[2]}} h_{ab} - \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r \left( \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r h_{ab} \right) - \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r \left( L_{\xi_{[1]}} h_{ab} \right) - L_{\xi_{[1]}} \left( \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r h_{ab} \right) - L_{\xi_{[1]}} L_{\xi_{[1]}} h_{ab} \right) + O(\epsilon^3) \right),$$
(2.68)

where  $L_{\xi_{[1]}}$  and  $L_{\xi_{[2]}}$  denote the Lie derivative along  $\xi_{[1]}^a$  and  $\xi_{[2]}^a$ , respectively. Here the generators of the infinitesimal coordinate transformation admit the following r expansions

$$\xi_{[1]}^r = r \left( \log r \xi_{[1](0,1)}^r + \xi_{[1](0)}^r \right) + O(r^3 \log^2 r) , \qquad (2.69)$$

$$\xi_{[1]}^a = \xi_{[1](0)}^a + O(r^2 \log r), \qquad (2.70)$$

$$\xi_{[2]}^r = r \left( \log r \xi_{[2](0,1)}^r + \xi_{[2](0)}^r \right) + O(r^3 \log^2 r) \,, \tag{2.71}$$

$$\xi_{[2]}^{a} = \xi_{[2](0)}^{a} + O(r^{2}\log r), \qquad (2.72)$$

where

$$\frac{1}{2}\delta_{[1]}\Phi_{(0)} = \xi^r_{[1](0,1)}, \qquad (2.73)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\delta_{[2]}\Phi_{(0)} = \xi^r_{[2](0,1)} + \xi^a_{[1](0)}\partial_a\xi^r_{[1](0,1)}.$$
(2.74)

Constructing  $h'_{ab}$  by using (2.68) we find that at second order in  $\epsilon$  there is a term of the form  $r^{-4}\log^2 r$  coming from the  $\xi^r_{[1]}\partial_r\left(\xi^r_{[1]}\partial_r h_{ab}\right)$  term. At first order in  $\epsilon$  we find a term of the form  $r^{-4}\log r$ . More precisely at each order  $\epsilon^n$  we find a coefficient which is a polynomial in  $\log r$  of order n. This means that we cannot use the r-expansion of the metric in radial gauge as a near boundary expansion as long as we work perturbatively in  $\epsilon$  since each higher order in  $\epsilon$  leads to a more dominant near boundary term. Hence in order to know the radial gauge expansion of the metric of a AlLif or a Lif UV spacetime with  $\partial_a \Phi_{(0)} \neq 0$  we need to be able to sum to all orders in  $\epsilon$  or alternatively be able to construct the expansion directly in radial gauge without reference to the expansion obtained by dimensional reduction from a 5-dimensional radial gauge.

Summing the  $\epsilon$  expansion has been done for purely radial perturbations in [37, 38] in the context of the massive vector model where it is shown that the resummation leads to negative powers of log r in agreement with what has been observed in [36].<sup>5</sup>

It is important to stress that the variation  $\delta \Phi$  in (B.7) is non-constant. All constant terms at order  $r^0$  have been absorbed in the Lifshitz radius. This means that  $\delta \Phi$  is either a non-trivial function of the boundary coordinates and starts at order  $r^0$  or it goes to zero as r goes to zero and starts at some higher order in r. In the latter case the leading  $r^{-4}$ terms in the  $\epsilon$  expansion of  $h'_{ab}$  do not receive logarithmic corrections. We therefore expect that the situation here is qualitatively different from [36, 37] as we see no log deformations of the  $r^{-4}$  term by going to radial gauge in the case of purely radial solutions.

#### 3 The Lifshitz UV completion

In this section we will obtain the most general boundary conditions compatible with the constraint (2.47), which will determine the Lifshitz UV completion, denoted by Lif UV. This will be accomplished by working with frame fields and relating the 4-dimensional ones to those of the 5-dimensional theory. In particular, we will see that it is only in terms of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>We thank Kristian Holsheimer and Marco Baggio for useful discussions on this point.

frame fields that the sources are always the leading components in the expansions. Later we will see that they are furthermore very useful in order to describe the boundary geometry and for the computation of the boundary stress-energy tensor.

#### 3.1 Frame fields

Consider the following frame field decomposition of the 5-dimensional metric

$$d\hat{s}^{2} = \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} + \left(-\hat{e}_{\hat{a}}^{+}\hat{e}_{\hat{b}}^{-} - \hat{e}_{\hat{b}}^{+}\hat{e}_{\hat{a}}^{-} + \delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}}\hat{e}_{\hat{a}}^{\underline{i}}\hat{e}_{\hat{b}}^{\underline{j}}\right)dx^{\hat{a}}dx^{\hat{b}}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where  $\underline{i} = 1, 2$ . Using the reduction ansatz (2.46), (2.49) and (2.57) and the 4D frame field decomposition (2.50) we can relate the 5- and 4-dimensional frame fields via

$$\hat{e}_u^+ = -\hat{e}_u^- = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Phi} \,, \tag{3.2}$$

$$\hat{e}^i_{\overline{u}} = 0, \qquad (3.3)$$

$$\hat{e}_{a}^{i} = e^{-\Phi/2} e_{a}^{i} \,, \tag{3.4}$$

$$\hat{e}_{a}^{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Phi} \left( A_{a} + e^{-3\Phi/2} e_{a}^{t} \right) , \qquad (3.5)$$

$$\hat{e}_{a}^{-} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}e^{\Phi} \left(A_{a} - e^{-3\Phi/2}e_{a}^{t}\right).$$
(3.6)

For the inverse frame fields we have

$$\hat{e}^{u}_{+} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Phi/2} \left( A_{a} - e^{-3\Phi/2} e^{\underline{t}}_{\underline{a}} \right) e^{a}_{\underline{t}} \,, \tag{3.7}$$

$$\hat{e}_{-}^{u} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Phi/2} \left( A_{a} + e^{-3\Phi/2} e_{\bar{a}}^{t} \right) e_{\underline{t}}^{a} , \qquad (3.8)$$

$$\hat{e}_{\underline{i}}^{u} = -e^{\Phi/2} A_{a} e_{\underline{i}}^{a} = -e^{\Phi/2} \left( A_{a} - e^{-3\Phi/2} e_{\underline{i}}^{\underline{t}} \right) e_{\underline{i}}^{a} , \qquad (3.9)$$

$$\hat{e}^{a}_{+} = \hat{e}^{a}_{-} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Phi/2} e^{a}_{\underline{t}} \,, \tag{3.10}$$

$$\hat{e}^{a}_{\underline{i}} = e^{\Phi/2} e^{a}_{\underline{i}} \,. \tag{3.11}$$

Because of our choice of frame (3.2) and (3.3) we have

$$\hat{h}_{ab} = -\hat{e}_{a}^{+}\hat{e}_{b}^{-} - \hat{e}_{b}^{+}\hat{e}_{a}^{-} + \delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}}\hat{e}_{a}^{\underline{i}}\hat{e}_{b}^{\underline{j}}, \qquad (3.12)$$

$$\hat{h}_{au} = \hat{e}_u^+ \left( \hat{e}_a^+ - \hat{e}_a^- \right) \,, \tag{3.13}$$

$$\hat{h}_{uu} = 2\hat{e}_u^+ \hat{e}_u^+ \,, \tag{3.14}$$

for the 5D metric expressed in terms of the 5D frame fields.

#### **3.2** Boundary conditions

We now turn to the boundary conditions obeyed by the 5D frame fields. It will be convenient to choose

$$\hat{e}_a^+ = \frac{1}{r^2} \hat{e}_{(0)a}^+ + \dots$$
 (3.15)

Then we must take

$$\hat{e}_a^- = \hat{e}_{(0)a}^- + \dots ,$$
 (3.16)

in order that  $\hat{h}_{ab}$  in (3.12) is  $O(r^{-2})$ . It also implies that we must take

$$\hat{e}_u^+ = -\hat{e}_u^- = \hat{e}_{(0)u}^+ + \dots,$$
 (3.17)

in order that  $\hat{h}_{au}$  in (3.13) is  $O(r^{-2})$ . This implies using (3.14) that  $\hat{h}_{uu} = O(1)$  so that

$$\hat{h}_{(0)uu} = 0. (3.18)$$

We furthermore take

$$\hat{e}_{a}^{i} = \frac{1}{r}\hat{e}_{(0)a}^{i} + \dots,$$
(3.19)

to preserve manifest tangent space SO(2) rotation invariance at leading order, where we also used that  $\hat{h}_{ab}$  in (3.12) is  $O(r^{-2})$ .

We thus see that the boundary condition (3.15) is well suited for arbitrary boundary metrics obeying (3.18). From (3.14) and (3.17) this in turn has the consequence that we get the following constraint on the sources

$$2\hat{e}^{+}_{(0)u}\hat{e}^{+}_{(0)u} = \hat{h}_{(2)uu} = -\frac{1}{2}\hat{R}_{(0)uu} + \frac{k^2}{4}e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}}, \qquad (3.20)$$

where we used (A.5). We will assume that

$$h_{(2)uu} > 0, (3.21)$$

so that  $\hat{e}^+_{(0)u} \neq 0$ . We note that because  $\hat{R}_{(0)uu} \geq 0$ , as will be shown in the next subsection (equation (3.62)), the condition (3.21) is in general non-trivial.

Including subleading terms we thus have for the 5D frame fields the expansions

$$\hat{e}_{u}^{+} = \hat{e}_{(0)u}^{+} + r^{2} \log r \hat{e}_{(2,1)u}^{+} + r^{2} \hat{e}_{(2)u}^{+} + O(r^{4} \log^{2} r), \qquad (3.22)$$

$$\hat{e}_{a}^{+} = \frac{1}{r^{2}}\hat{e}_{(0)a}^{+} + \log r\hat{e}_{(2,1)a}^{+} + \hat{e}_{(2)a}^{+} + O(r^{2}\log^{2}r), \qquad (3.23)$$

$$\hat{e}_{a}^{-} = \hat{e}_{(0)a}^{-} + r^{2} \log r \hat{e}_{(2,1)a}^{-} + r^{2} \hat{e}_{(2)a}^{-} + O(r^{4} \log^{2} r), \qquad (3.24)$$

$$\hat{e}_{a}^{i} = \frac{1}{r}\hat{e}_{(0)a}^{i} + r\hat{e}_{(2)a}^{i} + O(r^{3}\log r), \qquad (3.25)$$

where the coefficients can be computed by using (3.12)-(3.14) and the expansions given in appendix A.1.

The expansion of the inverse frame fields starts as

$$\hat{e}^{u}_{+} = r^{2} \hat{e}^{u}_{(0)+} + \dots, \qquad (3.26)$$

$$\hat{e}^a_+ = \hat{e}^a_- = r^2 \hat{e}^a_{(0)+} + \dots, \qquad (3.27)$$

$$\hat{e}_{-}^{u} = \hat{e}_{(0)-}^{u} + \dots,$$
 (3.28)

$$\hat{e}_{\underline{i}}^{u} = r\hat{e}_{(0)\underline{i}}^{u} + \dots, \qquad (3.29)$$

$$\hat{e}^a_{\underline{i}} = r\hat{e}^a_{(0)\underline{i}} + \dots, \qquad (3.30)$$

with the relations

$$\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)-} = -(\hat{e}^{+}_{(0)u})^{-1}, \qquad (3.31)$$

$$\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)+} = (\hat{e}^{+}_{(0)u})^{-1} \hat{e}^{a}_{(0)+} \hat{e}^{-}_{(0)a}, \qquad (3.32)$$

$$\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)\underline{i}} = (\hat{e}^{+}_{(0)u})^{-1} \hat{e}^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}} \hat{e}^{-}_{(0)a}, \qquad (3.33)$$

$$\hat{e}^a_{(0)+}\hat{e}^+_{(0)a} = 1, \qquad (3.34)$$

$$\hat{e}^a_{(0)\underline{i}}\hat{e}^+_{(0)a} = 0, \qquad (3.35)$$

$$\hat{e}^a_{(0)+}\hat{e}^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} = 0, \qquad (3.36)$$

$$\hat{e}^{a}_{(0)\underline{j}}\hat{e}^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} = \delta^{\underline{i}}_{\underline{j}}.$$
(3.37)

#### 3.3 The 4-dimensional sources

To obtain the 4D sources, we now use the expansions for the 5D vielbeins and their inverse (3.22)-(3.30) along with their relations (3.2)-(3.11) with the 4D vielbeins, to write leading components of the 5D frame fields in terms of 4D quantities. For the vielbeins this gives

$$\hat{e}^{+}_{(0)u} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Phi_{(0)}} , \qquad (3.38)$$

$$\hat{e}^{+}_{(0)a} = \sqrt{2}e^{-\Phi_{(0)}}\tau_{(0)a}, \qquad (3.39)$$

$$\hat{e}_{(0)a}^{-} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Phi_{(0)}} A_{(0)a} , \qquad (3.40)$$

$$\hat{e}^{i}_{(0)a} = e^{i}_{(0)a}, \qquad (3.41)$$

while for the inverse vielbeins one finds

$$\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)+} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Phi_{(0)}} A_{(0)\underline{t}}, \qquad (3.42)$$

$$\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)-} = -\sqrt{2}e^{-\Phi_{(0)}}, \qquad (3.43)$$

$$\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)\underline{i}} = -A_{(0)\underline{i}}, \qquad (3.44)$$

$$\hat{e}^{a}_{(0)+} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} e^{\Phi_{(0)}} v^{a}_{(0)} , \qquad (3.45)$$

$$\hat{e}^a_{(0)\underline{i}} = e^a_{(0)\underline{i}}, \qquad (3.46)$$

where

$$\tau_{(0)a} v^a_{(0)} = -1, \qquad (3.47)$$

$$\tau_{(0)a} e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} = 0, \qquad (3.48)$$

$$e^{i}_{(0)a}v^{a}_{(0)} = 0, (3.49)$$

$$e^{i}_{(0)a}e^{a}_{(0)j} = \delta^{i}_{j}, \qquad (3.50)$$

$$A_{(0)a} = A_{(0)\underline{i}}\tau_{(0)a} + A_{(0)\underline{i}}e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a}.$$
(3.51)

Focussing on the inverse vielbein relations, the equations above then define the corresponding 4-dimensional sources to be  $v^a_{(0)\underline{i}}, e^a_{(0)\underline{i}}, \Phi_{(0)\underline{i}}, A_{(0)\underline{i}}$ . For boundary vectors and

frame field components we use the notation  $X_{(0)\underline{t}} = -X_{(0)a}v^a_{(0)}, \ X_{(0)\underline{i}} = X_{(0)a}e^a_{(0)\underline{i}}$  and  $X_{(0)a} = X_{(0)\underline{t}}\tau_{(0)a} + X_{(0)\underline{i}}e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a}$ .

Using these results we can then write the 5-dimensional boundary metric<sup>6</sup>  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  in terms of the 4-dimensional sources as

$$\hat{h}_{(0)ab} = -\hat{e}^{+}_{(0)a}\hat{e}^{-}_{(0)b} - \hat{e}^{+}_{(0)b}\hat{e}^{-}_{(0)a} + \delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}}\hat{e}^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a}\hat{e}^{\underline{j}}_{(0)b} = \tau_{(0)a}A_{(0)b} + \tau_{(0)b}A_{(0)a} + \Pi_{(0)ab}, \quad (3.52)$$

$$\mathcal{H}_{(0)au} = \mathcal{E}_{(0)u}\mathcal{E}_{(0)a} = \mathcal{H}_{(0)a} , \tag{3.33}$$

$$h_{(0)uu} = 0. (3.54)$$

Likewise for the inverse boundary metric we can write<sup>7</sup>

$$\hat{h}_{(0)}^{ab} = \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} \,, \tag{3.55}$$

$$\hat{h}^{au}_{(0)} = -v^a_{(0)} - \delta^{\underline{i}\underline{j}} e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} A_{(0)\underline{j}} = -v^a_{(0)} - \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} A_{(0)b} , \qquad (3.56)$$

$$\hat{h}_{(0)}^{uu} = -2A_{(0)\underline{t}} + \delta^{\underline{i}\underline{j}}A_{(0)\underline{i}}A_{(0)\underline{j}} = 2A_{(0)a}v^a_{(0)} + \Pi^{ab}_{(0)}A_{(0)a}A_{(0)b}.$$
(3.57)

In these expressions we have defined

$$\Pi_{(0)ab} = \delta_{\underline{ij}} e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} e^{\underline{j}}_{(0)b}, \qquad (3.58)$$

$$\Pi^{ab}_{(0)} = \delta^{\underline{ij}} e^a_{(0)i} e^b_{(0)j} \,. \tag{3.59}$$

We have thus identified the most general boundary conditions compatible with (2.41) using the relation between the 4- and 5-dimensional frame fields given in section 3.1. In other words, we have obtained the most general 4-dimensional boundary conditions corresponding to the Lifshitz UV as defined in section 2.3.

As we will see in the next subsection there is no Lorentzian boundary metric to raise and lower indices. This means that  $\tau_{(0)a}$  and  $v^a_{(0)}$  are two unrelated quantities apart from the condition that  $\tau_{(0)a}v^a_{(0)} = -1$ . This is especially clear from a 5-dimensional perspective. Comparing (3.52)–(3.57) with the parametrization (A.31) we obtain

$$v_{(0)}^a = \hat{N}_{(0)}^a, \qquad (3.60)$$

$$au_{(0)a} = \hat{H}_{(0)a} \,.$$
(3.61)

We conclude by expressing  $\hat{R}_{(0)uu}$  in terms of the 4-dimensional sources. To this end we compute  $\hat{R}_{(0)uu}$  using the metric (A.31) giving

$$\hat{R}_{(0)uu} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \varepsilon^{abc}_{(0)} \hat{H}_{(0)a} \partial_b \hat{H}_{(0)c} \right)^2 \,, \tag{3.62}$$

where

$$\varepsilon_{(0)}^{abc} = \frac{\epsilon^{abc}}{H_{(0)}\sqrt{\det \Sigma_{(0)}}} = \epsilon^{\underline{abc}} e^{a}_{(0)\underline{a}} e^{b}_{(0)\underline{b}} e^{c}_{(0)\underline{c}} = e^{-1}_{(0)} \epsilon^{abc} , \qquad (3.63)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>We warn the reader that because of our vielbein boundary conditions the 5-dimensional sources  $\hat{e}^+_{(0)u}$ and  $\hat{e}^+_{(0)a}$  do not transform as components of a 5-dimensional vector.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Below (2.59) we remarked that  $A_{(0)a}$  is the leading component of  $A_a - e^{-3\Phi/2}e_a^t$ . It can also be viewed as part of the leading component of  $\hat{h}^{uu} = e^{\Phi} (h^{ab}A_aA_b + e^{-3\phi})$  which starts at order  $r^2$  with a coefficient given by  $\hat{h}_{(0)}^{uu}$  whose value is determined by  $A_{(0)a}$ .

with  $\epsilon^{abc}$  totally antisymmetric,  $\epsilon^{txy} = -1$  and det  $\Sigma_{(0)}$  the determinant of  $\Sigma_{(0)ij}$ . Using (3.61) we obtain for  $\hat{R}_{(0)uu}$  the expression

$$\hat{R}_{(0)uu} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \varepsilon^{abc}_{(0)} \tau_{(0)a} \partial_b \tau_{(0)c} \right)^2 \,. \tag{3.64}$$

We thus see that  $\hat{R}_{(0)uu} = 0$  is equivalent to hypersurface orthogonality of  $\tau_{(0)a}$  and since nothing depends on u and one has that  $\hat{H}_{(0)u} = 0$  it follows that  $\hat{H}_{(0)[\hat{a}}\partial_{\hat{b}}\hat{H}_{(0)[\hat{c}]} = 0$ .

Now that we have defined the boundary conditions for the Lifshitz UV completion and we have obtained all the 4-dimensional sources it is possible to compute the variation of the on-shell action (using the reduced counterterms) and study the Ward identities. This analysis will be performed in section 5. We will first study the boundary geometry in the next section.

#### 4 Boundary geometry

In this section we examine in detail the boundary geometry of the z = 2 Lifshitz spacetimes of our model (2.9). This will enable us to identify for example a boundary covariant derivative so that we can write covariant expressions for the Ward identities. The boundary geometry will also play an important role in our expression for the anomaly. In particular, we will show that in the case of a  $\tau_{(0)a}$  satisfying  $\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a} = 0$  the boundary geometry is Newton-Cartan [67–69] (see also [70]) and that a nonzero  $\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a}$  corresponds to adding torsion.

The appearance of Newton-Cartan structures is expected as the boundary geometry is obtained by null-dimensional reduction of the AdS boundary geometry. The relation between null dimensional reduction along a circle parametrized by u of a space-time with a parallel (covariantly constant)  $\partial_u$  and Newton-Cartan geometry has been studied in [71– 73]. The covector  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}(\partial_u)^{\hat{b}}$  is equal to  $\delta^a_{\hat{a}}\tau_{(0)a}$  as given by (3.53). Since the 5-dimensional boundary metric  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  is only defined up to conformal rescalings we naturally need to be able to deal with various  $\tau_{(0)a}$  that are all locally proportional to each other. Since the condition  $\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a} = 0$  is not invariant under rescalings of  $\tau_{(0)a}$  in such a way that the rescaled  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is also curl free we are naturally confronted with studying geometries obtained by dimensional reduction along a null circle generated by a hypersurface orthogonal null Killing vector which is not necessarily parallel. Such cases have been looked at in [74–76] and from the work of [77] it is expected that the connection on the reduced 3-dimensional boundary will have torsion. We will also study the more general case where  $\partial_u$  is a null Killing vector but not necessarily hypersurface orthogonal.

#### 4.1 Contraction of the local Lorentz group

To get an idea about the boundary geometry described by  $\tau_{(0)a}$  and  $e^{i}_{(0)a}$  we study how bulk local Lorentz transformations act on the leading components of the frame fields. To this end we consider local Lorentz transformations transforming the  $e^{a}_{a}$  into each other, i.e. the group of SO(2, 1) rotations leaving  $e^{3} \equiv e^{\Phi/2} \frac{dr}{r}$  invariant. Here  $e^{3}$  is the radial part of (2.6). The local Lorentz transformations on the 4D vielbeins read

$$e_{\bar{a}}^{\underline{t}} = \Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{t'} e_{\bar{a}}^{\underline{t}'} + \Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{i'} e_{\bar{a}}^{\underline{i}'}, \qquad (4.1)$$

$$e^{i}_{\overline{a}} = \Lambda^{i}_{t'} e^{t'}_{\overline{a}} + \Lambda^{i}_{i'} e^{i'}_{\overline{a}}, \qquad (4.2)$$

where

$$-\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{\underline{t}'}\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{\underline{t}'} + \delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}}\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{\underline{t}'}\Lambda^{\underline{j}}_{\underline{t}'} = -1, \qquad (4.3)$$

$$-\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{\underline{t}'}\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{\underline{i}'} + \delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}}\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{\underline{t}'}\Lambda^{\underline{j}}_{\underline{i}'} = 0, \qquad (4.4)$$

$$-\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{\underline{i}'}\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{\underline{j}'} + \delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}}\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{\underline{i}'}\Lambda^{\underline{j}}_{\underline{j}'} = \delta_{\underline{i}'\underline{j}'} .$$

$$(4.5)$$

The *r*-expansion of the 4D vielbein is given in (2.51) and (2.52) and after the local Lorentz transformation we have the same expansion, i.e.

$$e_{\bar{a}}^{t'} = r^{-2} e^{-\Phi_{(0)}/2} \tau_{(0)a}^{\prime} + \dots, \qquad (4.6)$$

$$e_{a}^{\underline{i}'} = r^{-1} e^{\Phi_{(0)}/2} e_{(0)a}^{\underline{i}'} + \dots, \qquad (4.7)$$

$$e_a^t = r^{-2} e^{-\Phi_{(0)}/2} \tau_{(0)a} + \dots, \qquad (4.8)$$

$$e_{a}^{i} = r^{-1} e^{\Phi_{(0)}/2} e_{(0)a}^{i} + \dots , \qquad (4.9)$$

where we note that  $\Phi_{(0)}$  does not transform. From (4.1)–(4.2) it follows that we need to require

$$\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{\underline{t}'} = \Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{(0)\underline{t}'} + \dots, \qquad (4.10)$$

$$\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{\underline{i}'} = r^{-1} \Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{(0)\underline{i}'} + \dots, \qquad (4.11)$$

$$\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{\underline{t}'} = r\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{t}'} + \dots, \qquad (4.12)$$

$$\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{\underline{i}'} = \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)i'} + \dots$$

$$(4.13)$$

Plugging this into (4.3)-(4.5) we get the following conditions

$$\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{(0)\underline{t}'}\Lambda^{\underline{t}}_{(0)\underline{t}'} = 1, \qquad (4.14)$$

$$\Lambda_{(0)\underline{i}'}^{\underline{t}} = 0, \qquad (4.15)$$

$$\delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}}\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{i}'}\Lambda^{\underline{j}}_{(0)j'} = \delta_{\underline{i}'\underline{j}'}, \qquad (4.16)$$

on the leading components of  $\Lambda^{\underline{a}}_{(0)\underline{b}}$ . We will choose

$$\Lambda_{(0)\underline{t}'}^{\underline{t}} = 1, \qquad (4.17)$$

so that we can recover the identity.

We thus find the following transformation of the leading components of the frame field expansions

$$\tau_{(0)a} = \tau'_{(0)a}, \qquad (4.18)$$

$$e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} = \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{i}'} \tau'_{(0)a} + \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{i}'} e^{\underline{i}'}_{(0)a}, \qquad (4.19)$$

where  $\Lambda_{(0)\underline{t}'}^{\underline{i}}$  are two free parameters.<sup>8</sup> The corresponding transformation acting on the leading components of the inverse frame fields reads

$$v_{(0)}^{a} = v_{(0)}^{\prime a} + e_{(0)\underline{i}^{\prime}}^{a} \Lambda_{(0)\underline{i}}^{\underline{i}^{\prime}} \Lambda_{(0)\underline{t}^{\prime}}^{\underline{i}}, \qquad (4.20)$$

$$e^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}} = e^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}'}\Lambda^{\underline{i}'}_{(0)\underline{i}}.$$
(4.21)

For use below, we also note the infinitesimal versions of the transformations (4.18)–(4.21), (also denoted by  $\Lambda_{(0)}$  with the notation  $\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{t}} = \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}$ ) yielding

$$\delta \tau_{(0)a} = 0,$$
 (4.22)

$$\delta e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} = \tau_{(0)a} \Lambda^{b}_{(0)b} e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)b} + \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{j}} e^{\underline{j}}_{(0)a}, \qquad (4.23)$$

$$\delta v_{(0)}^a = \Lambda_{(0)}^a \,, \tag{4.24}$$

$$\delta e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} = -\Lambda^{\underline{j}}_{(0)\underline{i}} e^a_{(0)\underline{j}}, \qquad (4.25)$$

where

$$\Lambda^{a}_{(0)} = \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} e^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}}, \qquad (4.26)$$

and

$$\Lambda_{(0)\underline{i}\underline{j}} = -\Lambda_{(0)\underline{j}\underline{i}} \,. \tag{4.27}$$

The flat index  $\underline{i}$  can be raised and lowered with  $\delta_{ij}$ .

We can build two degenerate metrics out of these vielbeins that are invariant under the local tangent space group. These are  $\tau_{(0)a}\tau_{(0)b}$  and  $\Pi^{ab}_{(0)}$ . On top of that we have that the boundary determinant  $e_{(0)}$  as defined in equation (3.63) is an invariant as well.

The fact that we see a contraction of the local Lorentz group can be understood by observing that the vielbein boundary conditions (4.6)-(4.9) lead to a flattening of the tangent space light cones as one approaches the boundary so that the effective speed of light approaches infinity, leading to a contraction of the tangent space Lorentz transformations. A similar analysis which also leads to a contraction of the local Lorentz group was performed in the case of 3-dimensional asymptotically locally Schrödinger space-times in [28].

#### 4.2 Covariant derivative and vielbein postulate

We will now construct covariant derivatives that transform covariantly with respect to the local tangent space transformations (4.22)–(4.25). We will denote these covariant derivatives by  $\mathcal{D}_{(0)}^T$ . The meaning of the superscript T will become clear later. By covariance we mean that the following transformation rules must be obeyed

$$\delta\left(\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^T\tau_{(0)b}\right) = 0, \qquad (4.28)$$

$$\delta\left(\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T}e_{\bar{(0)}b}^{i}\right) = \tau_{(0)b}\Lambda_{(0)}^{c}\left(\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T}e_{\bar{(0)}c}^{i}\right) + \Lambda_{(0)\underline{j}}^{\underline{i}}\left(\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T}e_{\bar{(0)}b}^{j}\right), \qquad (4.29)$$

$$\delta\left(\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^T v_{(0)}^b\right) = 0, \qquad (4.30)$$

$$\delta\left(\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T}e_{(0)\underline{i}}^{b}\right) = -\Lambda_{(0)\underline{i}}^{\underline{j}}\left(\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T}e_{(0)\underline{j}}^{b}\right).$$
(4.31)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The three generators of these transformations are  $J, G_1, G_2$  whose nonzero commutators are  $[J, G_1] = G_2$ and  $[J, G_2] = -G_1$ . We can think of this as the contraction of the Lorentz group SO(1, 2) in which the  $G_i$ play the role of Galilean boost generators.

In order to construct  $\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^T$  we introduce the connections  $\Gamma_{(0)bc}^{Ta}$  (not assumed to be symmetric),  $\omega_{(0)b}{}^{\underline{i}}$  and  $\omega_{(0)b}{}^{\underline{i}}{}_{\underline{j}}$  in the following way<sup>9</sup>

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T}\tau_{(0)b} = \partial_{a}\tau_{(0)b} - \Gamma_{(0)ab}^{Tc}\tau_{(0)c}, \qquad (4.32)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T} e^{i}_{(0)b} = \partial_{a} e^{i}_{(0)b} - \Gamma_{(0)ab}^{Tc} e^{i}_{(0)c} + \omega_{(0)a}^{i} \tau_{(0)b} + \omega_{(0)a}^{i} \underline{j} e^{j}_{(0)b}, \qquad (4.33)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{I}e_{(0)\underline{i}}^{o} = \partial_{a}e_{(0)\underline{i}}^{o} + \Gamma_{(0)ac}^{I}e_{(0)\underline{i}}^{c} - \omega_{(0)a}\underline{}^{\underline{i}}\underline{}_{\underline{i}}e_{(0)\underline{j}}^{o}, \qquad (4.34)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^T v_{(0)}^b = \partial_a v_{(0)}^b + \Gamma_{(0)ac}^{Tb} v_{(0)}^c + \omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}} e_{(0)\underline{i}}^b.$$
(4.35)

We will denote by  $\nabla_{(0)a}^T$  the covariant derivative containing only the connection  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^{Tc}$ . In order that (4.28) is obeyed we need that  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^{Tc}$  is SO(2) invariant and that under boosts it transforms such that

$$\tau_{(0)c} \delta \Gamma^{Tc}_{(0)ab} = 0.$$
(4.36)

In order that (4.29) holds we need that  $\omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}}{\underline{j}}$  transforms as

$$\delta\omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}}{}_{\underline{j}} = -\partial_a\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{j}} + \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{k}}\omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{k}}{}_{\underline{j}} - \omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}}{}_{\underline{k}}\Lambda^{\underline{k}}_{(0)\underline{j}}, \qquad (4.37)$$

under local SO(2) transformations and as

$$\delta\omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}}{}_{\underline{j}} = -\Lambda^{\underline{i}}{}_{(0)}e^{c}{}_{(0)\underline{j}}\nabla^{T}_{(0)a}\tau_{(0)c} + e^{c}{}_{(0)\underline{j}}e^{\underline{i}}{}_{(0)d}\delta\Gamma^{Td}_{(0)ac}, \qquad (4.38)$$

under local boosts while  $\omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}}$  must transform as

$$\delta\omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}} = \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{j}}\omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{j}} \tag{4.39}$$

under local SO(2) transformations and as

$$\delta\omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}} = \Lambda^{c}_{(0)}\mathcal{D}^{T}_{(0)a}e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)c} - \partial_{a}\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} - \omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}}_{\underline{j}}\Lambda^{\underline{j}}_{(0)} + \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}v^{b}_{(0)}\nabla^{T}_{(0)a}\tau_{(0)b} - e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)d}v^{c}_{(0)}\delta\Gamma^{Td}_{(0)ac}, \quad (4.40)$$

under local boosts. With these transformations one can then show that we have

$$\delta \left( \mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T} e_{(0)\underline{i}}^{b} - v_{(0)}^{b} \left( \nabla_{(0)a}^{T} \tau_{(0)c} \right) e_{(0)\underline{i}}^{c} \right) = -\Lambda_{(0)\underline{i}}^{\underline{j}} \left( \mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T} e_{(0)\underline{j}}^{b} - v_{(0)}^{b} \left( \nabla_{(0)a}^{T} \tau_{(0)c} \right) e_{(0)\underline{j}}^{c} \right) (4.41)$$

$$\delta \left( \mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^{T} v_{(0)}^{b} - v_{(0)}^{b} \left( \nabla_{(0)a}^{T} \tau_{(0)c} \right) v_{(0)}^{c} \right) = 0.$$

$$(4.42)$$

Hence in order to obey (4.30) and (4.31) we need that

$$\nabla_{(0)a}^T \tau_{(0)c} = 0. \tag{4.43}$$

This equation implies that in general we need a connection with torsion, hence the superscript T. We split  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^{Tc}$  into a symmetric and an anti-symmetric part as

$$\Gamma^{Tc}_{(0)ab} = \Gamma^{c}_{(0)ab} + T^{c}_{(0)ab} \,, \tag{4.44}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The appearance of the  $\omega_{(0)b}{}^{i}$  and  $\omega_{(0)b}{}^{i}{}^{j}{}_{\underline{j}}$  connections correlates with the transformations (4.22)–(4.25).

where we denote torsion by  $T_{(0)ab}^c$  and where  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$  is symmetric. We will denote by  $\nabla_{(0)a}$  the covariant derivative containing the connection  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$ . Taking the symmetric part of (4.36) we see that under boosts

$$\tau_{(0)c}\delta\Gamma^{c}_{(0)ab} = 0.$$
(4.45)

The vielbein postulate<sup>10</sup> that we will impose on top of (4.43) is

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)}^T e_{(0)b}^i = 0, \qquad (4.46)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^T e^b_{(0)i} = 0, \qquad (4.47)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}^T v_{(0)}^b = 0. (4.48)$$

These conditions imply that

$$\omega_{(0)a}{}^{\underline{i}} = -e_{(0)b}^{\underline{i}} \nabla_{(0)a}^T v_{(0)}^b \,, \tag{4.49}$$

$$\omega_{(0)a}{}^{i}{}^{j}{}_{\underline{j}} = e^{i}{}^{(0)b} \nabla^{T}_{(0)a} e^{b}_{(0)j}, \qquad (4.50)$$

which are compatible with the transformations (4.37)-(4.40).

It follows from the vielbein postulates above, as well as the specific tangent space group and the symmetry of  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$  that the  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$  connection must satisfy

$$\Pi^{d}_{(0)b}\Pi^{e}_{(0)c}\nabla_{(0)a}\Pi_{(0)de} = 0, \qquad (4.51)$$

where we defined the projector  $\Pi^b_{(0)a}$  via

$$\Pi^{b}_{(0)a} = \delta^{b}_{a} + \tau_{(0)a} v^{b}_{(0)} = \Pi_{(0)ac} \Pi^{cb}_{(0)} .$$
(4.52)

If we differentiate the completeness relation

$$\Pi_{(0)ab}\Pi^{bc}_{(0)} - \tau_{(0)a}v^c_{(0)} = \delta^c_a, \qquad (4.53)$$

we obtain from (4.51) the relation

$$\Pi^{b}_{(0)d}\Pi^{c}_{(0)e}\nabla_{(0)a}\Pi^{de}_{(0)} = 0.$$
(4.54)

### 4.3 The choice of $\Gamma^c_{(0)ab}$

Our choice of  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$  will be inspired by the null dimensional reduction of the boundary geometry. Consider the Christoffel connection of the non-degenerate 5-dimensional boundary metric  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  possessing a null Killing vector  $\partial_u$  and take all its legs in the directions of the three non-compact directions. Using (3.52)–(3.57) we decompose this quantity as follows

$$\hat{\Gamma}^{a}_{(0)bc} = \Gamma^{a}_{(0)bc} - \frac{1}{2}\Pi^{ad}_{(0)} \left[ \left( \partial_{d}\tau_{(0)b} - \partial_{b}\tau_{(0)d} \right) A_{(0)c} + \left( \partial_{d}\tau_{(0)c} - \partial_{c}\tau_{(0)d} \right) A_{(0)b} \right] , \qquad (4.55)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>We thank Matthias Blau for useful discussions on the meaning of the vielbein postulate in relation to demanding covariance with respect to local tangent, coordinate and frame-to-coordinate transformations.

where  $\Gamma^a_{(0)bc}$  is given by

$$\Gamma^{a}_{(0)bc} = -\frac{1}{2} v^{a}_{(0)} \left( \partial_{b} \tau_{(0)c} + \partial_{c} \tau_{(0)b} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \Pi^{ad}_{(0)} \left( \partial_{b} \Pi_{(0)cd} + \partial_{c} \Pi_{(0)bd} - \partial_{d} \Pi_{(0)bc} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \Pi^{ad}_{(0)} \left( F_{(0)db} \tau_{(0)c} + F_{(0)dc} \tau_{(0)b} \right) , \qquad (4.56)$$

with  $F_{(0)ab} = \partial_a A_{(0)b} - \partial_b A_{(0)a}$ . This choice for  $\Gamma^a_{(0)bc}$  is such that it takes the same functional form as in Newton-Cartan but with the important difference that we do not impose any properties on  $\tau_{(0)a}$ . The connection  $\Gamma^a_{(0)bc}$  satisfies the following properties

$$\Gamma^{a}_{(0)ac} = e^{-1}_{(0)}\partial_{c}e_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2}v^{a}_{(0)}\left(\partial_{a}\tau_{(0)c} - \partial_{c}\tau_{(0)a}\right), \qquad (4.57)$$

$$\nabla_{(0)a}\tau_{(0)b} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a} \right) , \qquad (4.58)$$

$$\nabla_{(0)a}v_{(0)}^{b} = \frac{1}{2}v_{(0)}^{b}v_{(0)}^{c}\left(\partial_{a}\tau_{(0)c} - \partial_{c}\tau_{(0)a}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{(0)}^{bc}\mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}}\Pi_{(0)ac} \\
- \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{(0)}^{bc}v_{(0)}^{d}\left(F_{(0)ca}\tau_{(0)d} + F_{(0)cd}\tau_{(0)a}\right),$$
(4.59)

$$\nabla_{(0)a}\Pi^{bc}_{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \partial_a \tau_{(0)d} - \partial_d \tau_{(0)a} \right) \left( \Pi^{bd}_{(0)} v^c_{(0)} + \Pi^{cd}_{(0)} v^b_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (4.60)$$

$$\nabla_{(0)a}\Pi_{(0)bc} = \frac{1}{2}\tau_{(0)b}\mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}}\Pi_{(0)ac} + \frac{1}{2}\tau_{(0)c}\mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}}\Pi_{(0)ab} + \frac{1}{2}\left[\Pi^{e}_{(0)c}F_{(0)ea}\tau_{(0)b} + \Pi^{e}_{(0)b}F_{(0)ea}\tau_{(0)c} + \Pi^{e}_{(0)c}F_{(0)eb}\tau_{(0)a} + \Pi^{e}_{(0)b}F_{(0)ec}\tau_{(0)a}\right] = \left(\tau_{(0)b}\Pi_{(0)cd} + \tau_{(0)c}\Pi_{(0)bd}\right)\nabla_{(0)a}v^{d}_{(0)},$$

$$(4.61)$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}}$  is the Lie derivative along  $v_{(0)}^a$ . Equation (4.58) implies that  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$  is compatible with (4.43) while the last equation implies that  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$  is compatible with (4.51).

The connection (4.56) is not boost invariant. To see this we need to first know how  $A_{(0)a}$  transforms under boosts. This follows from (3.52) or (3.56) and the boost transformations of the boundary vielbeins given in (4.22)-(4.25). This leads to the transformation

$$\delta A_{(0)a} = -\Lambda_{(0)a} \,, \tag{4.62}$$

where we remind the reader that  $v^a_{(0)}\Lambda_{(0)a} = 0$ . It then follows that under a boost  $\Gamma^a_{(0)bc}$  transforms as

$$\delta\Gamma^{a}_{(0)bc} = \frac{1}{2}\Pi^{ad}_{(0)} \left[ \Lambda_{(0)c} \left( \partial_{b}\tau_{(0)d} - \partial_{d}\Lambda_{(0)b} \right) + \Lambda_{(0)b} \left( \partial_{c}\tau_{(0)d} - \partial_{d}\Lambda_{(0)c} \right) \right] \,. \tag{4.63}$$

Taking for example  $\Gamma^a_{(0)bc} = \hat{\Gamma}^a_{(0)bc}$  would be boost invariant, but it would not be compatible with (4.51). What this means in other words is that the vielbein postulates do not impose that the connection  $\Gamma^a_{(0)bc}$  is boost invariant but only that it obeys (4.45) and (4.51).

#### 4.4 Newton-Cartan

The boundary geometry becomes Newton-Cartan [67–69] (see also [70]) if and only if  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is taken to be closed. With this additional assumption we get using the  $\Gamma_{(0)ab}^c$  as given

in (4.56) the vielbein postulates (dropping the superscript T as there is no torsion) [78]

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}\tau_{(0)b} = 0, \qquad (4.64)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}v^b_{(0)} = 0, \qquad (4.65)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)b} = 0, \qquad (4.66)$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}e^b_{(0)i} = 0. (4.67)$$

This implies

$$\nabla_{(0)a}\Pi^{bc}_{(0)} = 0, \qquad (4.68)$$

$$\nabla_{(0)a}\tau_{(0)b} = 0. (4.69)$$

Provided we have  $\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a} = 0$  the  $\Gamma^a_{(0)bc}$  is of the form given in [78, 79] and of the form used in [80] if furthermore  $F_{(0)ab} = 0$ .

We remark that one should not confuse Newton-Cartan geometry with Newtonian gravity.<sup>11</sup> This requires additional conditions such as the so-called Ehlers [69] conditions. In the next subsection we will discuss the deformation of Newton-Cartan geometry by adding a specific torsion tensor to it that is proportional to  $\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a}$ . This will turn out to be a very natural extension of the Newton-Cartan framework.

#### 4.5 Torsional Newton-Cartan

When  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is not closed we find a more general structure which is torsional Newton-Cartan. To see this we define a torsion tensor  $T^c_{(0)ab}$  as

$$T^{c}_{(0)ab} = -\frac{1}{2}v^{c}_{(0)}\left(\partial_{a}\tau_{(0)b} - \partial_{b}\tau_{(0)a}\right) \,. \tag{4.70}$$

Next consider the covariant derivative  $\nabla_{(0)a}^T$  of section 4.2 which is defined as

$$\nabla_{(0)a}^T X_{(0)}^b = \nabla_{(0)a} X_{(0)}^b + T_{(0)ac}^b X_{(0)}^c , \qquad (4.71)$$

$$\nabla_{(0)a}^T X_{(0)b} = \nabla_{(0)a} X_{(0)b} - T_{(0)ab}^c X_{(0)c} \,. \tag{4.72}$$

The relations (4.58)-(4.61) of section 4.3 can then be written as

$$\nabla_{(0)a}^T \tau_{(0)b} = 0, \qquad (4.73)$$

$$\nabla_{(0)a}^{T} v_{(0)}^{b} = \frac{1}{2} \Pi_{(0)}^{bc} \mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}} \Pi_{(0)ac} - \frac{1}{2} \Pi_{(0)}^{bc} v_{(0)}^{d} \left( F_{(0)ca} \tau_{(0)d} + F_{(0)cd} \tau_{(0)a} \right) , \qquad (4.74)$$

$$\nabla_{(0)a}^T \Pi_{(0)}^{bc} = 0, \qquad (4.75)$$

$$\nabla_{(0)a}^{T}\Pi_{(0)bc} = \left(\tau_{(0)b}\Pi_{(0)cd} + \tau_{(0)c}\Pi_{(0)bd}\right)\nabla_{(0)a}^{T}v_{(0)}^{d}, \qquad (4.76)$$

where (4.73) is compatible with (4.43). Equations (4.73) and (4.75) are the defining equations for the torsion of torsional Newton-Cartan geometry.<sup>12</sup> We note that with this definition, equation (4.57) implies that  $\nabla_{(0)a}^T X_{(0)}^a$  is not a total derivative.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>On the boundary of our Lifshitz UV completion the Newton-Cartan geometry is not dynamical. If we however consider it as a dynamical theory it becomes equivalent to Newtonian gravity when we impose the Ehlers conditions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Loosely speaking one can think of torsional Newton-Cartan geometry as the non-relativistic analogue of a Riemann-Cartan space-time. One could consider more general torsion tensors but we have no need for that here.

**Twistless torsional Newton-Cartan.** An important special case of torsional Newton-Cartan (TNC) geometry is obtained when we impose  $\tau_{(0)} \wedge d\tau_{(0)} = 0$  but  $d\tau_{(0)} \neq 0$ . This allows us to write

$$\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a} = \tau_{(0)a} \sigma_{(0)b} - \tau_{(0)b} \sigma_{(0)a} , \qquad (4.77)$$

where

$$\sigma_{(0)a} = -v_{(0)}^c \left( \partial_c \tau_{(0)a} - \partial_a \tau_{(0)c} \right) = -\mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}} \tau_{(0)a} \,. \tag{4.78}$$

We define the twist tensor  $\omega_{(0)ab}$  as

$$\omega_{(0)ab} = \frac{1}{2} \Pi^c_{(0)a} \Pi^d_{(0)b} \left( \partial_c \tau_{(0)d} - \partial_d \tau_{(0)c} \right) \,. \tag{4.79}$$

This quantity vanishes for the case where we impose (4.77). We will refer to this as twistless torsional Newton-Cartan geometry (TTNC). This explains the last column in table 1. The property (4.79) can also be used as a definition of TTNC as  $\tau_{(0)} \wedge d\tau_{(0)} = 0$  follows from it.

Since the torsion tensor  $T^c_{(0)ab}$  is proportional to  $v^c_{(0)}$  when it is twistless it is also temporal in the sense that projecting all its components with  $\Pi^a_{(0)b}$  gives zero. Hence there is no torsion in the spatial directions and one could read TTNC equally as temporal torsional Newton-Cartan.

We will see later in section 5.3 that we can rescale  $\tau_{(0)a}$  and  $e_{(0)a}^i$  by a bulk diffeomorphism (known as an anisotropic Weyl transformation). Hence in the case of TTNC there is always a boundary structure in the class of anisotropically conformally equivalent boundary geometries that is Newton-Cartan. However to treat the whole class of anisotropically conformally equivalent boundary geometries in a unified way we need to add torsion.

We will later see in section 6.2 that TTNC as a dynamical theory (hence moving away from our setting in which the geometry is non-dynamical, see also footnote 11) has striking similarities with Hořava-Lifshitz theories of gravity with one very important difference namely that the underlying geometry does not admit Lorentzian metrics which is assumed to be the case in Hořava-Lifshitz theories. For further comments we refer the reader to sections 6.2 and 7.

#### 4.6 Curvature

Now that we have defined two notions of covariant derivatives  $\nabla_{(0)a}$  and  $\nabla_{(0)a}^T$  it is natural to consider their associated curvature tensors. We define the Riemann tensor  $R^a_{(0)bcd}$  as usual by

$$\left[\nabla_{(0)a}, \nabla_{(0)b}\right] Y_{(0)}^c = R_{(0)dab}^c Y_{(0)}^d, \qquad (4.80)$$

$$\left[\nabla_{(0)a}, \nabla_{(0)b}\right] Y_{(0)c} = -R^d_{(0)cab} Y_{(0)d} \,. \tag{4.81}$$

It is then given explicitly in terms of  $\Gamma_{(0)}$  as

$$R^{c}_{(0)dab} = \partial_a \Gamma^{c}_{(0)bd} - \partial_b \Gamma^{c}_{(0)ad} + \Gamma^{c}_{(0)ae} \Gamma^{e}_{(0)bd} - \Gamma^{c}_{(0)be} \Gamma^{e}_{(0)ad} \,.$$
(4.82)

Note that because one cannot raise and lower indices it is useful to have (4.80) and (4.81). Moreover, this Riemann tensor does not have all the usual symmetries that one normally associates with a Riemann tensor. A property that might appear unusual is the nonvanishing of  $R_{(0)cab}^c$  due to the fact that the curl of  $\Gamma_{(0)ca}^c$  does not vanish in general, as follows from (4.57). Another direct consequence of (4.57) is that the Ricci tensor defined as  $R_{(0)ab} = R_{(0)acb}^c$  is not symmetric in general. It can be seen from our definition of the Riemann tensor (4.82) and (4.57) that the combination  $R_{(0)ab} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{(0)b}\sigma_{(0)a}$  is symmetric.

We define the extrinsic curvature tensor  $K_{(0)ab}$  in analogy with its definition in Lorentzian geometry as follows

$$K_{(0)ab} = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}} \Pi_{(0)ab} \,. \tag{4.83}$$

By contracting equation (4.51) with  $v_{(0)}^a$ , the extrinsic curvature tensor can also be written as

$$K_{(0)ab} = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}} \Pi_{(0)ab} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \Pi^{c}_{(0)a} \Pi_{(0)bd} + \Pi^{c}_{(0)b} \Pi_{(0)ad} \right) \nabla_{(0)c} v^{d}_{(0)} \,. \tag{4.84}$$

We will use the convention that whenever a tensor  $X_{(0)a}$  is orthogonal to  $v_{(0)}^a$  we raise its index with  $\Pi_{(0)}^{ab}$  and whenever a tensor  $X_{(0)}^a$  is orthogonal to  $\tau_{(0)a}$  we lower its index with  $\Pi_{(0)ab}$ . So we will write for example

$$K_{(0)}^{ab} = \Pi_{(0)}^{ac} \Pi_{(0)}^{bd} K_{(0)cd} , \qquad (4.85)$$

and also

$$\sigma_{(0)}^{a} = \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} \sigma_{(0)b} \,, \tag{4.86}$$

where  $\sigma_{(0)a}$  is defined in (4.78). The extrinsic curvature scalar  $K_{(0)}$  is given by

$$K_{(0)} = \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} K_{(0)ab} \,. \tag{4.87}$$

We can also define a curvature tensor for the connection including torsion. We denote this Riemann tensor by  $R_{(0)}^T {}^c_{dab}$  and it is defined via

$$\left[\nabla^{T}_{(0)a}, \nabla^{T}_{(0)b}\right] Y^{c}_{(0)} = R^{T}_{(0)}{}^{c}{}_{dab}Y^{d}_{(0)} - 2T^{d}_{(0)ab}\nabla^{T}_{(0)d}Y^{c}_{(0)}.$$
(4.88)

The relation between this Riemann tensor and the one in (4.82) is

$$R_{(0)}^{T}{}^{c}{}_{dab} = R_{(0)dab}^{c} + \frac{1}{4} \left( F_{(\tau)ad} K_{(0)be} - F_{(\tau)bd} K_{(0)ae} + F_{(0)ae} F_{(\tau)bd} - F_{(0)be} F_{(\tau)ad} + F_{(0)ef} F_{(\tau)bd} \tau_{(0)a} v_{(0)}^{f} - F_{(0)ef} F_{(\tau)ad} \tau_{(0)b} v_{(0)}^{f} \right) \Pi_{(0)}^{ce} - v_{(0)}^{c} \nabla_{(0)[a} F_{(\tau)b]d},$$
(4.89)

where  $F_{(\tau)ab} = \partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a}$ . Note that (4.89) can also be obtained by replacing  $\Gamma^c_{(0)ab} \rightarrow \Gamma^c_{(0)ab} + T^c_{(0)ab}$  in (4.82) (with  $T^c_{(0)ab}$  the torsion tensor (4.70)), as it should. By construction  $R^T_{(0)}{}^c_{ab}\tau_{(0)c}$  should vanish as follows from (4.73) and this can easily be verified. The corresponding Ricci tensor is given by

$$R_{(0)ab}^{T} = R_{(0)acb}^{Tc} = R_{(0)ab} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{(0)c}\left(F_{(\tau)ab}v_{(0)}^{c}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\nabla_{(0)b}\sigma_{(0)a} + \frac{1}{4}\sigma_{(0)a}\sigma_{(0)b}, \qquad (4.90)$$

and is also not symmetric in general.

We often work with projected quantities using our projector  $\Pi^a_{(0)b} = \delta^a_b + v^a_{(0)}\tau_{(0)b}$  and so it will be useful to define projected covariant derivatives and their curvatures. This will play an important role later in the discussion of the anisotropic Weyl anomaly in section 6.2. We define the projected covariant derivative acting on vectors of the form  $X^b_{(0)} = \Pi^b_{(0)d} Y^d_{(0)}$  as

$$\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}X^b_{(0)} \equiv \Pi^c_{(0)a}\Pi^b_{(0)d}\nabla^T_{(0)c}X^d_{(0)} = \Pi^c_{(0)a}\Pi^b_{(0)d}\nabla_{(0)c}X^d_{(0)}.$$
(4.91)

We can then define an associated projected Riemann tensor  $\mathcal{R}_{(0)}{}^{c}{}_{dab}$  from the equation

$$\left[\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}, \mathcal{D}_{(0)b}\right] X_{(0)}^c = \mathcal{R}_{(0)}{}^c{}_{dab} X_{(0)}^d - 2\Pi^e_{(0)a}\Pi^f_{(0)b}\Pi^c_{(0)g}T^d_{(0)ef}\nabla_{(0)d}X^g_{(0)}.$$
(4.92)

From (4.92) it follows, after computation, that actually

$$\mathcal{R}_{(0)}{}^{c}{}_{dab} = \Pi^{e}_{(0)a}\Pi^{f}_{(0)b}\Pi^{c}_{(0)g}\Pi^{h}_{(0)d}R^{T}_{(0)}{}^{g}{}_{hef} \,.$$
(4.93)

For the associated Ricci tensor we obtain

$$\mathcal{R}_{(0)ab} = \Pi^{e}_{(0)c} \Pi^{f}_{(0)b} \Pi^{c}_{(0)g} \Pi^{h}_{(0)a} R^{T}_{(0)}{}^{g}{}_{hef} = \Pi^{e}_{(0)a} \Pi^{f}_{(0)b} R^{T}_{(0)ef} , \qquad (4.94)$$

using that  $R_{(0)}^{T c}{}_{dab}\tau_{(0)c} = 0$ . The relation among the Ricci scalars is

$$\mathcal{R}_{(0)} = \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} \mathcal{R}_{(0)ab} = R^T_{(0)} = R_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{(0)a} \sigma^a_{(0)} \,. \tag{4.95}$$

We note that  $\mathcal{R}_{(0)ab}$  is in general not symmetric either but it will be in the case of TTNC which we turn to next.

**Riemannian geometry for simultaneity hypersurfaces in TTNC.** By construction TTNC has no torsion in the spatial directions (see equation (4.79)). We therefore expect that the projected geometry in this case has the usual properties of Riemannian geometry. The first indication for this comes from the property

$$\mathcal{R}^c_{(0)cab} = 0. (4.96)$$

The Ricci tensor is symmetric since we have

$$\mathcal{R}_{(0)[ab]} = \Pi^c_{(0)a} \Pi^d_{(0)b} \partial_{[c} \sigma_{(0)d]} = 0.$$
(4.97)

Then one can show that

$$\mathcal{R}_{(0)ghef} = \Pi_{(0)cg} \mathcal{R}_{(0)hef}^c = \Pi_{(0)g}^c \Pi_{(0)h}^d \Pi_{(0)e}^a \Pi_{(0)f}^b S_{(0)cdab} \,, \tag{4.98}$$

where

$$S_{(0)cdab} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_a \partial_d \Pi_{(0)bc} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_a \partial_c \Pi_{(0)bd} + \frac{1}{4} \Pi^{ef}_{(0)} \left( \partial_a \Pi_{(0)de} + \partial_d \Pi_{(0)ae} - \partial_e \Pi_{(0)ad} \right) \left( \partial_b \Pi_{(0)cf} + \partial_c \Pi_{(0)bf} - \partial_f \Pi_{(0)bc} \right) + \frac{1}{2} K_{(0)ad} \left( \partial_b \tau_{(0)c} + \partial_c \tau_{(0)b} \right) + \frac{1}{2} K_{(0)bc} \left( \partial_a \tau_{(0)d} + \partial_d \tau_{(0)a} \right) - (a \leftrightarrow b) .$$
(4.99)

Hence it follows that  $S_{(0)cdab}$  and thus  $\mathcal{R}_{(0)ghef}$  has all the usual symmetry properties of the Riemann tensor. In particular (a only takes three values)

$$\mathcal{R}_{(0)[gh]ef} = 0, \qquad (4.100)$$

$$\mathcal{R}_{(0)efgh} = \mathcal{R}_{(0)ghef} \,. \tag{4.101}$$

Since  $v_{(0)}^a$  contracted with any component of  $\mathcal{R}_{(0)ghef}$  gives zero there is only one free component  $\mathcal{R}_{(0)ghef}$  as expected for a 2-dimensional Riemann tensor. This implies that the projected Ricci tensor satisfies the property

$$\mathcal{R}_{(0)ab} = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{R}_{(0)} \Pi_{(0)ab} \,. \tag{4.102}$$

We conclude that in TTNC the hypersurfaces orthogonal to  $\tau_{(0)a}$  which describe surfaces of absolute simultaneity are still described by ordinary Riemannian geometry.

#### 5 Boundary stress-energy tensor and Ward identities

In this section we turn our attention to the boundary stress-energy tensor and the associated Ward identities of our model. To this end we will employ again the relation between the 5D and 4D theory, the identification of the sources in section 3 along with the structure of the boundary geometry that was described in the previous section.

#### 5.1 The action with counterterms and its variation

The complete 4-dimensional action is given by (2.9) where the counterterm action is obtained by dimensional reduction of the 5-dimensional counterterm action (A.14). This was done in [60] and the result is

$$S_{\rm ct} = \frac{2\pi L}{\kappa_5^2} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} d^3 x \sqrt{-h} \left[ -3e^{-\Phi/2} - \frac{1}{4} e^{\Phi/2} \left( R_{(h)} - \frac{3}{2} \partial_a \Phi \partial^a \Phi - \frac{1}{4} e^{3\Phi} F_{ab} F^{ab} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_a \phi \partial^a \phi - \frac{1}{2} e^{2\phi} D_a \chi D^a \chi - \frac{k^2}{2} e^{2\phi - 3\Phi} \right) \right] + \log r \frac{2\pi L}{\kappa_5^2} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} d^3 x \sqrt{-h} \mathcal{A} \,, \, (5.1)$$

where

$$\mathcal{A} = e^{-\Phi/2} \hat{\mathcal{A}} \tag{5.2}$$

with  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}$  given in (A.16) in which the reduction ansatz should be substituted. The resulting expression is given in [60].

The total variation of the (renormalized) action can be written as

$$\delta S_{\rm ren} = \frac{2\pi L}{2\kappa_5^2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^4 x \sqrt{-g} \left( \mathcal{E}_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{E}^{\mu} \delta A_{\mu} + \mathcal{E}_{\Phi} \delta \Phi + \mathcal{E}_{\phi} \delta \phi + \mathcal{E}_{\chi} \delta \chi \right)$$
(5.3)  
$$- \frac{2\pi L}{2\kappa_5^2} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} d^3 x \sqrt{-h} \left( T_{ab} \delta h^{ab} + 2T^a \delta A_a + 2T_{\Phi} \delta \Phi + 2T_{\phi} \delta \phi + 2T_{\chi} \delta \chi - 2\frac{\delta r}{r} \mathcal{A} \right) ,$$

with the equations of motion given by (2.13)–(2.17) where  $T_{ab}$ ,  $T^a$ ,  $T_{\Phi}$ ,  $T_{\phi}$  and  $T_{\chi}$  can in principle be computed straightforwardly. However we will prefer to relate them to their

5-dimensional counterparts given in (A.18)-(A.20). This can be done by dimensionally reducing (A.17). We write

$$\sqrt{-\hat{h}\hat{T}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}}\delta\hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \sqrt{-h}\left(T_{ab}\delta h^{ab} + 2T^a\delta A_a + 2T_\Phi\delta\Phi\right), \qquad (5.4)$$

and thus we obtain

$$T_{ab} = (\hat{h}_{uu})^{-7/4} \left[ (\hat{h}_{uu})^2 \hat{T}_{ab} - \hat{h}_{uu} \hat{h}_{au} \hat{T}_{bu} - \hat{h}_{uu} \hat{h}_{bu} \hat{T}_{au} + \hat{h}_{au} \hat{h}_{bu} \hat{T}_{uu} \right] , \qquad (5.5)$$

$$T^{a} = -(\hat{h}_{uu})^{-1/4} \hat{h}^{ab} \hat{T}_{bu}, \qquad (5.6)$$

$$T_{\Phi} = \frac{1}{2} (\hat{h}_{uu})^{-1/4} \hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \hat{T}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} - \frac{3}{2} (\hat{h}_{uu})^{-5/4} \hat{T}_{uu} \,.$$
(5.7)

This implies that we also have

$$T_a = (\hat{h}_{uu})^{-3/4} \left( \hat{h}_{au} \hat{T}_{uu} - \hat{h}_{uu} \hat{T}_{au} \right) , \qquad (5.8)$$

$$T_{ab} - T_b A_a = (\hat{h}_{uu})^{-3/4} \left( \hat{h}_{uu} \hat{T}_{ab} - \hat{h}_{bu} \hat{T}_{au} \right) \,. \tag{5.9}$$

In a similar manner we obtain

$$T_{\phi} = (\hat{h}_{uu})^{-1/4} \hat{T}_{\hat{\phi}}, \qquad (5.10)$$

$$T_{\chi} = (\hat{h}_{uu})^{-1/4} \hat{T}_{\hat{\chi}}, \qquad (5.11)$$

in terms of  $\hat{T}_{\hat{\phi}}$ ,  $\hat{T}_{\hat{\chi}}$  appearing in (A.17). We also note that in the variation of the 5dimensional axion  $\delta \hat{\chi} = \delta \chi + k \delta u = \delta' \chi$  we have absorbed the gauge transformation  $k \delta u$ into the variation of the 4-dimensional axion and dropped the prime.

As we will see, a more useful quantity to compute in our case is the HIM boundary stress-energy tensor [66]. In order to compute this, we vary the action with respect to the inverse frame field  $e_a^a$ , defined via

$$h^{ab} = \eta^{\underline{ab}} e^a_a e^b_b. \tag{5.12}$$

We thus have

$$T_{ab}\delta h^{ab} + 2T^a\delta A_a = 2S^{\underline{a}}{}_a\delta e^a_a + 2T^{\underline{a}}\delta A_{\underline{a}}, \qquad (5.13)$$

where  $A_{\underline{a}} = A_a e_{\underline{a}}^a$  and

$$S^{\underline{a}}{}_{a} = (T_{ab} - T_{b}A_{a}) e^{b\underline{a}}.$$
(5.14)

#### 5.2 Variation of the on-shell action

Since we have observed that we need frame fields for a proper definition of the 4D sources we now write the total variation of the action (5.3) in a frame field basis, yielding

$$\delta S_{\rm ren} = -\frac{2\pi L}{\kappa_5^2} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} d^3 x e \left( S_{\bar{a}}^{\underline{t}} \delta e_{\underline{t}}^{\underline{a}} + S_{\bar{a}}^{\underline{i}} \delta e_{\underline{i}}^{\underline{a}} + T^{\underline{i}} \delta A_{\underline{i}} + T_{\varphi} \delta \varphi + T_{\psi} \delta \psi + T_{\phi} \delta \phi + T_{\chi} \delta \chi - \mathcal{A} \frac{\delta r}{r} \right) ,$$

$$(5.15)$$

where

$$\varphi = \left(A_a - e^{-3\Phi/2} e_{\underline{a}}^t\right) e_{\underline{t}}^a \,, \tag{5.16}$$

$$\psi = \left(A_a + e^{-3\Phi/2} e_{\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}}\right) e_{\underline{t}}^a \,, \tag{5.17}$$

$$T_{\varphi} = \frac{1}{2}T^{\underline{t}} + \frac{1}{3}e^{3\Phi/2}T_{\Phi} , \qquad (5.18)$$

$$T_{\psi} = \frac{1}{2}T^{\underline{t}} - \frac{1}{3}e^{3\Phi/2}T_{\Phi} , \qquad (5.19)$$

where we left out the equations of motion since we are going to put the variation on-shell.

Using the expressions (3.7)-(3.11) and the boundary conditions (3.26)-(3.30) as well as (3.42)-(3.46) we find that the 4D fields have the expansions

$$e^{a}_{\underline{t}} = -r^{2}e^{\Phi_{(0)}/2}v^{a}_{(0)} + \dots, \qquad (5.20)$$

$$e_{\underline{i}}^{a} = r e^{-\Phi_{(0)}/2} e_{(0)\underline{i}}^{a} + \dots , \qquad (5.21)$$

$$A_{\underline{i}} = r e^{-\Phi_{(0)}/2} A_{(0)\underline{i}} + \dots, \qquad (5.22)$$

$$\varphi = r^2 e^{\Psi_{(0)}/2} A_{(0)\underline{t}} + \dots, \qquad (5.23)$$

$$\psi = 2e^{-3\Phi_{(0)}/2} + \dots, \qquad (5.24)$$

$$\phi = \phi_{(0)} + \dots, \tag{5.25}$$

$$\chi = \chi_{(0)} + \dots, \tag{5.26}$$

along with

$$e = \sqrt{-h} = r^{-4} e^{\Phi_{(0)}/2} e_{(0)} + \dots,$$
 (5.27)

where  $e_{(0)} = \det e_{(0)a}^{\underline{a}}$  with  $e_{(0)a}^{\underline{t}} = \tau_{(0)a}$ . Further, using equations (5.5)–(5.11), (5.14), (5.18) and (5.19) and the results of section A.2 we have

$$S_{\overline{a}}^{\underline{t}} = r^2 e^{-\Phi_{(0)}} S_{(0)a}^{\underline{t}} + \dots , \qquad (5.28)$$

$$S_{\bar{a}}^{i} = r^{3} S_{(0)a}^{\underline{i}} + \dots , \qquad (5.29)$$

$$T^{\underline{i}} = r^3 T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} + \dots , \qquad (5.30)$$

$$T_{\varphi} = r^2 e^{-\Phi_{(0)}} T_{(0)}^{\underline{t}} + \dots , \qquad (5.31)$$

$$T_{\psi} = -\frac{1}{3}r^4 e^{\Phi_{(0)}} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\Phi} \rangle + \dots , \qquad (5.32)$$

$$T_{\phi} = r^4 e^{-\Phi_{(0)}/2} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\phi} \rangle + \dots ,$$
 (5.33)

$$T_{\chi} = r^4 e^{-\Phi_{(0)}/2} \langle \mathcal{O}_{\chi} \rangle + \dots,$$
 (5.34)

where we indicated the first non-vanishing component. This allows us to put the variation of the action on-shell giving

$$\delta S_{\rm ren} = -\frac{2\pi L}{\kappa_5^2} \int_{\partial\mathcal{M}} d^3 x e_{(0)} \left( -S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a} \delta v^a_{(0)} + S^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} \delta e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} + T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} \delta A_{(0)\underline{i}} + T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} \delta A_{(0)\underline{i}} + \langle \mathcal{O}_{\chi} \rangle \delta \chi_{(0)} \right. \\ \left. + \langle \mathcal{O}_{\phi} \rangle \delta \phi_{(0)} + \frac{1}{2} \left( S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)\underline{i}} - S^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{i}} + A_{(0)\underline{i}} T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} - A_{(0)\underline{i}} T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} + 2 \langle \mathcal{O}_{\Phi} \rangle \right) \delta \Phi_{(0)} - \mathcal{A}_{(0)} \frac{\delta r}{r} \right) ,$$

$$(5.35)$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}_{(0)} = \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{(0)} \,, \tag{5.36}$$

with  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{(0)}$  given in (A.27).

#### 5.3 Ward identities

We will next study the Ward identities by varying the action with respect to local symmetries of the theory. In the 5-dimensional theory the local symmetries are those diffeomorphisms that preserve the radial gauge choice for the metric, also known as PBH transformations (see section A.4). The 4-dimensional Ward identities result from the 4-dimensional versions of the 5-dimensional PBH transformations as well as the local symmetries acting on the frame fields given in (4.22)-(4.25).

The PBH-transformations of the 5-dimensional frame fields are

$$\delta \hat{e}^{u}_{(0)+} = 2\hat{\xi}^{r}_{(0)}\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)+} + \hat{\xi}^{a}_{(0)}\partial_{a}\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)+} - \hat{e}^{a}_{(0)+}\partial_{a}\hat{\xi}^{u}_{(0)}, \qquad (5.37)$$

$$\delta \hat{e}^{a}_{(0)-} = \delta \hat{e}^{a}_{(0)+} = 2\hat{\xi}^{r}_{(0)}\hat{e}^{a}_{(0)+} + \hat{\xi}^{b}_{(0)}\partial_{b}\hat{e}^{a}_{(0)+} - \hat{e}^{b}_{(0)+}\partial_{b}\hat{\xi}^{a}_{(0)}, \qquad (5.38)$$

$$\delta \hat{e}^{u}_{(0)-} = \hat{\xi}^{a}_{(0)} \partial_{a} \hat{e}^{u}_{(0)-} \,, \tag{5.39}$$

$$\delta \hat{e}^{u}_{(0)\underline{i}} = \hat{\xi}^{r}_{(0)} \hat{e}^{u}_{(0)\underline{i}} + \hat{\xi}^{a}_{(0)} \partial_{a} \hat{e}^{u}_{(0)\underline{i}} - \hat{e}^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}} \partial_{a} \hat{\xi}^{u}_{(0)} , \qquad (5.40)$$

$$\delta \hat{e}^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}} = \hat{\xi}^{r}_{(0)}\hat{e}^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}} + \hat{\xi}^{b}_{(0)}\partial_{b}\hat{e}^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}} - \hat{e}^{b}_{(0)\underline{i}}\partial_{b}\hat{\xi}^{a}_{(0)}.$$
(5.41)

Using the map between the 4- and 5-dimensional frame fields that is given at the beginning of section 3.3 the PBH-transformations of the 4-dimensional frame fields are

$$\delta v_{(0)}^a = 2\xi_{(0)}^r v_{(0)}^a + \xi_{(0)}^b \partial_b v_{(0)}^a - v_{(0)}^b \partial_b \xi_{(0)}^a \,, \tag{5.42}$$

$$\delta e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} = \xi^r_{(0)} e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} + \xi^b_{(0)} \partial_b e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} - e^b_{(0)\underline{i}} \partial_b \xi^a_{(0)} , \qquad (5.43)$$

$$\delta A_{(0)\underline{t}} = 2\xi^{r}_{(0)}A_{(0)\underline{t}} + \xi^{a}_{(0)}\partial_{a}A_{(0)\underline{t}} - v^{a}_{(0)}\partial_{a}\Sigma_{(0)}, \qquad (5.44)$$

$$\delta A_{(0)\underline{i}} = \xi_{(0)}^r A_{(0)\underline{i}} + \xi_{(0)}^a \partial_a A_{(0)\underline{i}} + e_{(0)\underline{i}}^a \partial_a \Sigma_{(0)} , \qquad (5.45)$$

$$\delta\Phi_{(0)} = \xi^a_{(0)}\partial_a\Phi_{(0)}\,,\tag{5.46}$$

$$\delta\phi_{(0)} = \xi^a_{(0)} \partial_a \phi_{(0)} \,, \tag{5.47}$$

$$\delta\chi_{(0)} = \xi^a_{(0)}\partial_a\chi_{(0)} + k\Sigma_{(0)}, \qquad (5.48)$$

where we defined  $\xi_{(0)}^r = \hat{\xi}_{(0)}^r$ ,  $\xi_{(0)}^a = \hat{\xi}_{(0)}^a$  and  $\Sigma_{(0)} = \hat{\xi}_{(0)}^u$  for *u*-independent PBH transformation generators. We thus see that there will be Ward identities associated with the generators,  $\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^r$ ,  $\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^a$  and  $\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^u$ , corresponding to anisotropic Weyl [81], boundary diffeomorphisms and gauge transformations, respectively. The Ward identities are

$$0 = 2S_{(0)\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}} + 2T_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}A_{(0)\underline{t}} + S_{(0)\underline{i}}^{\underline{i}} + T_{(0)}^{\underline{i}}A_{(0)\underline{i}} - \mathcal{A}_{(0)}$$
(5.49)

$$0 = -\frac{1}{e_{(0)}} \partial_a \left( e_{(0)} T^a_{(0)} \right) + k \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{\chi} \right\rangle$$
(5.50)

$$0 = -S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)b}\partial_a v^b_{(0)} + S^{\underline{i}}_{(0)b}\partial_a e^b_{(0)\underline{i}} + \frac{1}{e_{(0)}}\partial_b \left(e_{(0)}S^b_{(0)a}\right) + T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)}\partial_a A_{(0)\underline{t}} + T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}\partial_a A_{(0)\underline{i}} + \langle \mathcal{O}_{\chi} \rangle \,\partial_a \chi_{(0)}$$

$$+ \langle \mathcal{O}_{\phi} \rangle \,\partial_{a} \phi_{(0)} + \frac{1}{2} \left( S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)\underline{t}} - S^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{i}} + A_{(0)\underline{t}} T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} - A_{(0)\underline{i}} T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} + 2 \,\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Phi} \rangle \right) \partial_{a} \Phi_{(0)} \,, \tag{5.51}$$

where  $T^{a}_{(0)} = -T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)}v^{a}_{(0)} + T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}e^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}}$  and  $S^{b}_{(0)a} = -S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a}v^{b}_{(0)} + S^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a}e^{b}_{(0)\underline{i}}$ .

#### 5.4 Dimensional reduction of the vevs and additional Ward identities

By considering the relation between the 4D and 5D vevs, a number of additional Ward identities can be found, as we now show. Using (5.28)-(5.34) and the expressions of section 5.1 as well as (A.23)-(A.25) we find the following expressions for the 4-dimensional vevs

$$e^{-\Phi_{(0)}}S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)-}\hat{t}_{au} = e^{-\Phi_{(0)}}\hat{t}_{au}, \qquad (5.52)$$

$$S_{(0)a}^{\underline{i}} = \hat{e}_{(0)}^{\underline{b}\underline{i}} \hat{t}_{ab} + \hat{e}_{(0)}^{\underline{u}\underline{i}} \hat{t}_{au} = e_{(0)}^{\underline{i}\underline{b}} \hat{t}_{ab} - A_{(0)}^{\underline{i}} \hat{t}_{au} , \qquad (5.53)$$

$$e^{-\Phi_{(0)}}T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)-}\hat{t}_{uu} = -e^{-\Phi_{(0)}}\hat{t}_{uu}, \qquad (5.54)$$

$$T_{(0)}^{\underline{i}} = -\hat{e}_{(0)}^{u\underline{i}}\hat{t}_{uu} - \hat{e}_{(0)}^{a\underline{i}}\hat{t}_{au} = A_{(0)}^{\underline{i}}\hat{t}_{uu} - e_{(0)}^{\underline{i}a}\hat{t}_{au}, \qquad (5.55)$$

$$-\frac{1}{3}e^{\Phi_{(0)}}\left\langle \mathcal{O}_{\Phi}\right\rangle = -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{6}\hat{e}^{+}_{(0)u}\hat{t}^{\hat{a}}_{\hat{a}} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)+}\hat{t}_{uu} + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\hat{e}^{a}_{(0)+}\hat{t}_{au} = -\frac{1}{6}e^{\Phi_{(0)}}\mathcal{A}_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2}e^{\Phi_{(0)}}A_{(0)\underline{i}}\hat{t}_{uu} - \frac{1}{2}e^{\Phi_{(0)}}v^{a}_{(0)}\hat{t}_{au}, \qquad (5.56)$$

$$\langle O_{\phi} \rangle = \langle \hat{O}_{\hat{\phi}} \rangle \,, \tag{5.57}$$

$$\langle O_{\chi} \rangle = \langle \hat{O}_{\hat{\chi}} \rangle \,, \tag{5.58}$$

in terms of the 5-dimensional vevs  $\hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}, \langle \hat{O}_{\hat{\phi}} \rangle, \langle \hat{O}_{\hat{\phi}} \rangle$ . Hence using (5.52)–(5.54) it follows that

$$\hat{t}_{au} = S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a}, \qquad (5.59)$$

$$e_{(0)}^{\underline{i}b}\hat{t}_{ab} = S_{(0)a}^{\underline{i}} + A_{(0)}^{\underline{i}}S_{(0)a}^{\underline{t}}, \qquad (5.60)$$

$$\hat{t}_{uu} = -T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} \,. \tag{5.61}$$

Substituting these relations in (5.55) and (5.56) we obtain

$$0 = A^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} + e^{\underline{i}a}_{(0)}S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a} + T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}, \qquad (5.62)$$

$$0 = S_{(0)\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}} - S_{(0)\underline{i}}^{\underline{i}} + A_{(0)\underline{t}}T_{(0)}^{\underline{t}} - A_{(0)\underline{i}}T_{(0)}^{\underline{i}} + 2\langle O_{\Phi} \rangle , \qquad (5.63)$$

where we used (5.49) to remove  $\mathcal{A}_{(0)}$  from (5.56). Further by contracting (5.60) with  $e_{(0)}^{ja}$  and antisymmetrizing in  $(\underline{i}, \underline{j})$  we obtain the relation

$$0 = S_{(0)}^{\underline{i}\underline{j}} + A_{(0)}^{\underline{i}}S_{(0)a}^{\underline{t}\underline{j}} - (\underline{i} \leftrightarrow \underline{j}), \qquad (5.64)$$

where  $S_{(0)}^{\underline{ij}} = e_{(0)}^{\underline{j}a} S_{(0)a}^{\underline{i}}$  and  $S_{(0)}^{\underline{tj}} = e_{(0)}^{\underline{j}a} S_{(0)a}^{\underline{t}}$ .

#### 5.5 Local tangent space transformations of the sources and vevs

To see where the relations (5.62)-(5.64) come from, consider the inverse boundary metric  $\hat{h}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  written in terms of the 4-dimensional sources, equations (3.55)-(3.57). We now look for transformations of the sources that leave these expressions invariant.

Local Galilean boost transformations. The first such transformation is the boost transformation (4.24)

$$\delta v^a_{(0)} = \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} e^a_{(0)i} \,, \tag{5.65}$$

$$\delta A_{(0)\underline{i}} = -\Lambda_{(0)\underline{i}}, \qquad (5.66)$$

$$\delta A_{(0)\underline{t}} = -\Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} A_{(0)\underline{i}} \,. \tag{5.67}$$

Using (5.35) the associated Ward identity is (5.62). These transformations imply that the boundary gauge field  $A_{(0)a}$  transforms under local tangent space boosts as

$$\delta A_{(0)a} = -\Lambda_{(0)a} \,, \tag{5.68}$$

where  $v_{(0)}^a \Lambda_{(0)a} = 0$  and the  $v_{(0)}^a$  transformation (5.65) can be written as

$$\delta v_{(0)}^a = \Lambda_{(0)}^a \,, \tag{5.69}$$

where  $\Lambda_{(0)}^a = \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} \Lambda_{(0)b}$  (see also section 4.1). The parameter  $\Lambda_{(0)a}$  is such that  $\Lambda_{(0)\underline{i}} = e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} \Lambda_{(0)a}$  and hence is only defined up to shifts by terms proportional to  $\tau_{(0)a}$ . This is required in order for  $\hat{h}_{(0)ab}$  in (3.52) to remain invariant when using the fact that  $\Pi_{(0)ab}$  transforms under boosts as

$$\delta \Pi_{(0)ab} = \Lambda_{(0)a} \tau_{(0)b} + \Lambda_{(0)b} \tau_{(0)a} , \qquad (5.70)$$

as follows from (4.23). Using the expressions (5.52)-(5.58) it is straightforward to work out that the vevs transform under Galilean boosts as

$$\delta S^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} = \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a} \,, \tag{5.71}$$

$$\delta T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} = \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} , \qquad (5.72)$$

$$\delta \langle O_{\Phi} \rangle = -\frac{3}{2} \Lambda^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} T_{(0)\underline{i}}, \qquad (5.73)$$

where we left out those vevs that are inert.

Comparing (3.52)–(3.57) with the parametrization (A.31) we obtain

$$A_{(0)a} = -\hat{N}_{(0)a} \,. \tag{5.74}$$

This means that in the parametrization (A.32) the spatial components of  $A_{(0)a}$  have been put equal to zero. This can be understood as fixing the freedom to perform a boost. Because of the restriction  $v^a_{(0)}\Lambda_{(0)a} = 0$  there is one component in  $A_{(0)a}$  that cannot be removed. This component is essentially  $\hat{h}^{uu}_{(0)} = 2A_{(0)a}v^a_{(0)} + \Pi^{ab}_{(0)}A_{(0)a}A_{(0)b}$ .

Some of the geometric definitions such as the connection (4.56) and the extrinsic curvature (4.83) are not boost invariant. For the extrinsic curvature we will later in equation (6.32) define a manifestly boost invariant expression. Regarding the covariant derivative not being boost invariant one has to treat separately derivatives along  $v_{(0)}^a$  and  $\Pi_{(0)b}^a$  and build boost invariant objects out of them as for example done in section 6.2.

Local SO(2) rotations. The next symmetry leaving  $\hat{h}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  invariant is given by

$$\delta e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} = -\Lambda^{\underline{j}}_{(0)\underline{i}} e^a_{(0)\underline{j}}, \qquad (5.75)$$

$$\delta A_{(0)\underline{i}} = -\Lambda^{\underline{j}}_{(0)\underline{i}} A_{(0)j} \,, \tag{5.76}$$

where  $\Lambda_{(0)\underline{i}\underline{j}} = -\Lambda_{(0)\underline{j}\underline{i}}$ . This symmetry gives rise to the Ward identity (5.64). In section 4.1 we have shown that these are the local SO(2) transformations that together with the Galilean boosts that we have just discussed are induced by bulk local Lorentz transformations acting on the boundary frame fields  $e^{\underline{a}}_{(0)a}$ . The vevs transform in the obvious way as

$$\delta S_{(0)a}^{\underline{i}} = -\Lambda_{(0)\underline{j}}^{\underline{i}} S_{(0)a}^{\underline{j}}, \qquad (5.77)$$

$$\delta T_{(0)}^{\underline{i}} = -\Lambda_{(0)\underline{j}}^{\underline{i}} T_{(0)}^{\underline{j}} \,, \tag{5.78}$$

with the other vevs remaining inert.

**Local dilatations.** There is one more local transformation leaving  $\hat{h}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  trivially invariant. It is given by<sup>13</sup>

$$\delta\Phi_{(0)} = \Lambda_{(0)} \,, \tag{5.79}$$

leading to the relation (5.63). This transformation takes the form of a local dilatation shifting  $\Phi_{(0)}$ . We have defined the 4-dimensional sources in section 3.3 and the vevs in (5.28)– (5.34) such that they all have zero weight with respect to these local dilatations.

In distinction to the other local symmetries, this dilatation symmetry is only there at leading order. For example  $\hat{h}_{(2)uu}$  which is given in (3.20) is not invariant under it. Since the  $\Lambda_{(0)}$  rescaling is not a local symmetry of the full Fefferman-Graham expansion we are not able to use it to remove a source component such as  $\Phi_{(0)}$ . It does however produce the additional Ward identity (5.63) which can be used to remove  $\delta \Phi_{(0)}$  from the variation of the on-shell action (5.35). This is very convenient as after doing so the variations in (5.35) are unconstrained while in the case in which we do not remove the term in front of  $\delta \Phi_{(0)}$  the variations are constrained by (2.55). We will always choose to remove the term proportional to  $\delta \Phi_{(0)}$  so that the variation of the on-shell action is now given in terms of 14 sources and 14 vevs. Of either set we can remove 8 by local symmetries (diffeomorphisms, anisotropic Weyl, gauge and local tangent space boost and SO(2) transformations) and their associated Ward identities. The boundary field  $\Phi_{(0)}$  is no longer a source and is simply given by (2.55). We thus count 6+6 sources and vevs. In section 6.3 we will see that the full 4-dimensional Fefferman-Graham expansion obtained by dimensional reduction of the 5-dimensional Fefferman-Graham expansion contains on top of these sources and vevs one additional free scalar function.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The transformation acts on the 5-dimensional vielbein sources as follows  $\delta \hat{e}^+_{(0)a} = -\Lambda_{(0)}\hat{e}^+_{(0)a}, \ \delta \hat{e}^-_{(0)a} = \Lambda_{(0)}\hat{e}^+_{(0)a}, \ \delta \hat{e}^{i}_{(0)a} = 0$  leaving  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  invariant.

#### 5.6 Gauge transformations and scaling dimensions of the vevs

Using the transformations of  $v_{(0)}^a$  and  $e_{(0)\underline{i}}^a$  under local boosts, rotation and dilatations we find that the quantity  $S_{(0)a}^b = -S_{(0)a}^{\underline{t}}v_{(0)}^b + S_{(0)a}^{\underline{i}}e_{(0)\underline{i}}^b$  appearing prominently in (5.51) transforms as

$$\delta S^b_{(0)a} = 0. (5.80)$$

We conclude that  $S^b_{(0)a}$  is invariant under the local tangent space transformations. In this subsection we ask how the quantity  $S^b_{(0)a}$  as well as the other vevs transform under gauge transformations with parameter  $\Sigma_{(0)}$  and anisotropic Weyl transformations generated by  $\xi^r_{(0)}$  where we take  $\xi^r_{(0)}$  to be constant in which case they are referred to as scale transformations and we compute the associated scaling dimensions of the vevs.

**Gauge transformations.** The gauge transformation is described by the PBH transformations of (5.42)–(5.48) with the parameter  $\Sigma_{(0)}$ . This gauge transformation only acts on the source  $A_{(0)a}$  and transforms it as

$$\delta A_{(0)a} = \partial_a \Sigma_{(0)} \,. \tag{5.81}$$

To work out the gauge transformations of the vevs we use that the action of the PBH transformations on the 5-dimensional vevs is given by

$$\delta \hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \hat{\xi}^{\hat{c}}_{(0)} \partial_{\hat{c}} \hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} + \hat{t}_{\hat{c}\hat{b}} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\xi}^{\hat{c}}_{(0)} + \hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{c}} \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\xi}^{\hat{c}}_{(0)} + \delta_{\hat{\xi}^{r}_{(0)}} \hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \,. \tag{5.82}$$

Taking  $\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}} = \delta_u^{\hat{a}} \Sigma_{(0)}$  and  $\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^r = 0$  and using (5.52)–(5.56) we obtain the following gauge transformations of the vevs

$$\delta S_{(0)a}^{\underline{t}} = -T_{(0)}^{\underline{t}} \partial_a \Sigma_{(0)} \,, \tag{5.83}$$

$$\delta S^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} = \left( e^{\underline{i}b}_{(0)} S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)b} + A^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} \right) \partial_a \Sigma_{(0)} = -T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} \partial_a \Sigma_{(0)} , \qquad (5.84)$$

with the other vevs gauge invariant and where we used (5.62) in (5.84). With these transformations one can show

$$\delta S^b_{(0)a} = -T^b_{(0)} \partial_a \Sigma_{(0)} \,, \tag{5.85}$$

so that we find that  $S^b_{(0)a}$  is not gauge invariant. If we define the shifted vev

$$\mathcal{T}^{b}_{(0)a} = S^{b}_{(0)a} + T^{b}_{(0)} \frac{1}{k} \partial_a \chi_{(0)} , \qquad (5.86)$$

it follows that the quantity  $\mathcal{T}^{b}_{(0)a}$  is both gauge invariant as well as invariant under local tangent space transformations.

Scaling dimensions of the vevs. If we consider PBH transformations with  $\hat{\xi}^a_{(0)} = 0$ and  $\hat{\xi}^r_{(0)} = \text{cst}$  the 5-dimensional boundary stress-energy tensor  $\hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  has scaling dimension two meaning that it transforms as

$$\delta \hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = 2\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^r \hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \,. \tag{5.87}$$

	$S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a}$	$S^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a}$	$T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)}$	$T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}$	$\langle O_{\Phi} \rangle$	$\langle O_{\phi} \rangle$	$\langle O_{\chi} \rangle$
scaling dimension	2	3	2	3	4	4	4

 Table 2. Scaling dimensions of the 4-dimensional vevs.

	$\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}\underline{t}}$	$\mathcal{T}^{\underline{ti}}_{(0)}$	$\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{it}}$	$\mathcal{T}^{\underline{ij}}_{(0)}$	$\mathcal{T}^b_{(0)a}$	$T^a_{(0)}$
scaling dimension	4	3	5	4	4	4

Table 3. Scaling dimensions of some derived vevs.

Using the scaling dimensions of the 4-dimensional sources given in (5.42)-(5.48) and the relation between the 5- and 4-dimensional vevs given in (5.52)-(5.58) we obtain the set of scaling dimensions given in table 2. These are the vevs as they appear in the variation of the on-shell action (5.35). Other vevs that we encounter such as  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)t}^{\underline{t}}$ , and  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}$  have the scaling dimensions given in table 3. Following [29] we call  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}$  the energy density,  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}$  the energy flux and  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{i}}$  the stress. We point out that even though the energy flux has scaling dimension 5 and would thus appear to be an irrelevant operator<sup>14</sup> this is not a problem since the operators in table 2 are all either relevant or marginal and it is these that we source. Necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of conserved boundary currents such as continuity equations are discussed in section 6.1.

#### 5.7 Covariantizing the Ward identities

We conclude this section by presenting the Ward identities in a covariant form with respect to the boundary geometry that we described in section 4. Using our vielbein postulate and choice of  $\Gamma^c_{(0)ab}$  the gauge Ward identity (5.50) can be written as

$$k \left\langle \mathcal{O}_{\chi} \right\rangle = \nabla_{(0)a} T^{a}_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} v^{b}_{(0)} \left( \partial_{b} \tau_{(0)a} - \partial_{a} \tau_{(0)b} \right) T^{a}_{(0)} , \qquad (5.88)$$

where  $T^a_{(0)} = -T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)}v^a_{(0)} + T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}e^a_{(0)\underline{i}}$  while the diffeomorphism Ward identity (5.51) can be rewritten as

$$0 = \nabla_{(0)b} S^{b}_{(0)a} + \frac{1}{2} S^{b}_{(0)a} v^{c}_{(0)} \left( \partial_{c} \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_{b} \tau_{(0)c} \right) - S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)b} \nabla_{(0)a} v^{b}_{(0)} + S^{\underline{i}}_{(0)b} \nabla_{(0)a} e^{b}_{(0)\underline{i}} + T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} \partial_{a} A_{(0)\underline{i}} + T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} \partial_{a} A_{(0)\underline{i}} + \langle \mathcal{O}_{\phi} \rangle \, \partial_{a} \phi_{(0)} + \langle \mathcal{O}_{\chi} \rangle \, \partial_{a} \chi_{(0)} \,.$$
(5.89)

Expressing the Ward identities (5.49), (5.62)–(5.64), (5.88) and (5.89) in terms of gauge

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>Since  $e_{(0)}$  has dimension -4 (which is z = 2 plus 2 spatial dimensions) an operator is irrelevant when its dimension is larger than 4.

invariant vevs we find

$$\mathcal{A}_{(0)} = 2\mathcal{T}_{(0)\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}} + 2B_{(0)\underline{t}}T_{(0)}^{\underline{t}} + \mathcal{T}_{(0)\underline{i}}^{\underline{i}} + B_{(0)\underline{i}}T_{(0)}^{\underline{i}}, \qquad (5.90)$$

$$k \langle O_{\chi} \rangle = \nabla_{(0)a} T^a_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} v^b_{(0)} \left( \partial_b \tau_{(0)a} - \partial_a \tau_{(0)b} \right) T^a_{(0)} , \qquad (5.91)$$

$$\nabla_{(0)b}\mathcal{T}^{b}_{(0)a} = -\mathcal{T}^{c}_{(0)b}\left(-\tau_{(0)c}\nabla_{(0)a}v^{b}_{(0)} + e^{i}_{(0)c}\nabla_{(0)a}e^{b}_{(0)\underline{i}}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{T}^{b}_{(0)a}v^{c}_{(0)}\left(\partial_{c}\tau_{(0)b} - \partial_{b}\tau_{(0)c}\right) \\ -\mathcal{T}^{\underline{t}}_{(0)}\partial_{a}B_{(0)t} - \mathcal{T}^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}\partial_{a}B_{(0)i} - \langle O_{\phi}\rangle\partial_{a}\phi_{(0)},$$
(5.92)

$$\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}\underline{i}} + B_{(0)}^{\underline{i}} T_{(0)}^{\underline{t}} = -T_{(0)}^{\underline{i}}, \qquad (5.93)$$

$$0 = \mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{ij}} - B_{(0)}^{\underline{i}} T_{(0)}^{\underline{j}} - (\underline{i} \leftrightarrow \underline{j}), \qquad (5.94)$$

$$\langle O_{\Phi} \rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \left( \mathcal{T}^{\underline{t}}_{(0)\underline{t}} + B_{(0)\underline{t}} T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} - \mathcal{T}^{\underline{i}}_{(0)\underline{i}} - B_{(0)\underline{i}} T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (5.95)$$

where we wrote

$$B_{(0)\underline{t}} = A_{(0)\underline{t}} + \frac{1}{k} v^a_{(0)} \partial_a \chi_{(0)} , \qquad (5.96)$$

$$B_{(0)\underline{i}} = A_{(0)\underline{i}} - \frac{1}{k} e^a_{(0)\underline{i}} \partial_a \chi_{(0)} \,.$$
(5.97)

If we use the torsional covariant derivative of section 4.5 we can write the Ward identities (5.91) and (5.92) as

$$k \langle O_{\chi} \rangle = \nabla^{T}_{(0)a} T^{a}_{(0)} - 2T^{a}_{(0)ab} T^{b}_{(0)}, \qquad (5.98)$$

$$\nabla^{T}_{(0)b} \mathcal{T}^{b}_{(0)a} = -\mathcal{T}^{c}_{(0)b} \left( -\tau_{(0)c} \nabla^{T}_{(0)a} v^{b}_{(0)} + e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)c} \nabla^{T}_{(0)a} e^{b}_{(0)\underline{i}} \right) + 2T^{b}_{(0)ac} \mathcal{T}^{c}_{(0)b} + 2T^{b}_{(0)bc} \mathcal{T}^{c}_{(0)a}$$

$$-T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} \partial_{a} B_{(0)\underline{i}} - T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} \partial_{a} B_{(0)\underline{i}} - \langle O_{\phi} \rangle \partial_{a} \phi_{(0)}. \qquad (5.99)$$

The form of the diffeomorphism Ward identity (5.99) is similar to the one given in [66] with the differences that here i) the vielbeins do not transform under the Lorentz group but rather under the contracted Lorentz group, ii) we cannot raise and lower indices and iii) in general we have a torsion term  $T^b_{(0)ac}$ .

## 6 Further physical properties

In this section we continue our analysis of the physical properties of the boundary theory described via our holographic prescription. We first consider the construction of conserved boundary currents for the case of a boundary geometry described by TNC and define the corresponding conserved charges for the case when  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is hypersurface orthogonal, i.e. for TTNC. Then we turn to a detailed analysis of the anisotropic Weyl anomaly density  $\mathcal{A}_{(0)}$ . Finally, we comment on the appearance of an undetermined function in the Fefferman-Graham expansion and the interpretation of this in terms of a second UV completion of our IR theory.

#### 6.1 Conserved boundary currents

To construct conserved boundary currents from our gauge invariant stress-energy tensor (5.86) we start by contracting equation (5.92) with a vector  $K^a_{(0)}$ . The resulting equation can be written as

$$\nabla_{(0)b} \left( K^{a}_{(0)} \mathcal{T}^{b}_{(0)a} \right) = \mathcal{T}^{b}_{(0)a} \left( \tau_{(0)b} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} v^{a}_{(0)} - e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)b} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} e^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}} + \frac{1}{2} K^{a}_{(0)} \mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}} \tau_{(0)b} \right) - T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} B_{(0)\underline{i}} - T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} B_{(0)\underline{i}} - \langle O_{\phi} \rangle \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} \phi_{(0)} , \qquad (6.1)$$

where  $\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}$  denotes the Lie derivative along  $K^a_{(0)}$ . Let us next subtract the term  $-T^b_{(0)bc}K^a_{(0)}\mathcal{T}^c_{(0)a} = \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{T}^b_{(0)a}K^a_{(0)}\mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}}\tau_{(0)b}$  from both sides. We thus find the conserved current

$$e_{(0)}^{-1}\partial_b \left( e_{(0)} K^a_{(0)} \mathcal{T}^b_{(0)a} \right) = \nabla_{(0)b} \left( K^a_{(0)} \mathcal{T}^b_{(0)a} \right) - T^b_{(0)bc} K^a_{(0)} \mathcal{T}^c_{(0)a} = 0, \qquad (6.2)$$

if and only if

$$0 = \mathcal{T}^{b}_{(0)a} \left( \tau_{(0)b} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} v^{a}_{(0)} - e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)b} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} e^{a}_{(0)\underline{i}} + K^{a}_{(0)} \mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}} \tau_{(0)b} \right) - T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} B_{(0)\underline{t}} - T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} B_{(0)\underline{i}} - \langle O_{\phi} \rangle \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} \phi_{(0)} .$$
(6.3)

We will not impose any conditions on the vevs other than the Ward identities.

To find the necessary and sufficient conditions for the right hand side of (6.3) to vanish upon use of the Ward identities we proceed as follows. We use equation (5.93) to remove  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}\underline{i}}$ and the SO(2) Ward identity (5.94) is used to eliminate the antisymmetric part  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{[\underline{i}\underline{j}]}$ . This leaves us with an equation involving the following vevs:  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{(\underline{i}\underline{j})} + B_{(0)}^{(\underline{i}}\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{j}}, \mathcal{T}_{(0)\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}} + B_{(0)\underline{t}}\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}, \mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}, \mathcal{T}_{(0)\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}} + B_{(0)\underline{t}}\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}, \mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}, \mathcal{T}_{(0)\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}} + B_{(0)\underline{t}}\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}, \mathcal{T}_{(0)\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}} + B_{(0)\underline{t}}\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}$ . We have by now used up all the Ward identities except for (5.90) which we then use to remove  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}} + B_{(0)\underline{t}}\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}$ . We finally demand that each term in front of these remaining vevs vanishes by itself, in order for (6.3) to hold without imposing any constraints on the vevs other than the Ward identities. This gives the following set of conditions for the matter fields

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\phi_{(0)} = 0, \qquad (6.4)$$

$$v_{(0)}^{a}\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}B_{(0)a} = 0, \qquad (6.5)$$

$$\Pi^{a}_{(0)c} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} B_{(0)a} = -\Pi_{(0)ac} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} v^{a}_{(0)} + B_{(0)a} K^{a}_{(0)} \sigma_{(0)c}, \qquad (6.6)$$

resulting from the terms proportional to  $\langle O_{\phi} \rangle$ ,  $T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)}$  and  $T^{\underline{i}}_{(0)}$ , respectively, and

$$0 = \Pi^{b}_{(0)c} \left( \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} \tau_{(0)b} - \tau_{(0)a} K^{a}_{(0)} \sigma_{(0)b} \right) , \qquad (6.7)$$

$$0 = \mathcal{A}_{(0)} v^a_{(0)} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} \tau_{(0)a} \,, \tag{6.8}$$

$$0 = v_{(0)}^{a} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} \tau_{(0)a} - \frac{1}{2} \Pi_{(0)ab} \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}} \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} - K_{(0)}^{a} \sigma_{(0)a} , \qquad (6.9)$$

$$0 = \left(\Pi_{(0)ac}\Pi_{(0)bd} - \frac{1}{2}\Pi_{(0)ab}\Pi_{(0)cd}\right) \mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\Pi_{(0)}^{cd} - \left(\Pi_{(0)ab}\sigma_{(0)e} - \Pi_{(0)eb}\sigma_{(0)a} - \Pi_{(0)ea}\sigma_{(0)b}\right) K_{(0)}^{e}, \qquad (6.10)$$

for the boundary vielbeins where we recall that  $\sigma_{(0)a} = -\mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}}\tau_{(0)a}$ . Equation (6.8) comes from the term proportional to  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)\underline{t}}^{\underline{t}} + B_{(0)\underline{t}}T_{(0)}^{\underline{t}}$  and equation (6.7) from the term proportional to  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{\underline{i}\underline{t}}$ . The last two equations result from the trace part and the trace free part of the term proportional to  $\mathcal{T}_{(0)}^{(\underline{i}\underline{j})} + B_{(0)}^{(\underline{i}}T_{(0)}^{\underline{j}}$ . From equation (6.8) we see that if the anomaly density  $\mathcal{A}_{(0)}$ is non-vanishing we get an extra condition on the boundary vielbeins. The term  $\mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}}\tau_{(0)a}$ appearing at various places is related to the presence of torsion. Note that equation (6.6) also contains non-trivial information about the existence of a boundary conserved current from the point of view of the boundary vielbeins through the term  $\Pi_{(0)ac}\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}v_{(0)}^{a}$ .

Equation (6.7) implies that there is a function  $\lambda_{(0)}$  such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\tau_{(0)a} = \lambda_{(0)}\tau_{(0)a} + \tau_{(0)b}K^{b}_{(0)}\sigma_{(0)a}, \qquad (6.11)$$

which via equation (6.8) is constrained to satisfy

$$\mathcal{A}_{(0)}\lambda_{(0)} = 0. (6.12)$$

Continuing like this we find from (6.9) that we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\Pi^{ab}_{(0)} = -\left(\lambda_{(0)} + K^c_{(0)}\sigma_{(0)c}\right)\Pi^{ab}_{(0)} + v^a_{(0)}\chi^b_{(0)} + v^b_{(0)}\chi^a_{(0)}, \qquad (6.13)$$

for some vector  $\chi^a_{(0)}$ . It follows that (6.10) becomes

$$\left(\Pi_{(0)ab}\sigma_{(0)e} - \Pi_{(0)eb}\sigma_{(0)a} - \Pi_{(0)ea}\sigma_{(0)b}\right)K^{e}_{(0)} = 0, \qquad (6.14)$$

which implies upon contraction with  $K^a_{(0)}$ 

$$\Pi_{(0)ab} K^a_{(0)} K^b_{(0)} \sigma_{(0)c} = 0, \qquad (6.15)$$

so that we either must have

$$\sigma_{(0)a} = 0, \qquad \text{or} \qquad K^a_{(0)} = \kappa_{(0)} v^a_{(0)}, \qquad (6.16)$$

for some function  $\kappa_{(0)}$ .

To summarize, the conditions for the existence of a boundary conserved current split into two cases depending on whether  $\sigma_{(0)a} = 0$  or  $\sigma_{(0)a} \neq 0$ . When  $\sigma_{(0)a} \neq 0$  the conditions become

$$K_{(0)}^{a} = \kappa_{(0)} v_{(0)}^{a} , \qquad (6.17)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\phi_{(0)} = 0, \qquad (6.18)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}B_{(0)a} = B_{(0)c}K^c_{(0)}\sigma_{(0)a}, \qquad (6.19)$$

$$\partial_a \kappa_{(0)} = -\lambda_{(0)} \tau_{(0)a} \,, \tag{6.20}$$

$$0 = \mathcal{A}_{(0)}\lambda_{(0)}, \tag{6.21}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\Pi^{ab}_{(0)} = -\lambda_{(0)}\Pi^{ab}_{(0)} + v^a_{(0)}\chi^b_{(0)} + v^b_{(0)}\chi^a_{(0)}, \qquad (6.22)$$

where we used  $\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\tau_{(0)a} = -\partial_a\kappa_{(0)} - \kappa_{(0)}\sigma_{(0)a}$  for  $K^a_{(0)} = \kappa_{(0)}v^a_{(0)}$  in (6.11) and when  $\sigma_{(0)a} = 0$  the conditions become

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\phi_{(0)} = 0, \qquad (6.23)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}B_{(0)a} = -\Pi_{(0)ac}\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}v_{(0)}^c, \qquad (6.24)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\tau_{(0)a} = \lambda_{(0)}\tau_{(0)a}, \qquad (6.25)$$

$$0 = \mathcal{A}_{(0)}\lambda_{(0)}, \qquad (6.26)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}\Pi^{ab}_{(0)} = -\lambda_{(0)}\Pi^{ab}_{(0)} + v^a_{(0)}\chi^b_{(0)} + v^b_{(0)}\chi^a_{(0)}, \qquad (6.27)$$

where in both cases we also solved for  $\mathcal{L}_{K_{(0)}}B_{(0)a}$ . In general  $\sigma_{(0)a} = 0$  does not imply that the torsion is vanishing, but in the case of TTNC it does via equation (4.77).

When  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is hypersurface orthogonal which can happen for both  $\sigma_{(0)a} \neq 0$  and  $\sigma_{(0)a} = 0$  a natural definition of a conserved charge  $Q[K_{(0)}]$  is

$$Q[K_{(0)}] = \int_{\Sigma} d^2 x \sqrt{\gamma_{(0)}} K^b_{(0)} \mathcal{T}^a_{(0)b} \tau_{(0)a} , \qquad (6.28)$$

where  $\Sigma$  is the hypersurface to which  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is normal and with  $\sqrt{\gamma_{(0)}}$  the metric induced on this hypersurface. For example if we choose coordinates such that  $\tau_{(0)i} = 0$  we can write  $\tau_{(0)a} = \frac{e_{(0)}}{\sqrt{\gamma_{(0)}}} \partial_a t$  and  $\Sigma$  will be the surface t = cst.

It would be interesting to study further the possible choices for  $K^a_{(0)}$ , the algebra of the vectors  $K^a_{(0)}$  and charges  $Q[K_{(0)}]$  and how  $K^a_{(0)}$  and  $Q[K_{(0)}]$  transform under local boosts.

#### 6.2 Anisotropic Weyl anomaly

In this subsection we will express the 4-dimensional anomaly density  $\mathcal{A}_{(0)}$  in terms of the natural curvature objects of torsional Newton-Cartan. The 4-dimensional anomaly density is simply equal to the 5-dimensional anomaly density  $\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{(0)}$  and was computed in appendix C by dimensional reduction (see equation (C.18)). For simplicity we restrict ourselves to the case of TTNC in this subsection, i.e. we assume hypersurface orthogonality for  $\tau_{(0)a}$ . Our goal is thus to take (C.18) and rewrite it using the geometry worked out in section 4.6. It will prove convenient to use the projected Riemannian geometry on the hypersurfaces to which  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is orthogonal and their extrinsic curvature. The main challenge in rewriting (C.18) is to identify an appropriate total derivative term such that the remaining terms take a simple form that are furthermore invariant under the anisotropic conformal rescalings generated by  $\xi_{(0)}^r$ . Without giving any further details we find that for TTNC the anomaly can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{(0)} &= \frac{1}{4} k^4 e^{4\phi_{(0)}} I_{(0)}^2 + \frac{1}{8} k^2 e^{2\phi_{(0)}} K_{(0)ab}' K_{(0)cd}' \left( \Pi_{(0)}^{ac} \Pi_{(0)}^{bd} - \frac{1}{2} \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} \Pi_{(0)}^{cd} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{48} \left( \mathcal{R}_{(0)} - \mathcal{D}_{(0)a} \sigma_{(0)}^a - \frac{1}{2} \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} \partial_a \phi_{(0)} \partial_b \phi_{(0)} + 2k^2 e^{2\phi_{(0)}} I_{(0)} \right)^2 \\ &+ \frac{5}{16} k^2 e^{2\phi_{(0)}} \left( v_{(0)}^a \partial_a \phi_{(0)} + \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} B_{(0)a} \partial_b \phi_{(0)} \right)^2 \\ &- \frac{1}{2} k^2 e^{2\phi_{(0)}} I_{(0)} \left( \mathcal{D}_{(0)c} \left( \Pi_{(0)}^{cd} \partial_d \phi_{(0)} \right) + \Pi_{(0)}^{cd} \partial_c \phi_{(0)} \partial_d \phi_{(0)} \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{16} \left( \mathcal{D}_{(0)a} \left( \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} \partial_b \phi_{(0)} \right) \right)^2 + \frac{1}{64} \left( \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} \partial_a \phi_{(0)} \partial_b \phi_{(0)} \right)^2 + e_{(0)}^{-1} \partial_a \left( e_{(0)} J_{(0)}^a \right) , (6.29) \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\Pi_{(0)}^{ac}\Pi_{(0)}^{bd}K_{(0)ab}' = \Pi_{(0)}^{ac}\Pi_{(0)}^{bd}\left(K_{(0)ab} - \sigma_{(0)(a}\Pi_{(0)b)}^{c}B_{(0)c} + \mathcal{D}_{(0)(a}\left(\Pi_{(0)b)}^{c}B_{(0)c}\right)\right), (6.30)$$

$$I_{(0)} = v_{(0)}^{a} B_{(0)a} + \frac{1}{2} \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} B_{(0)a} B_{(0)b} .$$
(6.31)

Equation (6.31) for a constant axion is equal to  $\Pi_{(0)}^{ac}\Pi_{(0)}^{bd}\tilde{K}_{(0)ab}$  where  $\tilde{K}_{(0)ab}$  is the boost invariant extrinsic curvature given by

$$\tilde{K}_{(0)ab} = \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{L}_{v_{(0)}^c + \Pi_{(0)}^{cd} A_{(0)d}} \left( \Pi_{(0)ab} + \tau_{(0)a} A_{(0)b} + \tau_{(0)b} A_{(0)a} \right) .$$
(6.32)

The current  $J^a_{(0)}$  is<sup>15</sup>

$$J_{(0)}^{a} = \frac{1}{8}k^{2}e^{2\phi_{(0)}}I_{(0)}\left(\sigma_{(0)}^{a} + 2\Pi_{(0)}^{ab}\partial_{b}\phi_{(0)}\right) + \frac{1}{8}\Pi_{(0)}^{cd}\sigma_{(0)d}\Pi_{(0)c}^{e}\Pi_{(0)f}^{a}\nabla_{(0)e}\Pi_{(0)}^{bf}\sigma_{(0)b} \\ -\frac{1}{8}\Pi_{(0)}^{ad}\sigma_{(0)d}\Pi_{(0)b}^{c}\nabla_{(0)c}\Pi_{(0)}^{be}\sigma_{(0)e} - \frac{1}{8}\Pi_{(0)}^{ac}\Pi_{(0)}^{bd}\sigma_{(0)d}\partial_{b}\phi_{(0)}\partial_{c}\phi_{(0)} \\ +\frac{1}{16}\Pi_{(0)}^{ad}\Pi_{(0)}^{bc}\sigma_{(0)d}\partial_{b}\phi_{(0)}\partial_{c}\phi_{(0)} + \frac{1}{8}k^{2}e^{2\phi_{(0)}}K_{bc}^{\prime}\Pi_{(0)}^{bc}\left(v_{(0)}^{a} + \Pi_{(0)}^{ad}B_{(0)d}\right) \\ -\frac{1}{8}k^{2}e^{2\phi_{(0)}}\left(v_{(0)}^{a}\Pi_{(0)}^{bc} - v_{(0)}^{b}\Pi_{(0)}^{ac}\right)\left(2\partial_{b}\phi_{(0)}\Pi_{(0)c}^{e}B_{(0)e} + \nabla_{(0)c}B_{(0)b}\right) \\ +\frac{1}{8}k^{2}e^{2\phi_{(0)}}\Pi_{(0)e}^{d}\Pi_{(0)b}^{a}\nabla_{(0)d}\left(\Pi_{(0)}^{bc}B_{(0)c}\right)\Pi_{(0)}^{ef}B_{(0)f} + \frac{1}{8}k^{2}e^{2\phi_{(0)}}\Pi_{(0)}^{ac}\nabla_{(0)b}\left(v_{(0)}^{b}B_{(0)c}\right) \\ -\frac{1}{4}k^{2}e^{2\phi_{(0)}}\nabla_{(0)c}\left(\Pi_{(0)}^{ac}I_{(0)}\right).$$

$$(6.35)$$

We have written the result for  $e_{(0)}\mathcal{A}_{(0)} - \partial_a\left(e_{(0)}J^a_{(0)}\right)$  in a manifestly boost invariant manner. This requires some work as the reduction discussed in appendix C breaks manifest boost invariance. We did not bother to do the same for the current term because we expect that the term  $\partial_a\left(e_{(0)}J^a_{(0)}\right)$  can be removed by adding finite counterterms to the action just like in the context of the AdS/CFT correspondence [82].

As remarked at the beginning of this section the only assumption that we made was that  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is hypersurface orthogonal. This means that in the language of section 2.3 this result applies to the case of AlLif boundary conditions. If we take  $\phi_{(0)} = \log g_s$  equal to a constant and furthermore take  $D_{(0)a}\chi_{(0)} = 0$  we find

$$\mathcal{A}_{(0)} = \frac{1}{8} k^2 g_s^2 \left( K_{(0)}^{ab} K_{(0)ab} - \frac{1}{2} K_{(0)}^2 \right) + \frac{1}{48} \left( \mathcal{R}_{(0)} - \Pi^a_{(0)b} \nabla_{(0)a} \sigma^b_{(0)} \right)^2 + e_{(0)}^{-1} \partial_a \left( e_{(0)} J^a_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (6.36)$$

as the equivalent vielbein way of writing the result found in [60].

<sup>15</sup>In deriving the expressions for  $\mathcal{A}_{(0)}$  and  $J^a_{(0)}$  many identities from TTNC have been used that can all be derived using the formulas of sections 4.5 and 4.6 including, to mention a few,

$$\frac{1}{2}\Pi^{ac}_{(0)}D_{(0)a}\chi_{(0)}D_{(0)c}\chi_{(0)}\mathcal{R}_{(0)} = \Pi^{bc}_{(0)}\Pi^{a}_{(0)d}D_{(0)c}\chi_{(0)}[\nabla_{(0)a},\nabla_{(0)b}]\left(\Pi^{de}_{(0)}D_{(0)e}\chi_{(0)}\right), \qquad (6.33)$$

$$\Pi^{a}_{(0)b}\nabla_{(0)a}\sigma^{b}_{(0)} = e^{-1}_{(0)}\partial_{a}\left(e_{(0)}\sigma^{a}_{(0)}\right) + \sigma_{(0)a}\sigma^{a}_{(0)}.$$
(6.34)

The terms contained in  $e_{(0)}\mathcal{A}_{(0)} - \partial_a\left(e_{(0)}J^a_{(0)}\right)$  are all invariant under anisotropic conformal rescalings. This can be seen by noting that the combinations

$$\mathcal{R}_{(0)} - \Pi^a_{(0)b} \nabla_{(0)a} \sigma^b_{(0)} \,, \tag{6.37}$$

$$K'_{(0)ab}K'_{(0)cd}\left(\Pi^{ac}_{(0)}\Pi^{bd}_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2}\Pi^{ab}_{(0)}\Pi^{cd}_{(0)}\right), \qquad (6.38)$$

$$\Pi^{ab}_{(0)} \nabla_{(0)a} \left( \Pi^c_{(0)b} \partial_c \phi_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (6.39)$$

transform with weights 2, 4 and 2, respectively  $(e_{(0)}$  has weight -4) under anisotropic Weyl rescalings.

Interestingly, the part  $e_{(0)}\mathcal{A}_{(0)} - \partial_a\left(e_{(0)}J^a_{(0)}\right)$  takes the form of a Lagrangian. Let us entertain the possibility that we can read it as an actual Lagrangian. The boost invariant kinetic terms are

$$\Pi^{ac}_{(0)}\Pi^{bd}_{(0)}K'_{(0)cd}\,,\tag{6.40}$$

$$kv^{a}_{(0)}\partial_{a}\phi_{(0)} - \Pi^{bc}_{(0)}D_{(0)b}\chi_{(0)}\partial_{c}\phi_{(0)}, \qquad (6.41)$$

and appear in the action as second order in time derivatives. Note that these terms are proportional to  $k^2$  so that it is crucial to perform a Scherk-Schwarz reduction in order to obtain them. We read the term  $v_{(0)}^a B_{(0)a} + \frac{1}{2} \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} B_{(0)a} B_{(0)b}$  as a non-derivative term because  $\partial_a \chi_{(0)}$  has been eaten by  $A_{(0)a}$  via a Stückelberg mechanism. There thus appears a non-derivative term at order  $k^4$  in the action. This term is essentially  $\hat{h}_{(0)}^{uu}$  made gauge invariant, which is already there for AlLif boundary conditions. It has not appeared in the literature so far because of too restrictive parametrizations of the various ADM gauges that have been used. In all cases one simply took  $A_{(0)a} = 0$ . At order  $k^0$  the action contains fourth order derivative terms built out of curvatures and projected covariant derivatives. These are thus gradient potential terms.

This Lagrangian has striking similarities with Hořava-Lifshitz (HL) type Lagrangians [83, 84]. For example pushing this analogy we would call TTNC with furthermore  $\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a} = 0$  projectable Hořava-Lifshitz and TTNC with nonzero  $\partial_a \tau_{(0)b} - \partial_b \tau_{(0)a}$ non-projectable HL gravity. Furthermore, the object  $\sigma^a_{(0)}$  corresponds to the acceleration vector of the foliation defined by the hypersurface orthogonality of  $\tau_{(0)a}$ . The action (6.36) is precisely of the form of a 3-dimensional z = 2 conformal HL gravity with nonzero potential term [33]. However, in the most general case we notice one absolutely crucial difference. In HL gravity one assumes the existence of an underlying Lorentzian geometry. In other words the tangent space is described by Minkowski space-time. Here, on the other hand, this is not the case since we have a non-relativistic metric structure and the tangent space group contains Galilean boosts, which is the origin of the boundary gauge field  $A_{(0)a}$ . Ultimately the action is therefore, despite its functional form, not of a HL type. It is nevertheless an interesting question to ask what kind of dynamics is described by an action of a HL type defined on a TTNC geometry.

Going back to  $\mathcal{A}_{(0)}$  being an anomaly density, based on anisotropic conformal symmetry arguments, one expects in general two different types of central charges for Lifshitz field

theories [33, 34]. One is proportional to the coefficient in front of the extrinsic curvature term and one to the coefficient in front of the spatial curvature term. In the notation of [34] these are denoted by  $C_1$  and  $C_2$ , respectively (see [60] for their appropriately normalized values). For other examples of Lifshitz anisotropic Weyl anomalies see [34, 85, 86]. When  $I_{(0)} \neq 0$  there is one more term in the anomaly density. This is the term at order  $k^4$ . It would be interesting to understand better the role of this non-derivative term.

## 6.3 Irrelevant deformations and a second UV completion

In section 5.4 we wrote the 4-dimensional vevs in terms of the 5-dimensional ones. If we try to do this the other way around we find for  $\hat{t}_{ab}$ 

$$\hat{t}_{ab} = \left( v_{(0)}^{c} v_{(0)}^{d} \hat{t}_{cd} \right) \tau_{(0)a} \tau_{(0)b} - \left( S_{\overline{(0)}}^{\underline{it}} + A_{\overline{(0)}}^{\underline{i}} S_{\overline{(0)}}^{\underline{tt}} \right) \left( e_{(0)\underline{i}a} \tau_{(0)b} + e_{(0)\underline{i}b} \tau_{(0)a} \right) \\
+ \left( S_{\overline{(0)}}^{\underline{ij}} + A_{\overline{(0)}}^{\underline{i}} S_{\overline{(0)}}^{\underline{tj}} \right) e_{(0)\underline{i}a} e_{(0)\underline{j}b} .$$
(6.42)

Due to equation (5.64) the right hand side of  $\hat{t}_{ab}$  is symmetric in a and b. Because of the appearance of the function  $v_{(0)}^c v_{(0)}^d \hat{t}_{cd}$  it follows that  $\hat{t}_{ab}$  is not fully determined by the 4-dimensional vevs. It can be shown that when reducing the 5-dimensional Ward identities (A.28)–(A.29) the term  $v_{(0)}^c v_{(0)}^d \hat{t}_{cd}$  drops out and is after reduction not in any sense coupled to any one of the sources and vevs. This is consistent with the fact that it does not appear in the variation of the on-shell action (5.35). Nevertheless, it appears in the 4-dimensional Fefferman-Graham expansion that we give in appendix D, where it shows up in the expansion of the metric at order  $r^2$ . The Fefferman-Graham expansion thus contains 6+6 sources and vevs and the free function  $v_{(0)}^c v_{(0)}^d \hat{t}_{cd}$ .

We have noted before that the same theory also admits another branch of solutions that are briefly discussed in appendix E. These solutions are asymptotic to a hyperscaling violating geometry with  $\theta = -1$  and z = 1. The UV expansions (E.7)–(E.21) are controlled by 7+7 sources and vevs (we omitted the expansions for the axion-dilaton field). This is the same number as in the 5-dimensional theory without the constraint that  $\hat{h}_{(0)uu} = 0$ . Hence, in this case all components of the 5-dimensional boundary stress-energy tensor after reduction of  $\hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  have a dual source.

We also noted that the solution (E.22)–(E.24) asymptotes to a z = 2 Lifshitz spacetime in the IR. This means that when studying linearized perturbations around the z = 2Lifshitz space-time we expect to see one mode going like  $\epsilon r^{-2}$  where  $\epsilon$  controls the linearized perturbation. Going to higher orders in  $\epsilon$  means that we are going to see a series in  $\epsilon r^{-2}$ and in order for this to remain small r runs large. In other words this corresponds to a mode that is sourcing an irrelevant operator. Indeed if we expand (E.24) around  $r = \infty$  we notice a perturbation going like  $r^{-2}$ . Hence the spectrum of linearized perturbations around the z = 2 Lifshitz space-time of our 4-dimensional model contains (after removing gauge redundancy) 7+7 parameters with one of them corresponding to an irrelevant perturbation. If we switch off this mode (our constraint  $\hat{h}_{(0)uu} = 0$ ) and turn on the remaining relevant perturbations we flow to the UV that we referred to as the Lif UV. If we turn on this irrelevant perturbation (the case  $\hat{h}_{(0)uu} > 0$ ) and then additionally turn on the relevant perturbations we flow towards the other UV that is asymptotic to a hyperscaling violating geometry with  $\theta = -1$  and z = 1. The presence of the extra free function in the expansion of the Lif UV theory thus signals that there is an irrelevant operator whose source has been turned off.<sup>16</sup>

A similar phenomenon has been observed in the context of  $\theta = 1$  and z = 3 hyperscaling violating geometries that can be uplifted to 5-dimensional z = -1 Schrödinger space-times. These are asymptotically AdS solutions of AdS gravity without any matter added. This reduces to an Einstein-Maxwell-dilaton theory in 4-dimensions. There is a similar issue there in that the solutions depend on whether the reduction is along a circle that becomes asymptotically null or one that is asymptotically spacelike leading to two different UV completions from a 4-dimensional point of view [87, 88]. It would in fact be interesting to work out the details of the computation of the sources and vevs in that case.

The fact that for our Lifshitz UV completion we count in total 6+6+1 free functions is in strong contrast with what one has observed for the massive vector model (2 scalar fields less than our model). In that model for z = 2 we have 5+5 free functions in the expansion. The way we came to this answer is as follows. Using the equations for the linearized perturbation analysis<sup>17</sup> of [89] (setting the parameters a and b defined in [89] equal to zero and truncating the scalar field) we observe by looking at purely radial perturbations around Lifshitz that there are 4 integration constants in the tensor modes, 8 in the vector modes and 4 in the scalar modes (in the radial gauge of [89] one actually encounters 5 parameters but one can be removed by a rescaling of the radial coordinate). One can remove 6 parameters using diffeomorphisms (3 off-shell and another 3 on-shell) leading to 10 parameters. One of these constants corresponds to a marginal deformation. It turns out that this deformation is marginally relevant [35-38] and hence we do not set it to zero (see also the discussion at the end of section 2.4). Our point of view is that in order to get the full Lifshitz UV completion one should allow for all deformations around Lifshitz that are not irrelevant. The main difference between the massive vector model and our model is that in our case there is an irrelevant deformation of the Lifshitz geometry that is absent in the massive vector model.

# 7 Discussion and outlook

We conclude by summarizing some of the main points and lessons.

The z = 2 model and a second UV completion. We have discussed holographic properties of a specific model admitting z = 2 Lifshitz solutions that can be obtained by dimensional reduction from AdS. This circumvents having to work out a Fefferman-Graham expansion for the massive vector model which is currently still lacking beyond results obtained using linearized perturbation theory. The limitation of our approach is that it works only for z = 2. However, it should be stressed that this is a special value, which must be treated separately anyway. From what we know about the z = 2 case in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>We thank Elias Kiritsis for useful discussions on this point.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Linearized perturbations of z = 2 Lifshitz solutions of the massive vector model have also been studied in [29, 31, 35–37].

massive vector model we see from our analysis that having additional scalars in the theory can markedly change many qualitative features such as the UV structure of the theory. In our case, starting at an IR Lifshitz fixed point there are two possible UV completions depending on whether or not we turn on a certain irrelevant operator. From the higherdimensional perspective this corresponds to performing a reduction with a null or spacelike circle on the AdS boundary. In the bulk the circle is always spacelike. In the case where the boundary circle is null, we get a Lifshitz UV with no hyperscaling violation and z = 2 and in the case where the circle on the AlAdS<sub>5</sub> boundary is spacelike we get the  $\theta = -1$  and z = 1 UV completion of appendix E. This should be contrasted with the massive vector model for z = 2 where there is just one UV completion which allows for a marginally relevant deformation. In this paper we focussed our attention on the holographic setup for the case of the Lifshitz UV completion. In general whenever one studies Kaluza-Klein holography [65] there are typically assumptions concerning the leading components of the KK dilaton. Interesting additional branches of solutions may occur when different choices are made for the fall-off of the KK dilaton.

Vielbeins, sources and torsional Newton-Cartan. In order to identify the sources and in order for these sources to be the leading component of some field it proved very convenient to use a vielbein decomposition of the metric and vector field in the model. By the vector we mean here the field that transforms under gauge transformations and thus not the massive vector that has eaten the axion. Since the vector and the timelike vielbein are proportional to each other at leading order it was useful to consider specific linear combinations of these two quantities, such that for the new field variables the leading terms are independent sources. This allowed us to identify the boundary gauge field  $A_{(0)a}$ . The boundary geometry is thus described by the sources appearing in the vielbeins and the bulk gauge field. This geometry turns out to be torsional Newton-Cartan (TNC) with a specific torsion tensor that is zero if and only if  $\tau_{(0)a} dx^a$ , the leading component of the timelike vielbein, is closed in which case the boundary geometry is ordinary Newton-Cartan. To the best of our knowledge this geometric structure has not been studied before. An important special case is where  $\tau_{(0)a} dx^a$  is hypersurface orthogonal but not exact. In this case we call the boundary geometry TTNC for temporal or twistless torsional Newton-Cartan. An added bonus of using vielbeins is that one does not need to resort to a specific gauge choice on top of radial gauge such as the ADM gauge that is often used in the Lifshitz literature. Such a gauge choice can of course always be made but one must be careful not to miss any sources such as the boundary gauge field  $A_{(0)a}$  and not to make too strong assumptions such as imposing hypersurface orthogonality of  $\tau_{(0)a}$  before starting to solve the equations of motion if one's goal is to find the most general solution. We expect that when studying other holographic models for Lifshitz invariant field theories with some z > 1 the boundary geometry will always be described by TNC. This is because for any z > 1 the local tangent space group induced from the bulk onto the boundary will be the contracted Lorentz group and subsequently there will be a degenerate metric structure. It is then natural to choose the same connections as here.

**Boundary gauge field.** The boundary gauge field  $A_{(0)a}$  transforms under boosts such that only the combination  $2v^a_{(0)}A_{(0)a} + \prod^{ab}_{(0)}A_{(0)a}A_{(0)b}$  is boost invariant. Further it transforms under gauge transformations but not in such a way that one can gauge this boost invariant combination away. Associated with the gauge symmetry we have the Ward identity  $\partial_a \left( e_{(0)} T^a_{(0)} \right) = e_{(0)} k \langle O_{\chi} \rangle$ , where  $T^a_{(0)}$  is a boost and gauge invariant current whose (non-) conservation is controlled by the vev of the axion. Associated with the boost symmetry we have the Ward identity (5.93). The boundary gauge field differs from what one usually encounters in AdS/CFT (or from what we would find for the other  $\theta = -1$  and z = 1 UV completion) because it transforms under boosts whereas this would not happen for z = 1. It would therefore be interesting to get a better understanding of the nature of the currents in the boundary theory that  $A_{(0)a}$  is sourcing. It could for example be informative to add a second Maxwell term to the bulk Lagrangian and to study the sources for this additional gauge field and contrast it with our  $A_{(0)a}$ . We expect this second gauge field to behave qualitatively different from  $A_{(0)a}$  as only one boundary gauge field will be part of the boundary TNC geometry. In more general 4-dimensional models supporting Lifshitz geometries than the one studied here it is known that one always needs one Maxwell term to support the Lifshitz geometry. Here we see from a boundary perspective why this is so. The bulk Maxwell field together with the bulk vielbeins are both needed to describe the boundary TNC geometry. This gives a rationale for why one usually separates out one Maxwell field from the others in solutions of charged Lifshitz black holes as in [43, 46].

**Properties of the boundary stress-energy tensor.** One of the central results of this paper is derivation of the boundary stress-energy tensor and its corresponding Ward identities, including their covariant form in terms of the non-relativistic boundary geometry that we uncovered. We also note that we have computed the scaling dimensions of the vevs (see table 2) demonstrating that these correspond to relevant and marginal operators. From these one can compute the scaling dimensions of the energy density, momentum density, energy flux and stress all of which are composite operators in terms of the vevs and sources. In particular, this showed that even though the energy flux has dimension 5, and thus appears to be an irrelevant deformation, this is not a problem since it is a product of a dimension 2 source with a dimension 3 vev.

**Conserved boundary currents and anomaly.** The Ward identities for the boundary stress-energy tensor, namely the diffeomorphism Ward identity and the z = 2 trace Ward identity due to anisotropic Weyl symmetries are not generally of the form of a divergence of some current. We have studied the existence of boundary conserved currents in section 6.1 by postulating the existence of some kind of TNC analogue of a (conformal) 'Killing vector'. It would be interesting to study further the conditions for the existence of such conserved currents and the associated conserved charges. In particular this might be useful for a general study of Lifshitz thermodynamics in terms of the boundary charges. The z = 2 trace Ward identity contains an anomaly related to the z = 2 anisotropic Weyl anomaly. We observe that even though it takes the form of a Hořava-Lifshitz action this analogy is not perfect because the underlying geometry is TNC and not Lorentzian. Furthermore the

anomaly contains zeroth order derivative terms involving the boundary gauge field which have not been observed before. These terms become second order in derivatives if we set  $A_{(0)a} = 0$  in which case they can be seen as axion kinetic terms. When  $A_{(0)a} \neq 0$  it is more natural to read them as zeroth order in derivatives for the massive vector  $B_{(0)a} = A_{(0)a} - \frac{1}{k}\partial_a\chi_{(0)}$ . It would be interesting to understand their origin better, e.g. by using the techniques of [34].

**Constraint on the sources.** Another noteworthy aspect is that in the reduction from five to four dimensions a constraint on the sources appeared, but that we could deal with this constraint explicitly since it is paired with a leading order symmetry. By this we mean that this additional symmetry, which corresponds to local dilatations, is only there at leading order in the FG expansion. By appropriately redefining the boundary vielbeins (involving rescaling with a power of  $e^{\Phi(0)}$ ) we were then able to use the Ward identity corresponding to this additional symmetry to remove the constrained source from the variation of the on-shell action, leaving a variation with respect to unconstrained sources.

**Radial gauge.** We also note that, motivated by the dimensional reduction, our analysis naturally involves a non-radial gauge in which the holographic expansion seemingly takes its simplest form. It is possible, in principle, to go to radial gauge, but the results could be much more difficult to obtain. One may thus wonder whether going to an appropriate nonradial gauge may be likewise preferred in other models. In general a recipe for obtaining a FG expansion in radial gauge could be the following. Consider purely radial linearized perturbations in radial gauge and distill from this an asymptotic expansion by looking at the r-dependence of the higher order  $\epsilon$  terms where  $\epsilon$  is the perturbation parameter describing the Lifshitz perturbations. With this information one can trade the  $\epsilon$  expansion for a radial asymptotic expansion. Ignoring marginally relevant/irrelevant perturbations this works provided we turn off the sources for the irrelevant deformations so that higher order in  $\epsilon$  correlates with more subleading terms in the radial expansion. The next step would be to turn the coefficients into functions of the boundary coordinates. For this to work the corresponding sources must remain relevant after doing so. In section 2.4 and appendix B we have studied the question of constructing a radial gauge expansion by a coordinate transformation from our non-radial gauge. We have investigated this problem by looking at pure gauge perturbations around the non-radial gauge solution to second order in  $\epsilon$ . It was observed that one cannot trade the  $\epsilon$  expansion for a radial one precisely because of the boundary dependence of the sources. This may suggest that radial gauge is not always the preferred choice to study asymptotic expansions for Lifshitz holography.

**Open directions.** We conclude by mentioning a number of interesting open directions. First of all, it would be interesting to study the probes in the Lifshitz space-time that we have briefly considered in section 2.2 and the associated two-point functions. Using the relation between AdS and Lifshitz probes one may get another perspective on the interesting results of [53]. An interesting generalization of our setup, which we leave for future work, will be to add charge to the five-dimensional theory and to compute the effects in the reduced theory. We also note that further insights into the holographic model we studied are likely to be gained by studying the reduction at the weak coupling side, i.e. by reducing the boundary D3-brane world-volume theory with an axion coupling. We expect this to be described by a non-relativistic deformation of the D2-brane world-volume theory. Another point worth pursuing, motivated by the analysis of the anomaly in our model, is the connection of our results to Hořava-Lifshitz gravity. In particular, one may wonder what the dynamics is of a Hořava-Lifshitz type action, defined on a TTNC geometry. Finally, we remark that it would be very interesting to use our results in the context of Lifshitz black holes and Lifshitz hydrodynamics. In particular, it would be interesting to obtain a fluid/gravity type derivation of Lifshitz hydrodynamics [90, 91] which has potential applications to holographic realizations of Son's model for the effective theory of the fractional quantum Hall effect that relies on Newton-Cartan geometry [80].

#### Acknowledgments

We thank Marco Baggio, Matthias Blau, Jan de Boer, Wissam Chemissany, Kristian Holsheimer, Elias Kiritsis, Ioannis Papadimitriou, Simon Ross, Marika Taylor and Lárus Thorlacius for useful discussions. Some of the calculations have been performed using Cadabra [92, 93]. The work of JH and NO is supported in part by the Danish National Research Foundation project "Black holes and their role in quantum gravity". BR acknowledges support from the Swiss National Science Foundation through the fellowship PBBEP2\_144805. JH also thanks the Isaac Newton Institute, Cambridge, for financial support and hospitality during the later stages of this work.

#### A Holographic renormalization of the 5-dimensional theory

In this appendix we summarize the relevant results in the 5-dimensional model of AdS gravity coupled to an axion-dilaton system and review the holographic renormalization carried out in [62]. However, instead of using the Hamiltonian formalism of [62], we will work within a Lagrangian framework. We will give the solutions of the equations of motion up to NNLO and discuss the local and anomaly counterterms as well as the one-point functions for asymptotically locally AdS (AlAdS) boundary conditions [94, 95].

#### A.1 Fefferman-Graham expansions and counterterms

The solution to equations (2.2)-(2.4) expressed as an asymptotic series in radial gauge, i.e. as a Fefferman-Graham (FG) expansion [96, 97], reads<sup>18</sup>

$$\hat{g}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}}dx^{\hat{\mu}}dx^{\hat{\nu}} = \frac{dr^2}{r^2} + \hat{h}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}dx^{\hat{a}}dx^{\hat{b}}, \qquad (A.1)$$

$$\hat{h}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \frac{1}{r^2} \left[ \hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}} + r^2 \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{b}} + r^4 \log r \hat{h}_{(4,1)\hat{a}\hat{b}} + r^4 \hat{h}_{(4)\hat{a}\hat{b}} + O(r^6 \log r) \right], \quad (A.2)$$

$$\hat{\phi} = \hat{\phi}_{(0)} + r^2 \hat{\phi}_{(2)} + r^4 \log r \hat{\phi}_{(4,1)} + r^4 \hat{\phi}_{(4)} + O(r^6 \log r), \qquad (A.3)$$

$$\hat{\chi} = \hat{\chi}_{(0)} + r^2 \hat{\chi}_{(2)} + r^4 \log r \hat{\chi}_{(4,1)} + r^4 \hat{\chi}_{(4)} + O(r^6 \log r), \qquad (A.4)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>We will denote here and further below by  $a_{(n,m)}$  the coefficient at order  $r^n(\log r)^m$  of the field  $r^{\Delta}a$  where  $r^{-\Delta}$  is the leading term in the expansion of a with the exception of the  $a_{(n,0)}$  term which we will simply denote as  $a_{(n)}$ .

where the coefficients are given by

$$\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{b}} = -\frac{1}{2} \left( \hat{R}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} \right) 
+ \frac{1}{12} \hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}} \left( \hat{R}_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} (\partial \hat{\phi}_{(0)})^2 - \frac{1}{2} e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} (\partial \hat{\chi}_{(0)})^2 \right),$$
(A.5)

$$\hat{\phi}_{(2)} = \frac{1}{4} \left( \hat{\Box}_{(0)} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} - e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \left( \partial \hat{\chi}_{(0)} \right)^2 \right) \,, \tag{A.6}$$

$$\hat{\chi}_{(2)} = \frac{1}{4} \left( \hat{\Box}_{(0)} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} + 2\partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} \partial^{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (A.7)$$

at second order and by

$$\hat{h}_{(4,1)\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{c}}\hat{h}^{\hat{c}}_{(2)\hat{b}} + \frac{1}{4}\hat{\nabla}^{\hat{c}}_{(0)}\left(\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}}\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{b}\hat{c}} + \hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{b}}\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{c}} - \hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{c}}\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{b}}\right) - \frac{1}{4}\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}}\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{b}}\hat{h}^{\hat{c}}_{(2)\hat{c}} \\
- \frac{1}{2}\partial_{(\hat{a}}\hat{\phi}_{(0)}\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{b})}\hat{\phi}_{(2)} - \frac{1}{2}e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}}\partial_{(\hat{a}}\hat{\chi}_{(0)}\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{b})}\hat{\chi}_{(2)} - \frac{1}{2}e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}}\hat{\phi}_{(2)}\partial_{\hat{a}}\hat{\chi}_{(0)}\partial_{\hat{b}}\hat{\chi}_{(0)} \\
- \hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}\left(\frac{1}{4}\hat{h}^{\hat{c}\hat{d}}_{(2)}\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{c}\hat{d}} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{\phi}^{2}_{(2)} + \frac{1}{2}e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}}\hat{\chi}^{2}_{(2)}\right),$$
(A.8)

$$\hat{\phi}_{(4,1)} = -\frac{1}{4} \left[ \hat{\Box}_{(0)} \hat{\phi}_{(2)} + 2\hat{\phi}_{(2)} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}}^{\hat{a}} - 4e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \hat{\chi}_{(2)}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \partial^{\hat{a}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} \hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{b}}^{\hat{b}} - \hat{h}_{(2)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}} \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} - \partial^{\hat{a}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} \hat{\nabla}_{(0)}^{\hat{b}} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{b}} + e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} \left( \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} \hat{h}_{(2)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} - 2\hat{\phi}_{(2)} \partial^{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} - 2\hat{\nabla}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi}_{(2)} \right) \right].$$

$$\hat{\chi}_{(4,1)} = -\frac{1}{4} \left[ 8\hat{\chi}_{(2)}\hat{\phi}_{(2)} + 2\hat{\chi}_{(2)}\hat{h}^{\hat{a}}_{(2)\hat{a}} + \hat{\Box}_{(0)}\hat{\chi}_{(2)} - \hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}_{(2)}\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}}\partial_{\hat{b}}\hat{\chi}_{(0)} + 2\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}}\hat{\chi}_{(2)}\partial^{\hat{a}}\hat{\phi}_{(0)} \right. \\ \left. + \partial^{\hat{a}}\hat{\chi}_{(0)} \left( \frac{1}{2}\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}}\hat{h}^{\hat{b}}_{(2)\hat{b}} - \hat{\nabla}^{\hat{b}}_{(0)}\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{b}} - 2\partial^{\hat{b}}\hat{\phi}_{(0)}\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{b}} + 2\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}}\hat{\phi}_{(2)} \right) \right], \quad (A.10)$$

at order  $r^4 \log r$ . We note that the quantity  $\hat{h}_{(4,1)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  is traceless. Indices of the expansion coefficients are raised and lowered with the AdS boundary metric  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$ . At order  $r^4$  we have that  $\hat{h}_{(4)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  is constrained by

$$\begin{split} \hat{h}^{\hat{a}}_{(4)\hat{a}} &= \frac{1}{4} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{b}} \hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}_{(2)} - \frac{1}{2} \hat{\phi}^{2}_{(2)} - \frac{1}{2} e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \hat{\chi}^{2}_{(2)} , \qquad (A.11) \\ \hat{\nabla}^{\hat{b}}_{(0)} \hat{h}_{(4)\hat{a}\hat{b}} &= -e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \hat{\chi}^{2}_{(2)} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} + \hat{\phi}_{(4)} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} + e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \hat{\chi}_{(4)} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} + e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \hat{\phi}_{(2)} \hat{\chi}_{(2)} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \hat{\phi}_{(2)} \hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}} \hat{\phi}_{(2)} - \frac{1}{2} e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \hat{\chi}_{(2)} \hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}} \hat{\chi}_{(2)} - \frac{1}{4} \hat{h}^{\hat{b}\hat{c}}_{(2)} \hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{b}\hat{c}} \\ &- \frac{1}{4} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{c}} \hat{\nabla}^{\hat{c}}_{(0)} \hat{h}^{\hat{b}}_{(2)\hat{b}} + \frac{1}{2} \hat{h}^{\hat{b}\hat{c}}_{(2)} \hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{b}} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{c}} + \frac{1}{2} \hat{h}^{\hat{c}}_{(2)\hat{a}} \hat{\nabla}^{\hat{b}}_{(0)} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{b}\hat{c}} . \qquad (A.12) \end{split}$$

Following [94] we write the coefficient  $\hat{h}_{(4)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  as

$$\hat{h}_{(4)\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \hat{X}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}, \qquad (A.13)$$

where  $\hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  is the boundary energy-momentum tensor defined in (A.23). The trace and divergence of  $\hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  will be given below together with the explicit form of  $\hat{X}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$ . In the expansion

for the scalars we have that  $\hat{\phi}_{(4)}$  and  $\hat{\chi}_{(4)}$  are fully arbitrary functions of the boundary coordinates.

A counterterm action that cancels all divergences of the on-shell action  $S_{\text{bulk}} + S_{\text{GH}}$  is given by [60, 62]

$$S_{\rm ct} = \frac{1}{\kappa_5^2} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} d^4 x \sqrt{-\hat{h}} \left( -3 - \frac{1}{4} \hat{Q} + \hat{\mathcal{A}} \left( \lambda + \log r \right) \right) \,, \tag{A.14}$$

where  $\lambda$  is some scheme dependent parameter (minimal subtraction corresponds to  $\lambda = 0$ ) and where

$$\hat{Q} = \hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}\hat{Q}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}, \qquad \hat{Q}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \hat{R}_{(\hat{h})\hat{a}\hat{b}} - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\hat{a}}\hat{\phi}\partial_{\hat{b}}\hat{\phi} - \frac{1}{2}e^{2\hat{\phi}}\partial_{\hat{a}}\hat{\chi}\partial_{\hat{b}}\hat{\chi}, \qquad (A.15)$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}} = \frac{1}{8} \left( \hat{Q}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \hat{Q}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} - \frac{1}{3} \hat{Q}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left( \hat{\Box}_{(\hat{h})} \hat{\phi} - e^{2\hat{\phi}} (\partial\hat{\chi})^2 \right)^2 + \frac{1}{2} e^{2\hat{\phi}} \left( \hat{\Box}_{(\hat{h})} \hat{\chi} + 2\partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\phi} \partial^{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi} \right)^2 \right) . \quad (A.16)$$

#### A.2 One-point functions

To compute one-point functions, we write the total variation of  $S_{\rm ren} = S_{\rm bulk} + S_{\rm GH} + S_{\rm ct}$  as

$$\delta S_{\rm ren} = \frac{1}{2\kappa_5^2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^5 x \sqrt{-\hat{g}} \left( \hat{\mathcal{E}}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} \delta \hat{g}^{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} + \hat{\mathcal{E}}_{\hat{\phi}} \delta \hat{\phi} + \hat{\mathcal{E}}_{\hat{\chi}} \delta \hat{\chi} \right) - \frac{1}{2\kappa_5^2} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} d^4 x \sqrt{-\hat{h}} \left( \hat{T}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \delta \hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} + 2\hat{T}_{\hat{\phi}} \delta \hat{\phi} + 2\hat{T}_{\hat{\chi}} \delta \hat{\chi} \right) , \qquad (A.17)$$

where  $\hat{\mathcal{E}}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}}, \hat{\mathcal{E}}_{\hat{\phi}}, \hat{\mathcal{E}}_{\hat{\chi}}$  are the equations of motion (2.2) to (2.4) and where

$$\hat{T}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = (\hat{K} - 3)\hat{h}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} - \hat{K}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} + \frac{1}{2}\hat{Q}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{h}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}\hat{Q} + (\lambda + \log r)\hat{T}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}^{(\hat{A})}, \qquad (A.18)$$

$$\hat{T}_{\hat{\phi}} = \frac{1}{2} \hat{n}^{\hat{\mu}} \partial_{\hat{\mu}} \hat{\phi} + \frac{1}{4} \left( \hat{\Box}_{(\hat{h})} \hat{\phi} - e^{2\hat{\phi}} (\partial \hat{\chi})^2 \right) + (\lambda + \log r) \hat{T}_{\hat{\phi}}^{(\hat{A})}, \qquad (A.19)$$

$$\hat{T}_{\hat{\chi}} = \frac{1}{2} e^{2\hat{\phi}} \hat{n}^{\hat{\mu}} \partial_{\hat{\mu}} \hat{\chi} + \frac{1}{4} e^{2\hat{\phi}} \left( \hat{\Box}_{(\hat{h})} \hat{\chi} + 2\partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi} \partial^{\hat{a}} \hat{\phi} \right) + (\lambda + \log r) \hat{T}_{\hat{\chi}}^{(\hat{A})} \,. \tag{A.20}$$

Here we defined

$$\hat{T}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}^{(A)} = -\frac{2\kappa_5^2}{\sqrt{-\hat{h}}} \frac{\delta\hat{A}}{\delta\hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}}, \qquad \hat{T}_{\hat{\phi}}^{(\hat{A})} = -\frac{\kappa_5^2}{\sqrt{-\hat{h}}} \frac{\delta\hat{A}}{\delta\hat{\phi}}, \qquad \hat{T}_{\hat{\chi}}^{(\hat{A})} = -\frac{\kappa_5^2}{\sqrt{-\hat{h}}} \frac{\delta\hat{A}}{\delta\hat{\chi}}, \qquad (A.21)$$

with

$$\hat{A} = \frac{1}{\kappa_5^2} \int_{\partial \mathcal{M}} d^4 x \sqrt{-\hat{h}} \hat{\mathcal{A}} \,. \tag{A.22}$$

From the expansions it follows that  $\sqrt{-\hat{h}} = r^{-4}\sqrt{-\hat{h}_{(0)}} + O(r^{-2})$ ,  $\delta \hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = r^2\delta \hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}_{(0)} + O(r^4)$ ,  $\delta \hat{\phi} = \delta \hat{\phi}_{(0)} + O(r^2)$  and  $\delta \hat{\chi} = \delta \hat{\chi}_{(0)} + O(r^2)$ , which is used to obtain the following

one-point functions (we take the cut-off boundary at  $r = \epsilon$ )

$$\langle \hat{T}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}} \rangle = -\frac{2\kappa_5^2}{\sqrt{-\hat{h}_{(0)}}} \frac{\delta S_{\rm ren}^{\rm on-shell}}{\delta \hat{h}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-2} \hat{T}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = 2\hat{h}_{(4)\hat{a}\hat{b}} - 2\hat{X}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \,, \tag{A.23}$$

$$\begin{split} \langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\hat{\phi}} \rangle &= -\frac{\kappa_5^2}{\sqrt{-\hat{h}_{(0)}}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{\text{on-shell}}}{\delta \hat{\phi}_{(0)}} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-4} \hat{T}_{\hat{\phi}} = \\ &-2 \hat{\phi}_{(4)} - \frac{1}{2} \hat{\phi}_{(2)} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}}^{\hat{a}} + e^{2 \hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \hat{\chi}_{(2)}^2 - \frac{1}{2} \left(3 - 4\lambda\right) \hat{\phi}_{(4,1)} \,, \end{split}$$
(A.24)

$$\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\hat{\chi}} \rangle = -\frac{\kappa_5^2}{\sqrt{-\hat{h}_{(0)}}} \frac{\delta S_{\text{ren}}^{\text{on-shell}}}{\delta \hat{\chi}_{(0)}} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-4} \hat{T}_{\hat{\chi}} = -2e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \hat{\chi}_{(4)} - \frac{1}{2} e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \left( \hat{\chi}_{(2)} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}}^{\hat{a}} + 4\hat{\chi}_{(2)} \hat{\phi}_{(2)} + (3 - 4\lambda)\hat{\chi}_{(4,1)} \right) ,$$
 (A.25)

where

$$\hat{X}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \frac{1}{2}\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{c}}\hat{h}^{\hat{c}}_{(2)\hat{b}} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{h}^{\hat{c}}_{(2)\hat{c}}\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{b}} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{(0)} - \frac{1}{4}\left(3 - 4\lambda\right)\hat{h}_{(4,1)\hat{a}\hat{b}}, \qquad (A.26)$$

with

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{(0)} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \epsilon^{-4} \hat{\mathcal{A}} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \hat{h}_{(2)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}\hat{b}} - (\hat{h}_{(2)\hat{a}}^{\hat{a}})^2 \right) + \hat{\phi}_{(2)}^2 + e^{2\hat{\phi}_{(0)}} \hat{\chi}_{(2)}^2.$$
(A.27)

All the contributions to the one-point functions from the  $r^4 \log r$  terms in the FG expansions can be removed by choosing  $\lambda = \frac{3}{4}$ . The boundary energy-momentum tensor is identified with  $\hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  in (A.13). Using equations (A.11) and (A.12) we can compute for any choice of  $\lambda$  its trace and divergence

$$\hat{t}^{\hat{a}}_{\ \hat{a}} = \hat{\mathcal{A}}_{(0)},$$
 (A.28)

$$\hat{\nabla}_{(0)\hat{a}}\hat{t}^{\hat{a}}{}_{\hat{b}} = -\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\hat{\phi}} \rangle \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} - \langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\hat{\chi}} \rangle \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} \,. \tag{A.29}$$

We thus have  $\hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  (10 components) plus  $\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\hat{\phi}} \rangle$  and  $\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\hat{\chi}} \rangle$  vevs minus the 5 constraints (A.28) and (A.29) leading to 7 independent vevs. These correspond to 7 independent sources coming from  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$ ,  $\hat{\phi}_{(0)}$  and  $\hat{\chi}_{(0)}$  (12 in total) minus the freedom to perform coordinate transformations that preserve the FG gauge removing 5 components (1 because of local Weyl rescalings and 4 coming from diffeomorphisms acting on  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$ ).

## A.3 Boundary foliations

We now choose a parametrization for  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  such that there is a coordinate u with the property  $\hat{h}_{(0)uu} = 0$ . To this end we first use a null bein basis

$$\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}} = -\hat{H}_{(0)\hat{a}}\hat{N}_{(0)\hat{b}} - \hat{H}_{(0)\hat{b}}\hat{N}_{(0)\hat{a}} + \hat{\Pi}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}, \qquad (A.30)$$

Consider the following parametrization of the boundary metric with  $\hat{h}_{(0)uu} = 0$ 

$$\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}dx^{\hat{a}}dx^{\hat{b}} = 2\left(\hat{H}_{(0)}dt + \hat{H}_{(0)i}\left(dx^{i} + \hat{H}_{(0)}\hat{N}_{(0)}^{i}dt\right)\right)\left(du - \hat{H}_{(0)}\hat{N}_{(0)}dt\right) \\ + \hat{\Sigma}_{(0)ij}\left(dx^{i} + \hat{H}_{(0)}\hat{N}_{(0)}^{i}dt\right)\left(dx^{j} + \hat{H}_{(0)}\hat{N}_{(0)}^{j}dt\right),$$
(A.31)

where  $\hat{N}_{(0)} = 0 \Leftrightarrow \hat{h}^{uu}_{(0)} = 0$ . The gauge choice can be obtained by taking

$$\hat{N}_{(0)\hat{a}} = (-1, \hat{H}_{(0)} \hat{N}_{(0)}, 0), \qquad (A.32)$$

$$\hat{H}_{(0)\hat{a}} = (0, \hat{H}_{(0)}(1 + \hat{H}_{(0)i}\hat{N}^{i}_{(0)}), \hat{H}_{(0)i}), \qquad (A.33)$$

$$\hat{\Pi}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \hat{H}_{(0)}^2 \hat{\Sigma}_{(0)ij} \hat{N}_{(0)}^i & \hat{N}_{(0)}^j & \hat{H}_{(0)} \hat{\Sigma}_{(0)ij} \hat{N}_{(0)}^j \\ 0 & \hat{H}_{(0)} \hat{\Sigma}_{(0)ij} \hat{N}_{(0)}^i & \hat{\Sigma}_{(0)ij} \end{pmatrix} = \delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}} \hat{e}_{(0)\hat{a}}^{\underline{i}} \hat{e}_{(0)\hat{b}}^{\underline{j}}, \qquad (A.34)$$

$$\hat{e}_{(0)\hat{a}}^{i} = \begin{pmatrix} 0\\ \hat{H}_{(0)}\hat{e}_{(0)i}^{i}\hat{N}_{(0)}^{i}\\ \hat{e}_{(0)i}^{i} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.35)

We then have

$$\hat{N}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}} = \begin{pmatrix} -\hat{N}_{(0)} \\ -\hat{H}_{(0)}^{-1} \\ \hat{N}_{(0)}^{i} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \hat{H}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (A.36)$$

$$\hat{e}^{\hat{a}}_{(0)\underline{i}} = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{e}^{u}_{(0)\underline{i}} \\ \hat{e}^{t}_{(0)\underline{i}} \\ \hat{e}^{i}_{(0)\underline{i}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (A.37)$$

where the components are given by

$$\hat{e}^{u}_{(0)\underline{i}} = -\hat{N}_{(0)} \left( 1 + \hat{H}_{(0)j} \hat{N}^{j}_{(0)} \right)^{-1} \hat{H}_{(0)i} \hat{e}^{i}_{(0)\underline{i}} , \qquad (A.38)$$

$$\hat{e}_{(0)\underline{i}}^{t} = -\hat{H}_{(0)}^{-1} \left( 1 + \hat{H}_{(0)j} \hat{N}_{(0)}^{j} \right)^{-1} \hat{H}_{(0)i} \hat{e}_{(0)\underline{i}}^{i}, \qquad (A.39)$$

and where  $\hat{e}^i_{(0)i}$  satisfies

$$\hat{e}_{(0)\underline{i}}^{i}\hat{e}_{\overline{(0)}j}^{j}\left(\delta_{i}^{j}-\left(1+\hat{H}_{(0)k}\hat{N}_{(0)}^{k}\right)^{-1}\hat{H}_{(0)i}\hat{N}_{(0)}^{j}\right)=\delta_{\underline{i}}^{j}.$$
(A.40)

The null bein  $\hat{H}^{\hat{a}}_{(0)}$  is chosen such that it is given by the Killing vector  $\partial_u$ .

## A.4 Five-dimensional Ward identities

It is of interest to know which boundary diffeomorphisms and conformal rescalings of the boundary metric preserve this foliation. Conformal rescalings of the boundary metric  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  and boundary diffeomorphisms are generated by Penrose-Brown-Henneaux (PBH) transformations [98, 99], i.e. diffeomorphisms that preserve the gauge choice of the FG expansion. Infinitesimally these transformations act on the 5-dimensional fields as

$$\delta \hat{g}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} = \mathcal{L}_{\hat{\xi}} \hat{g}_{\hat{\mu}\hat{\nu}} \,, \tag{A.41}$$

$$\delta\phi = \mathcal{L}_{\hat{\xi}}\phi, \qquad (A.42)$$

$$\delta \hat{\chi} = \mathcal{L}_{\hat{\xi}} \hat{\chi} \,, \tag{A.43}$$

such that  $\mathcal{L}_{\hat{\xi}}\hat{g}_{rr} = \mathcal{L}_{\hat{\xi}}\hat{g}_{ra} = 0$  so that the radial gauge of the 5-dimensional metric (A.1) is preserved. The solution to these equations gives

$$\hat{\xi}^r = r\hat{\xi}^r_{(0)},$$
 (A.44)

$$\hat{\xi}^{\hat{a}} = \hat{\xi}^{\hat{a}}_{(0)} - \int \frac{dr}{r} \hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\xi}^{r}_{(0)} = \hat{\xi}^{\hat{a}}_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} r^{2} \hat{h}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}_{(0)} \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\xi}^{r}_{(0)} + O(r^{4}), \qquad (A.45)$$

where  $\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^r$  and  $\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}}$  are independent of r. Acting with such diffeomorphisms assuming  $\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^r \neq 0$  on the 5-dimensional solution leads to

$$\delta \hat{h}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \hat{\xi}^{\hat{c}} \partial_{\hat{c}} \hat{h}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} + \hat{h}_{\hat{c}\hat{b}} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\xi}^{\hat{c}} + \hat{h}_{\hat{a}\hat{c}} \partial_{\hat{b}} \hat{\xi}^{\hat{c}} + \hat{\xi}^{r} \partial_{r} \hat{h}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} , \qquad (A.46)$$

$$\delta\hat{\phi} = \hat{\xi}^{\hat{a}}\partial_{\hat{a}}\hat{\phi} + \hat{\xi}^{r}\partial_{r}\hat{\phi}, \qquad (A.47)$$

$$\delta\hat{\chi} = \hat{\xi}^{\hat{a}} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi} + \hat{\xi}^r \partial_r \hat{\chi} \,. \tag{A.48}$$

At leading order this leads to conformal rescalings and reparametrizations of the boundary metric  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  via

$$\delta \hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}} = \hat{\xi}^{\hat{c}}_{(0)}\partial_{\hat{c}}\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}} + \hat{h}_{(0)\hat{c}\hat{b}}\partial_{\hat{a}}\hat{\xi}^{\hat{c}}_{(0)} + \hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{c}}\partial_{\hat{b}}\hat{\xi}^{\hat{c}}_{(0)} - 2\hat{\xi}^{r}_{(0)}\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}, \qquad (A.49)$$

$$\delta \hat{\phi}_{(0)} = \hat{\xi}^{\hat{a}}_{(0)} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\phi}_{(0)} , \qquad (A.50)$$

$$\delta \hat{\chi}_{(0)} = \hat{\xi}^{\hat{a}}_{(0)} \partial_{\hat{a}} \hat{\chi}_{(0)} \,. \tag{A.51}$$

The relations (A.28) and (A.29) are Ward identities for the local gauge transformations that preserve the radial gauge of the FG expansion. To derive the Ward identities we use the variation of the on-shell action, obtained by taking (A.17) on-shell,

$$\delta S_{\rm ren}^{\rm on-shell} = -\frac{1}{2\kappa_5^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-\hat{h}_{(0)}} \left( \hat{t}_{\hat{a}\hat{b}} \delta \hat{h}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} + 2\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\hat{\phi}} \rangle \delta \hat{\phi}_{(0)} + 2\langle \hat{\mathcal{O}}_{\hat{\chi}} \rangle \delta \hat{\chi}_{(0)} - 2\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{(0)} \frac{\delta r}{r} \right), \tag{A.52}$$

where the last term comes from the variation of log r in the counterterm action (A.14). We next take for the variations equations (A.49)–(A.51) writing  $\delta \hat{h}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  as

$$\delta \hat{h}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}} = -\hat{\nabla}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}}\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^{\hat{b}} - \hat{\nabla}_{(0)}^{\hat{b}}\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}} + 2\hat{\xi}_{(0)}^{r}\hat{h}_{(0)}^{\hat{a}\hat{b}}$$
(A.53)

as well as  $\delta r = \hat{\xi}^r = r \hat{\xi}^r_{(0)}$  where we used (A.44). The terms proportional to  $\hat{\xi}^r_{(0)}$  give (A.28) whereas the terms proportional to  $\hat{\xi}^{\hat{a}}_{(0)}$  give (A.29).

## **B** Transformation to radial gauge

We address here how to write the 4D Einstein frame metric in radial gauge, i.e. as

$$ds^{2} = e^{\Phi} \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} + h_{ab} dx^{a} dx^{b} = l_{\text{Lif}}^{2} \left( \frac{dr'^{2}}{r'^{2}} + h'_{ab} dx'^{a} dx'^{b} \right) , \qquad (B.1)$$

where  $l_{\text{Lif}}^2$  is the Lifshitz radius. We will study this problem infinitesimally. To this end we write for the metric on the left hand side  $(g'_{\mu\nu} + \delta g_{\mu\nu}) dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu}$  while we have on the right

hand side  $g'_{\mu\nu}dx'^{\mu}dx'^{\nu}$ . We thus need to find an infinitesimal coordinate transformation such that

$$g_{\mu\nu}dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = (g'_{\mu\nu} + \delta g_{\mu\nu}) dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} = g'_{\mu\nu}dx'^{\mu}dx'^{\nu}.$$
 (B.2)

For our purposes (see the discussion in section 2.4) it will prove convenient to work up to second order by which we mean that we expand the pure gauge perturbation  $\delta g_{\mu\nu}$  as follows

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon \delta_{[1]} g_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \delta_{[2]} g_{\mu\nu} + O(\epsilon^3) \,. \tag{B.3}$$

To achieve this we transform the left hand side using (see e.g. [100])

$$r = r' - \xi^r(r', x') + \frac{1}{2}\xi^\nu \partial'_\nu \xi^r + O(\epsilon^3), \qquad x^a = x'^a - \xi^a(r', x') + \frac{1}{2}\xi^\nu \partial'_\nu \xi^a + O(\epsilon^3), \quad (B.4)$$

where we expand  $\xi^{\mu}$  as

$$\xi^{\mu} = \epsilon \xi^{\mu}_{[1]} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \xi^{\mu}_{[2]} + O(\epsilon^3) \,. \tag{B.5}$$

The metric in the primed coordinate system  $g'_{\mu\nu}$  is related to the metric in the unprimed coordinate system  $g_{\mu\nu} = g'_{\mu\nu} + \delta g_{\mu\nu}$  via

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} - g'_{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{L}_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{L}_{\xi} \mathcal{L}_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu} + O(\epsilon^3) , \qquad (B.6)$$

where everything is a function of the primed coordinates and where  $\mathcal{L}_{\xi}$  denotes the Lie derivative along  $\xi^{\mu}$ . To be more explicit about what we mean by  $\delta g_{\mu\nu}$  we write

$$\Phi = 2\log l_{\rm Lif} + \delta\Phi, \qquad (B.7)$$

$$h_{ab} = l_{\rm Lif}^2 h'_{ab} + \delta h_{ab} \,, \tag{B.8}$$

where we use the following  $\epsilon$  expansions

$$\delta \Phi = \epsilon \delta_{[1]} \Phi + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \delta_{[2]} \Phi + O(\epsilon^3) , \qquad (B.9)$$

$$\delta h_{ab} = \epsilon \delta_{[1]} h_{ab} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \delta_{[2]} h_{ab} + O(\epsilon^3), \qquad (B.10)$$

and expand the left hand side of (B.1) taking (dropping the prime on the coordinates)

$$\delta g_{rr} = \frac{l_{\text{Lif}}^2}{r^2} \left( \delta \Phi + \frac{1}{2} (\delta \Phi)^2 + O(\epsilon^3) \right) , \qquad (B.11)$$

$$\delta g_{ar} = 0. \tag{B.12}$$

In other words we have

$$\delta_{[1]}g_{rr} = \frac{l_{\rm Lif}^2}{r^2}\delta_{[1]}\Phi, \qquad (B.13)$$

$$\delta_{[1]}g_{ra} = 0, (B.14)$$

$$\delta_{[2]}g_{rr} = \frac{l_{\text{Lif}}^2}{r^2} \left(\delta_{[2]}\Phi + (\delta_{[1]}\Phi)^2\right) , \qquad (B.15)$$

$$\delta_{[2]}g_{ra} = 0. \tag{B.16}$$

Expanding the rr component of (B.6) up to second order in  $\epsilon$  using (B.5) as well as (B.3), (B.13) and (B.15) we obtain

$$\delta_{[1]}\Phi = 2\left(\partial_r \xi_{[1]}^r - \frac{1}{r}\xi_{[1]}^r\right), \tag{B.17}$$

$$\delta_{[2]}\Phi = 2\left(\partial_r\xi_{[2]}^r - \frac{1}{r}\xi_{[2]}^r\right) + 2\xi_{[1]}^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\left(\partial_r\xi_{[1]}^r - \frac{1}{r}\xi_{[1]}^r\right).$$
(B.18)

Doing the same for the ar component of (B.6) we find

$$0 = \delta g_{ar} = \epsilon \delta_{[1]} g_{ar} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \delta_{[2]} g_{ar} + O(\epsilon^3) , \qquad (B.19)$$

where

$$\delta_{[1]}g_{ar} = \frac{l_{\text{Lif}}^2}{r^2} \left( \partial_a \xi_{[1]}^r + r^2 h'_{ab} \partial_r \xi_{[1]}^b \right) \,, \tag{B.20}$$

$$\delta_{[2]}g_{ar} = \frac{l_{\text{Lif}}^{2}}{r^{2}} \left( \partial_{a} \left( \xi_{[2]}^{r} - \xi_{[1]}^{c} \partial_{c} \xi_{[1]}^{r} - \xi_{[1]}^{r} \partial_{r} \xi_{[1]}^{r} \right) + r^{2} h_{ab}^{\prime} \partial_{r} \left( \xi_{[2]}^{b} - \xi_{[1]}^{c} \partial_{c} \xi_{[1]}^{b} - \xi_{[1]}^{r} \partial_{r} \xi_{[1]}^{b} \right) + 2r^{2} h_{ab}^{\prime} \partial_{r} \xi_{[1]}^{c} \partial_{c} \xi_{[1]}^{b} + 2 \partial_{r} \xi_{[1]}^{r} \partial_{a} \xi_{[1]}^{r} \right) .$$
(B.21)

A similar analysis for the ab component of (B.6) tells us that

$$h_{ab} = l_{\rm Lif}^2 h'_{ab} + \epsilon \delta_{[1]} h_{ab} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \delta_{[2]} h_{ab} + O(\epsilon^3) , \qquad (B.22)$$

where

$$\delta_{[1]}h_{ab} = l_{\text{Lif}}^{2} \left( \xi_{[1]}^{r} \partial_{r} h_{ab}' + L_{\xi_{[1]}} h_{ab}' \right) , \qquad (B.23)$$
  

$$\delta_{[2]}h_{ab} = l_{\text{Lif}}^{2} \left( \xi_{[2]}^{r} \partial_{r} h_{ab}' + L_{\xi_{[2]}} h_{ab}' + \xi_{[1]}^{r} \partial_{r} \left( \xi_{[1]}^{r} \partial_{r} h_{ab}' \right) + \xi_{[1]}^{r} \partial_{r} \left( L_{\xi_{[1]}} h_{ab}' \right)$$
  

$$+ L_{\xi_{[1]}} \left( \xi_{[1]}^{r} \partial_{r} h_{ab}' \right) + L_{\xi_{[1]}} L_{\xi_{[1]}} h_{ab}' \right) , \qquad (B.24)$$

where  $L_{\xi_{[1]}}$  and  $L_{\xi_{[2]}}$  denote the Lie derivative along  $\xi^a_{[1]}$  and  $\xi^a_{[2]}$ , respectively. We next invert the expression for  $h_{ab}$  in terms of  $h'_{ab}$  giving

$$h'_{ab} = l_{\text{Lif}}^{-2} \left( h_{ab} - \epsilon \left( \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r h_{ab} + L_{\xi_{[1]}} h_{ab} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^2 \left( \xi_{[2]}^r \partial_r h_{ab} + L_{\xi_{[2]}} h_{ab} - \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r \left( \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r h_{ab} \right) - \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r \left( L_{\xi_{[1]}} h_{ab} \right) - L_{\xi_{[1]}} \left( \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r h_{ab} \right) - L_{\xi_{[1]}} L_{\xi_{[1]}} h_{ab} \right) + O(\epsilon^3) \right).$$
(B.25)

Substituting this expression in (B.19) we find (after contraction with  $\frac{l_{\text{Liff}}^2}{r^2}h^{ab}$ ) at first order in  $\epsilon$ 

$$\frac{l_{\rm Lif}^2}{r^2} h^{ab} \partial_a \xi_{[1]}^r + \partial_r \xi_{[1]}^b = 0, \qquad (B.26)$$

and

$$0 = \frac{l_{\text{Lif}}^2}{r^2} h^{ab} \left( \partial_a \left( \xi_{[2]}^r + \xi_{[1]}^c \partial_c \xi_{[1]}^r + \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r \xi_{[1]}^r \right) - 2 \partial_r \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_a \xi_{[1]}^r + 2 \delta_{[1]} \Phi \partial_a \xi_{[1]}^r \right) + \partial_r \left( \xi_{[2]}^b + \xi_{[1]}^c \partial_c \xi_{[1]}^b + \xi_{[1]}^r \partial_r \xi_{[1]}^b \right) - 2 \partial_r \xi_{[1]}^c \partial_c \xi_{[1]}^b .$$
(B.27)

at second order in  $\epsilon.$ 

The leading order behavior of  $\delta_{[1]}\Phi$  and  $\delta_{[2]}\Phi$  is given by order  $r^0$  terms that we denote as  $\delta_{[1]}\Phi_{(0)}$  and  $\delta_{[2]}\Phi_{(0)}$ , respectively. We further note that  $h^{ab}$  starts at order  $r^2$  as follows from the Kaluza-Klein reduction since  $\hat{h}^{ab} = e^{-\Phi}h^{ab}$ . From this we conclude that we have

$$\xi_{[1]}^r = r \left( \log r \xi_{[1](0,1)}^r + \xi_{[1](0)}^r \right) + O(r^3 \log^2 r) , \qquad (B.28)$$

$$\xi_{[1]}^a = \xi_{[1](0)}^a + O(r^2 \log r), \qquad (B.29)$$

$$\xi_{[2]}^r = r \left( \log r \xi_{[2](0,1)}^r + \xi_{[2](0)}^r \right) + O(r^3 \log^2 r), \qquad (B.30)$$

$$\xi_{[2]}^{a} = \xi_{[2](0)}^{a} + O(r^{2}\log r), \qquad (B.31)$$

where

$$\frac{1}{2}\delta_{[1]}\Phi_{(0)} = \xi^r_{[1](0,1)}, \qquad (B.32)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\delta_{[2]}\Phi_{(0)} = \xi^r_{[2](0,1)} + \xi^a_{[1](0)}\partial_a\xi^r_{[1](0,1)}.$$
(B.33)

These expansions for  $\xi_{[1]}^{\mu}$  and  $\xi_{[2]}^{\mu}$  solve equations (B.17), (B.18), (B.26) and (B.27) to leading order in r.<sup>19</sup>

# C Reduction of the anomaly density

In this appendix we will express the anomaly (A.27) in terms of the 4-dimensional sources by reducing it. For simplicity we restrict ourselves to the case where  $\tau_{(0)a}$  is hypersurface orthogonal. Using the expressions (3.52)–(3.57) for the AlAdS<sub>5</sub> boundary metric in terms of the 4-dimensional sources we find for the Christoffel connection of the AlAdS<sub>5</sub> boundary metric

$$\hat{\Gamma}^{a}_{(0)bc} = \Gamma^{a}_{(0)bc} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{a}_{(0)}\left(A_{(0)b}\tau_{(0)c} + A_{(0)c}\tau_{(0)b}\right), \qquad (C.1)$$

$$\hat{\Gamma}^{u}_{(0)bc} = \tilde{K}_{(0)bc} - \frac{1}{2} \left( \tau_{(0)b} \partial_c \hat{h}^{uu}_{(0)} + \tau_{(0)c} \partial_b \hat{h}^{uu}_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (C.2)$$

$$\hat{\Gamma}^{a}_{(0)bu} = \frac{1}{2} \sigma^{a}_{(0)} \tau_{(0)b} \,, \tag{C.3}$$

$$\hat{\Gamma}^{u}_{(0)ua} = -\frac{1}{2} \left( \sigma_{(0)a} + \tau_{(0)a} A_{(0)b} \sigma^{b}_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (C.4)$$

$$\hat{\Gamma}^{a}_{(0)uu} = \hat{\Gamma}^{u}_{(0)uu} = 0, \qquad (C.5)$$

where  $K_{(0)bc}$  is the boost invariant extrinsic curvature defined in (6.32). The quantities  $\sigma_{(0)a}$  and  $\sigma^a_{(0)}$  are defined in (4.78) and (4.86) respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>This result supersedes and corrects the result for a similar calculation performed in section 3.5 of [60].

It follows that the curvature components of  $\hat{h}_{(0)\hat{a}\hat{b}}$  are given by

$$\hat{R}_{(0)ab} = R_{(0)ab} + \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{(0)b} \sigma_{(0)a} + \tau_{(0)(a} A_{(0)b)} \mathcal{D}_{(0)c} \sigma_{(0)}^{c} 
+ \frac{1}{2} \left( \sigma_{(0)}^{c} \partial_{c} \hat{h}_{(0)}^{uu} - \left( A_{(0)c} \sigma_{(0)}^{c} \right)^{2} \right) \tau_{(0)a} \tau_{(0)b} 
+ \sigma_{(0)}^{c} \left( \nabla_{(0)c} A_{(0)(b} - \tilde{K}_{(0)c(b} - \frac{1}{2} A_{(0)c} \sigma_{(0)(b} - \frac{3}{2} \sigma_{(0)c} A_{(0)(b} \right) \tau_{(0)a)} 
- \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{(0)a} \sigma_{(0)b},$$
(C.6)

$$\hat{R}_{(0)au} = \frac{1}{2} \tau_{(0)a} \left( \mathcal{D}_{(0)b} \sigma^b_{(0)} - \sigma_{(0)b} \sigma^b_{(0)} \right) , \qquad (C.7)$$

$$\hat{R}_{(0)uu} = 0,$$
 (C.8)

$$\hat{R}_{(0)} = \mathcal{R}_{(0)} + 2\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}\sigma^a_{(0)} - \frac{3}{2}\sigma_{(0)a}\sigma^a_{(0)}, \qquad (C.9)$$

where  $\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}$  is the projected covariant derivative defined in (4.91). We repeat here the convention mentioned in section 4.6 that indices of objects that are orthogonal to  $v_{(0)}^a$  are raised with  $\Pi_{(0)}^{ab}$  and likewise indices on tensors orthogonal to  $\tau_{(0)a}$  are lowered with  $\Pi_{(0)ab}$ . It then follows that

$$\hat{h}_{(2)ab} = -\frac{1}{2}\hat{R}_{(0)ab} + \frac{1}{4}\partial_a\phi_{(0)}\partial_b\phi_{(0)} + \frac{1}{4}e^{2\phi_{(0)}}\partial_a\chi_{(0)}\partial_b\chi_{(0)} + \frac{1}{12}Q_{(0)}\left(A_{(0)a}\tau_{(0)b} + A_{(0)b}\tau_{(0)a} + \Pi_{(0)ab}\right), \qquad (C.10)$$

$$\hat{h}_{(2)au} = \frac{1}{4} k e^{2\phi_{(0)}} \partial_a \chi_{(0)} + \left(\frac{1}{12} Q_{(0)} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{D}_{(0)b} \sigma^b_{(0)} + \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{(0)b} \sigma^b_{(0)}\right) \tau_{(0)a} , \qquad (C.11)$$

$$\hat{h}_{(2)uu} = \frac{1}{4} k^2 e^{2\phi_{(0)}} , \qquad (C.12)$$

$$\hat{\phi}_{(2)} = \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{D}_{(0)a} \left( \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} \partial_b \phi_{(0)} \right) - \frac{1}{4} \sigma^a_{(0)} \partial_a \phi_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} k^2 e^{2\phi_{(0)}} I_{(0)} , \qquad (C.13)$$

$$\hat{\chi}_{(2)} = \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{D}_{(0)a} \left( \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} \partial_b \chi_{(0)} \right) - \frac{1}{4} k \tilde{K}_{(0)ab} \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} - \frac{1}{4} \sigma^a_{(0)} \partial_a \chi_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} k \left( v^a_{(0)} + \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} B_{(0)b} \right) \partial_a \phi_{(0)} , \qquad (C.14)$$

where

$$B_{(0)a} = A_{(0)a} - k^{-1} \partial_a \chi_{(0)} , \qquad (C.15)$$

$$I_{(0)} = v_{(0)}^{a} B_{(0)a} + \frac{1}{2} \Pi_{(0)}^{ab} B_{(0)a} B_{(0)b}, \qquad (C.16)$$

$$Q_{(0)} = \mathcal{R}_{(0)} + 2\mathcal{D}_{(0)a}\sigma^a_{(0)} - \frac{3}{2}\sigma_{(0)a}\sigma^a_{(0)} - k^2 e^{2\phi_{(0)}}I_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2}\Pi^{ab}_{(0)}\partial_a\phi_{(0)}\partial_b\phi_{(0)}.$$
 (C.17)

We find that the full anomaly is given by

$$\hat{\mathcal{A}}_{(0)} = \frac{1}{8} X_{(0)ab} X_{(0)cd} \left( \Pi^{ac}_{(0)} \Pi^{bd}_{(0)} - \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} \Pi^{cd}_{(0)} \right) + \frac{1}{48} \left( 3X_{(0)ab} \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} - Q_{(0)} \right)^2 - \frac{1}{4} k^2 e^{2\phi_{(0)}} B_{(0)a} X_{(0)bc} \Pi^{ab}_{(0)} v^c_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} \hat{h}_{(2)uu} Y_{(0)ab} v^a_{(0)} v^b_{(0)} + \hat{\phi}^2_{(2)} + e^{2\phi_{(0)}} \hat{\chi}^2_{(2)} , \quad (C.18)$$

with

$$Y_{(0)ab} = R_{(0)ab} + \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{(0)b} \sigma_{(0)a} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_a \phi_{(0)} \partial_b \phi_{(0)} - \frac{1}{2} k^2 e^{2\phi_{(0)}} B_{(0)a} B_{(0)b}, \qquad (C.19)$$

$$X_{(0)ab} = Y_{(0)ab} - \frac{1}{4}\sigma_{(0)a}\sigma_{(0)b} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{(0)}^{c} \left(\partial_{c}\hat{h}_{(0)}^{uu} - F_{(0)cd}v_{(0)}^{d} - A_{(0)c}A_{(0)d}\sigma_{(0)}^{d}\right)\tau_{(0)a}\tau_{(0)b} + \sigma_{(0)}^{c} \left(\nabla_{(0)c}A_{(0)(b)} - \tilde{K}_{(0)c(b)} - \frac{1}{2}A_{(0)c}\sigma_{(0)(b)} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{(0)c}A_{(0)(b)}\right)\tau_{(0)a}.$$
 (C.20)

This result for the reduced anomaly density is so far not yet a very insightful expression. In section 6.2 we will rewrite it using the natural curvature objects of torsional Newton-Cartan as defined in section 4.6 for the case of hypersurface orthogonal  $\tau_{(0)a}$ , i.e. for TTNC boundary geometry.

# **D** Holographic reconstruction

The relations between the 4- and 5-dimensional fields are given by

$$h_{ab} = e^{\Phi} \left( \hat{h}_{ab} - e^{-2\Phi} \hat{h}_{au} \hat{h}_{bu} \right) , \qquad (D.1)$$

$$A_a = e^{-2\Phi} \hat{h}_{au} \,, \tag{D.2}$$

$$\Phi = \frac{1}{2} \log \hat{h}_{uu} \,. \tag{D.3}$$

Hence, for  $\hat{h}_{(0)uu} = 0$ , we have:

$$\Phi = \Phi_{(0)} + r^2 \log r \Phi_{(2,1)} + r^2 \Phi_{(2)} + r^4 \log^2 r \Phi_{(4,2)} + r^4 \log r \Phi_{(4,1)} + r^4 \Phi_{(4)} + r^6 \log^3 r \Phi_{(6,3)} + r^6 \log^2 r \Phi_{(6,2)} + r^6 \log r \Phi_{(6,1)} + r^6 \Phi_{(6)} + \mathcal{O}\left(r^8 \log^4 r\right) , \quad (D.4)$$

$$A_{a} = r^{-2}V_{(0)a} + \log rV_{(2,1)a} + V_{(2)a} + r^{2}\log^{2} rV_{(4,2)a} + r^{2}\log rV_{(4,1)a} + r^{2}V_{(4)a} + r^{4}\log^{3} rV_{(6,3)a} + r^{4}\log^{2} rV_{(6,2)a} + r^{4}\log rV_{(6,1)a} + r^{4}V_{(6)a} + \mathcal{O}\left(r^{6}\log^{4} r\right),$$
(D.5)  
$$h_{ab} = r^{-4}\gamma_{(0)ab} + r^{-2}\log r\gamma_{(2,1)ab} + r^{-2}\gamma_{(2)ab} + \log^{2} r\gamma_{(4,2)ab} + \log r\gamma_{(4,1)ab} + \gamma_{(4)ab} + r^{2}\log^{3} r\gamma_{(6,3)ab} + r^{2}\log^{2} r\gamma_{(6,2)ab} + r^{2}\log r\gamma_{(6,1)ab} + r^{2}\gamma_{(6)ab} + \mathcal{O}\left(r^{4}\log^{4} r\right),$$
(D.6)

with the coefficients given by

$$e^{2\Phi_{(0)}} = \hat{h}_{(2)uu} = -\frac{1}{4}e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left(\varepsilon^{abc}_{(0)}e^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a}\partial_b e^{\underline{t}}_{(0)c}\right)^2 + \frac{k^2}{4}e^{2\phi_{(0)}}, \qquad (D.7)$$

$$\Phi_{(2,1)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(4,1)uu}, \qquad (D.8)$$

$$\Phi_{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \left( -\frac{1}{2} e^{\Phi_{(0)}} T^{\underline{t}}_{(0)} + \hat{X}_{uu} \right), \tag{D.9}$$

$$\Phi_{(4,2)} = -\Phi_{(2,1)}^2, \tag{D.10}$$

$$\Phi_{(4,1)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(6,1)uu} - 2\Phi_{(2)}\Phi_{(2,1)}, \qquad (D.11)$$

$$\Phi_{(4)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(6)uu} - \Phi_{(2)}^2, \qquad (D.12)$$

$$\Phi_{(6,3)} = \frac{4}{3} \Phi^3_{(2,1)} \,, \tag{D.13}$$

$$\Phi_{(6,2)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(8,2)uu} - 2\Phi_{(4,1)}\Phi_{(2,1)}, \qquad (D.14)$$

$$\Phi_{(6,1)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(8,1)uu} - 2\Phi_{(2,1)} \Phi_{(2)}^2 - 2\Phi_{(4)} \Phi_{(2,1)} - 2\Phi_{(4,1)} \Phi_{(2)}, \qquad (D.15)$$

$$\Phi_{(6)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(8)uu} - \frac{2}{3} \Phi_{(2)}^3 - 2\Phi_{(4)} \Phi_{(2)}, \qquad (D.16)$$

$$V_{(0)a} = e^{-3\Phi_{(0)}/2} e^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a}, \qquad (D.17)$$

$$V_{(0)a} = e^{-(0)t} e_{(0)a}, \qquad (D.17)$$

$$V_{(2,1)a} = -2\Phi_{(2,1)}V_{(0)a}, \qquad (D.18)$$

$$V_{(2)a} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}}\hat{h}_{(2)au} - 2\Phi_{(2)}V_{(0)a}, \qquad (D.19)$$

$$V_{(4,2)a} = 4\Phi_{(2,1)}^2 V_{(0)a}, \qquad (D.20)$$

$$V_{(4,1)a} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(4,1)au} - 2\Phi_{(2,1)} V_{(2)a} - 2\Phi_{(4,1)} V_{(0)a}, \qquad (D.21)$$

$$V_{(4)a} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \left( \frac{1}{2} e^{\Phi_{(0)}} S^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a} + \hat{X}_{au} \right) - 2\Phi^2_{(2)} V_{(0)a} - 2\Phi_{(2)} V_{(2)a} - 2\Phi_{(4)} V_{(0)a} , \quad (D.22)$$

$$V_{(6,3)a} = -8\Phi_{(2,1)}^{3}V_{(0)a},$$

$$V_{(6,2)a} = 4\Phi_{(2,1)}\Phi_{(4,1)}V_{(0)a} - 2\Phi_{(2,1)}V_{(4,1)a},$$
(D.23)
(D.24)

$$V_{(6,1)a} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}}\hat{h}_{(6,1)au} - 2\Phi_{(2)}V_{(4,1)a} - 2\Phi_{(2,1)}V_{(4)a} - 4\Phi_{(2,1)}\Phi_{(2)}V_{(2)a} -2\Phi_{(4,1)}V_{(2)a} - 4\Phi_{(4,1)}\Phi_{(2)}V_{(0)a} - 2\Phi_{(6,1)}V_{(0)a},$$
(D.25)

$$V_{(6)a} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(6)au} - 2\Phi_{(2)}V_{(4)a} - 2\Phi_{(2)}^2 V_{(2)a} - 2\Phi_{(4)}V_{(2)a} - \frac{4}{3}\Phi_{(2)}^3 V_{(0)a} -4\Phi_{(4)}\Phi_{(2)}V_{(0)a} - 2\Phi_{(6)}V_{(0)a}, \qquad (D.26)$$

$$\gamma_{(0)ab} = -e^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a}e^{\underline{t}}_{(0)b}, \qquad (D.27)$$

$$\gamma_{(2,1)ab} = -\Phi_{(2,1)}\gamma_{(0)ab}, \tag{D.28}$$

$$\gamma_{(2)ab} = e^{3\Phi_{(0)}/2} \left( e^{\underline{t}}_{(0)a} A_{(0)b} + e^{\underline{t}}_{(0)b} A_{(0)a} \right) + \delta_{\underline{i}\underline{j}} e^{\underline{i}}_{(0)a} e^{\underline{j}}_{(0)b} + 3\Phi_{(2)}\gamma_{(0)ab} - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(2)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(2)a} \right) ,$$
(D.29)

$$\gamma_{(4,2)ab} = \left(\Phi_{(4,2)} - \frac{3}{2}\Phi_{(2,1)}^2\right)\gamma_{(0)ab}, \qquad (D.30)$$

$$\gamma_{(4,1)ab} = -e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(4,1)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(4,1)a} \right) + \Phi_{(2,1)} \gamma_{(2)ab} + 3 \left( \Phi_{(4,1)} - \Phi_{(2,1)} \Phi_{(2)} \right) \gamma_{(0)ab} ,$$
(D.31)

$$\gamma_{(4)ab} = e^{\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(2)ab} - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(4)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(4)a} \right) - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} V_{(2)a} V_{(2)b} -2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(2)} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(2)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(2)a} \right) + \Phi_{(2)} \gamma_{(2)ab} + \left( 2\Phi - \frac{5}{2} \Phi^2 \right)$$

$$+\left(3\Phi_{(4)} - \frac{5}{2}\Phi_{(2)}^{2}\right)\gamma_{(0)ab}, \qquad (D.32)$$

$$\gamma_{(6,3)ab} = \left(\Phi_{(6,3)} - \Phi_{(2,1)}\Phi_{(4,2)} - \frac{29}{6}\Phi_{(2,1)}^3\right)\gamma_{(0)ab}, \qquad (D.33)$$

$$\gamma_{(6,2)ab} = -\Phi_{(2,1)}\gamma_{(4,1)ab} + \left(\Phi_{(4,2)} + \frac{3}{2}\Phi_{(2,1)}^2\right)\gamma_{(2)ab} + \left(\Phi_{(6,2)} + 4\Phi_{(4,1)}\Phi_{(2,1)} + 3\Phi_{(2,1)}^2\Phi_{(2)}\right)\gamma_{(0)ab},$$
(D.34)

$$\begin{split} \gamma_{(6,1)ab} &= e^{\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(4,1)ab} - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(6,1)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(6,1)a} \right) - 2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(2,1)} V_{(2)a} V_{(2)b} \\ &- 2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(4,1)} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(2)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(2)a} \right) - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( V_{(2)a} V_{(4,1)b} + V_{(2)a} V_{(4,1)b} \right) \\ &- 2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(2)} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(4,1)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(4,1)a} \right) + \Phi_{(2,1)} \gamma_{(4)ab} + \Phi_{(2)} \gamma_{(4,1)ab} \\ &+ \left( \Phi_{(4,1)} - \Phi_{(2,1)} \Phi_{(2)} \right) \gamma_{(2)ab} + \left( \Phi_{(4)} - \frac{1}{2} \Phi_{(2)}^2 \right) \gamma_{(2,1)ab} \\ &+ \left( 3\Phi_{(6,1)} + 3\Phi_{(4,1)} \Phi_{(2)} - 5\Phi_{(4)} \Phi_{(2,1)} - \frac{7}{2} \Phi_{(2,1)} \Phi_{(2)}^2 \right) \gamma_{(0)ab} \,, \end{split}$$
(D.35) 
$$\gamma_{(6)ab} &= e^{\Phi_{(0)}} \left( \frac{1}{2} \hat{t}_{ab} + \hat{X}_{ab} \right) - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(6)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(6)a} \right) - 2e^{3\Phi_{0}} \Phi_{(2)} V_{(2)a} V_{(2)b} \\ &- e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( V_{(4)a} V_{(2)b} + V_{(4)b} V_{(2)a} \right) - 2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(2)} \left( V_{(4)a} V_{(0)b} + V_{(4)b} V_{(0)a} \right) \\ &- 2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(2)}^2 \left( V_{(2)a} V_{(0)b} + V_{(2)b} V_{(0)a} \right) - 2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(4)} \left( V_{(2)a} V_{(0)b} + V_{(2)b} V_{(0)a} \right) \\ &+ \Phi_{(2)} \gamma_{(4)ab} + \left( \Phi_{(4)} - \frac{1}{2} \Phi_{(2)}^2 \right) \gamma_{(2)ab} + 3 \left( \Phi_{(6)} + \Phi_{(4)} \Phi_{(2)} + \frac{1}{2} \Phi_{(2)}^3 \right) \gamma_{(0)ab} \,, \end{split}$$

where  $\hat{t}_{ab}$  is given in equation (6.42) and  $\hat{X}_{ab}$  is given in (A.26).

# E A hyperscaling $\theta = -1$ and z = 1 UV completion

In this appendix we discuss the consequences of having  $\hat{h}_{(0)uu} > 0$  in the Fefferman-Graham expansion, i.e. performing the reduction with a spacelike circle on the boundary. Consider the following 5-dimensional solution

$$d\hat{s}^{2} = \frac{1}{r^{2}} \left( 2dtdu + dx^{2} + dy^{2} \right) + \frac{dr^{2}}{r^{2}} + \left( \frac{1}{r^{2}} + \frac{k^{2}}{4} g_{s}^{2} \right) du^{2}, \qquad (E.1)$$

$$\hat{\chi} = ku\,,\tag{E.2}$$

$$\hat{\phi} = \log g_s \,. \tag{E.3}$$

This solution can be obtained from (2.22) by applying to it the following diffeomorphism  $t \rightarrow t - u/2$ . However this diffeomorphism does not correspond to a local symmetry of the reduced theory so upon performing a reduction we obtain a solution that is not related to a z = 2 Lifshitz space-time by some local symmetry. The 4-dimensional solution reads

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{r} \left( 1 + \frac{k^{2}}{4} g_{s}^{2} r^{2} \right)^{1/2} \left[ -\frac{1}{r^{2}} \left( 1 + \frac{k^{2}}{4} g_{s}^{2} r^{2} \right)^{-1} dt^{2} + \frac{1}{r^{2}} \left( dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dr^{2} \right) \right],$$
(E.4)

$$\Phi = -\log r + \frac{1}{2}\log\left(1 + \frac{k^2}{4}g_s^2 r^2\right), \qquad (E.5)$$

$$A = \left(1 + \frac{k^2}{4}g_s^2 r^2\right)^{-1} dt,$$
 (E.6)

with the 4-dimensional axion-dilaton equal to a constant. If we put k = 0 the solution is a  $\theta = -1$  and z = 1 hyperscaling violating space-time where  $\theta$  is defined as in [18]. For  $k \neq 0$  it is asymptotically a  $\theta = -1$  and z = 1 hyperscaling violating space-time (see [65] for holography for space-times that are conformally AdS). In general, from the reduction ansatz (2.6) and the expansion (A.2) we find that the 4-dimensional expansions are given by

$$\Phi = -\log r + \Phi_{(0)} + r^2 \Phi_{(2)} + r^4 \log r \Phi_{(4,1)} + r^4 \Phi_{(4)} + O\left(r^6 \log r\right) , \qquad (E.7)$$

$$A_a = V_{(0)a} + r^2 V_{(2)a} + r^4 \log r V_{(4,1)a} + r^4 V_{(4)a} + O\left(r^6 \log r\right) , \qquad (E.8)$$

$$h_{ab} = r^{-3}\gamma_{(0)ab} + r^{-1}\gamma_{(2)ab} + r\log r\gamma_{(4,1)ab} + r\gamma_{(4)ab} + O\left(r^{3}\log r\right), \qquad (E.9)$$

where the coefficients are given by

$$\Phi_{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \log \hat{h}_{(0)uu} , \qquad (E.10)$$

$$\Phi_{(2)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(2)uu} , \qquad (E.11)$$

$$\Phi_{(4,1)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(4,1)uu}, \qquad (E.12)$$

$$\Phi_{(4)} = \frac{1}{2} e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \left( \frac{1}{2} \hat{t}_{uu} + \hat{X}_{uu} \right) - \Phi_{(2)}^2, \qquad (E.13)$$

$$V_{(0)a} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(0)au}, \qquad (E.14)$$

$$V_{(2)a} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(2)au} - 2\Phi_{(2)} V_{(0)a}, \qquad (E.15)$$

$$V_{(4,1)a} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(4,1)au} - 2\Phi_{(4,1)} V_{(0)a}, \qquad (E.16)$$

$$V_{(4)a} = e^{-2\Phi_{(0)}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\hat{t}_{au} + \hat{X}_{au}\right) - 2\Phi_{(4)}V_{(0)a} - 2\Phi_{(2)}\left(\Phi_{(2)}V_{(0)a} + V_{(2)a}\right), \quad (E.17)$$

$$\gamma_{(0)ab} = e^{\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(0)ab} - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} V_{(0)a} V_{(0)b}, \qquad (E.18)$$

$$\gamma_{(2)ab} = e^{\Psi_{(0)}} h_{(2)ab} + \Phi_{(2)}\gamma_{(0)ab} - 2e^{3\Psi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(2)}V_{(0)a}V_{(0)b} - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left(V_{(0)a}V_{(2)b} + V_{(0)b}V_{(2)a}\right),$$
(E.19)

$$\gamma_{(4,1)ab} = e^{\Phi_{(0)}} \hat{h}_{(4,1)ab} - 2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(4,1)} V_{(0)a} V_{(0)b} + \Phi_{(4,1)} \gamma_{(0)ab} -e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(4,1)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(4,1)a} \right) , \qquad (E.20)$$

$$\gamma_{(4)ab} = e^{\Phi_{(0)}} \left( \frac{1}{2} \hat{t}_{ab} + \hat{X}_{ab} \right) - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} V_{(2)a} V_{(2)b} - 2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \Phi_{(2)} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(2)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(2)a} \right) - e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( V_{(0)a} V_{(4)b} + V_{(0)b} V_{(4)a} \right) - 2e^{3\Phi_{(0)}} \left( \Phi_{(4)} + \Phi_{(2)}^2 \right) V_{(0)a} V_{(0)b} + \Phi_{(2)} \gamma_{(2)ab} + \left( \Phi_{(4)} - \frac{1}{2} \Phi_{(2)}^2 \right) \gamma_{(0)ab} .$$
(E.21)

So far we have focused on the UV near r = 0. The solution (E.4)–(E.6) can also be written as follows

$$ds^{2} = \left(\frac{k^{2}g_{s}^{2}}{4} + \frac{1}{r^{2}}\right)^{1/2} \left[-\frac{1}{r^{4}}\left(\frac{k^{2}g_{s}^{2}}{4} + \frac{1}{r^{2}}\right)dt^{2} + \frac{1}{r^{2}}\left(dx^{2} + dy^{2} + dr^{2}\right)\right], \quad (E.22)$$

$$e^{2\Phi} = \frac{k^2 g_s^2}{4} + \frac{1}{r^2}, \qquad (E.23)$$

$$A = \frac{1}{r^2} \left( \frac{k^2 g_s^2}{4} + \frac{1}{r^2} \right)^{-1} dt \,. \tag{E.24}$$

Writing it like this makes it manifest that in the IR for large r the solution asymptotes to a z = 2 Lifshitz space-time. We have thus found an interpolating solution from a  $\theta = -1$  and

z = 1 UV to a z = 2 Lifshitz IR. We conclude that the two classes of solutions obtained by dimensional reduction with  $h_{(0)uu} = 0$  and  $h_{(0)uu} > 0$  have very different UV behavior but agree in the IR.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

# References

- [1] J. Maldacena, The Large-N Limit of Superconformal Field Theories and Supergravity, International Journal of Theoretical Physics **38** (1999) 1113 [hep-th/9711200].
- S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, Gauge theory correlators from non-critical string theory, Physics Letters B 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109].
- [3] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Advances in Theoretical and Mathematical Physics 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150].
- [4] S.S. Gubser and A. Karch, From gauge-string duality to strong interactions: A Pedestrian's Guide, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 59 (2009) 145 [arXiv:0901.0935] [INSPIRE].
- [5] S.A. Hartnoll, Lectures on holographic methods for condensed matter physics, Classical and Quantum Gravity 26 (2009) 224002 [arXiv:0903.3246].
- [6] C.P. Herzog, Topical review: Lectures on holographic superfluidity and superconductivity, Journal of Physics A Mathematical General 42 (2009) H3001 [arXiv:0904.1975].
- [7] J. McGreevy, Holographic duality with a view toward many-body physics, arXiv:0909.0518.
- [8] R.A. Janik, The Dynamics of quark-gluon Plasma and AdS/CFT, Lect. Notes Phys. 828 (2011) 147 [arXiv:1003.3291] [INSPIRE].
- [9] J. Casalderrey-Solana, H. Liu, D. Mateos, K. Rajagopal and U.A. Wiedemann, Gauge/String Duality, Hot QCD and Heavy Ion Collisions, arXiv:1101.0618.
- [10] V.E. Hubeny, S. Minwalla and M. Rangamani, The fluid/gravity correspondence, arXiv:1107.5780.
- [11] S. Sachdev, What can gauge-gravity duality teach us about condensed matter physics?, arXiv:1108.1197.
- [12] P. Koroteev and M. Libanov, On existence of self-tuning solutions in static braneworlds without singularities, Journal of High Energy Physics 2 (2008) 104 [arXiv:0712.1136].
- S. Kachru, X. Liu and M. Mulligan, Gravity duals of Lifshitz-like fixed points, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 106005 [arXiv:0808.1725].
- [14] M. Taylor, Non-relativistic holography, arXiv:0812.0530.
- [15] C. Charmousis, B. Goutéraux, B. Soo Kim, E. Kiritsis and R. Meyer, Effective holographic theories for low-temperature condensed matter systems, Journal of High Energy Physics 11 (2010) 151 [arXiv:1005.4690].
- [16] N. Iizuka, N. Kundu, P. Narayan and S.P. Trivedi, Holographic Fermi and non-Fermi liquids with transitions in dilaton gravity, Journal of High Energy Physics 1 (2012) 94 [arXiv:1105.1162].

- [17] N. Ogawa, T. Takayanagi and T. Ugajin, Holographic Fermi surfaces and entanglement entropy, Journal of High Energy Physics 1 (2012) 125 [arXiv:1111.1023].
- [18] L. Huijse, S. Sachdev and B. Swingle, Hidden Fermi surfaces in compressible states of gauge-gravity duality, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 035121 [arXiv:1112.0573].
- [19] X. Dong, S. Harrison, S. Kachru, G. Torroba and H. Wang, Aspects of holography for theories with hyperscaling violation, Journal of High Energy Physics 6 (2012) 41 [arXiv:1201.1905].
- [20] N. Iizuka, S. Kachru, N. Kundu, P. Narayan, N. Sircar and S.P. Trivedi, Bianchi attractors: a classification of extremal black brane geometries, Journal of High Energy Physics 7 (2012) 193 [arXiv:1201.4861].
- [21] K. Balasubramanian and J. McGreevy, Gravity Duals for Nonrelativistic Conformal Field Theories, Physical Review Letters 101 (2008) 061601 [arXiv:0804.4053].
- [22] D.T. Son, Toward an AdS/cold atoms correspondence: A geometric realization of the Schrödinger symmetry, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 046003 [arXiv:0804.3972].
- [23] J. Maldacena, D. Martelli and Y. Tachikawa, Comments on string theory backgrounds with non-relativistic conformal symmetry, Journal of High Energy Physics 10 (2008) 72 [arXiv:0807.1100].
- [24] M. Guica, K. Skenderis, M. Taylor and B.C. van Rees, Holography for Schrödinger backgrounds, Journal of High Energy Physics 2 (2011) 56 [arXiv:1008.1991].
- [25] J. Hartong and B. Rollier, Asymptotically Schrödinger space-times: TsT transformations and thermodynamics, Journal of High Energy Physics 1 (2011) 84 [arXiv:1009.4997].
- [26] M. Guica, A Fefferman-Graham-like expansion for null warped AdS<sub>3</sub>, Journal of High Energy Physics 12 (2012) 84 [arXiv:1111.6978].
- [27] S. Detournay and M. Guica, Stringy Schrödinger truncations, Journal of High Energy Physics 8 (2013) 121 [arXiv:1212.6792].
- [28] J. Hartong and B. Rollier, Particle Number and 3D Schroedinger Holography, arXiv:1305.3653.
- [29] S.F. Ross and O. Saremi, Holographic stress tensor for non-relativistic theories, Journal of High Energy Physics 9 (2009) 9 [arXiv:0907.1846].
- [30] S.F. Ross, Holography for asymptotically locally Lifshitz spacetimes, Classical and Quantum Gravity 28 (2011) 215019 [arXiv:1107.4451].
- [31] M. Baggio, J. de Boer and K. Holsheimer, Hamilton-Jacobi renormalization for Lifshitz spacetime, Journal of High Energy Physics 1 (2012) 58 [arXiv:1107.5562].
- [32] R.B. Mann and R. McNees, Holographic renormalization for asymptotically Lifshitz spacetimes, Journal of High Energy Physics 10 (2011) 129 [arXiv:1107.5792].
- [33] T. Griffin, P. Hořava and C.M. Melby-Thompson, Conformal Lifshitz gravity from holography, Journal of High Energy Physics 5 (2012) 10 [arXiv:1112.5660].
- [34] M. Baggio, J. de Boer and K. Holsheimer, Anomalous breaking of anisotropic scaling symmetry in the quantum lifshitz model, Journal of High Energy Physics 7 (2012) 99 [arXiv:1112.6416].
- [35] U.H. Danielsson and L. Thorlacius, Black holes in asymptotically Lifshitz spacetime, Journal of High Energy Physics 3 (2009) 70 [arXiv:0812.5088].

- [36] M.C.N. Cheng, S.A. Hartnoll and C.A. Keeler, Deformations of Lifshitz holography, Journal of High Energy Physics 3 (2010) 62 [arXiv:0912.2784].
- [37] M. Baggio, *Deformations of CFTs and holography*, PhD thesis, University of Amsterdam, Institute for Theoretical Physics (ITF), July, 2013, http://dare.uva.nl/en/record/448573.
- [38] K. Holsheimer, On the Marginally Relevant Operator in z = 2 Lifshitz Holography, arXiv:1311.4539 [INSPIRE].
- [39] Y. Korovin, K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Lifshitz as a deformation of Anti-de Sitter, JHEP 08 (2013) 026 [arXiv:1304.7776] [INSPIRE].
- [40] Y. Korovin, K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Lifshitz from AdS at finite temperature and top down models, JHEP 11 (2013) 127 [arXiv:1306.3344] [INSPIRE].
- [41] G. Bertoldi, B.A. Burrington and A. Peet, Black Holes in asymptotically Lifshitz spacetimes with arbitrary critical exponent, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 126003 [arXiv:0905.3183]
   [INSPIRE].
- [42] G. Bertoldi, B.A. Burrington and A.W. Peet, Thermodynamics of black branes in asymptotically Lifshitz spacetimes, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 126004 [arXiv:0907.4755]
   [INSPIRE].
- [43] E. Brynjolfsson, U. Danielsson, L. Thorlacius and T. Zingg, *Holographic Superconductors with Lifshitz Scaling*, J. Phys. A 43 (2010) 065401 [arXiv:0908.2611] [INSPIRE].
- [44] R. Gregory, S.L. Parameswaran, G. Tasinato and I. Zavala, Lifshitz solutions in supergravity and string theory, JHEP 12 (2010) 047 [arXiv:1009.3445] [INSPIRE].
- [45] I. Amado and A.F. Faedo, Lifshitz black holes in string theory, JHEP 07 (2011) 004 [arXiv:1105.4862] [INSPIRE].
- [46] J. Tarrio and S. Vandoren, Black holes and black branes in Lifshitz spacetimes, JHEP 09 (2011) 017 [arXiv:1105.6335] [INSPIRE].
- [47] H. Braviner, R. Gregory and S.F. Ross, Flows involving Lifshitz solutions, Class. Quant. Grav. 28 (2011) 225028 [arXiv:1108.3067] [INSPIRE].
- [48] L. Barclay, R. Gregory, S. Parameswaran, G. Tasinato and I. Zavala, Lifshitz black holes in IIA supergravity, JHEP 05 (2012) 122 [arXiv:1203.0576] [INSPIRE].
- [49] M. Edalati, J.F. Pedraza and W. Tangarife Garcia, Quantum Fluctuations in Holographic Theories with Hyperscaling Violation, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 046001 [arXiv:1210.6993] [INSPIRE].
- [50] T. Andrade and S.F. Ross, Boundary conditions for scalars in Lifshitz, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 065009 [arXiv:1212.2572] [INSPIRE].
- [51] C. Keeler, Scalar Boundary Conditions in Lifshitz Spacetimes, arXiv: 1212.1728 [INSPIRE].
- [52] T. Andrade and S.F. Ross, Boundary conditions for metric fluctuations in Lifshitz, Class. Quant. Grav. 30 (2013) 195017 [arXiv:1305.3539] [INSPIRE].
- [53] C. Keeler, G. Knodel and J.T. Liu, What do non-relativistic CFTs tell us about Lifshitz spacetimes?, arXiv:1308.5689 [INSPIRE].
- [54] T. Zingg, Logarithmic two-Point Correlation Functions from a z = 2 Lifshitz Model, arXiv:1310.4778 [INSPIRE].

- [55] K. Balasubramanian and K. Narayan, Lifshitz spacetimes from AdS null and cosmological solutions, JHEP 08 (2010) 014 [arXiv:1005.3291] [INSPIRE].
- [56] R. Caldeira Costa and M. Taylor, Holography for chiral scale-invariant models, JHEP 02 (2011) 082 [arXiv:1010.4800] [INSPIRE].
- [57] A. Donos and J.P. Gauntlett, Lifshitz Solutions of D = 10 and D = 11 supergravity, JHEP 12 (2010) 002 [arXiv:1008.2062] [INSPIRE].
- [58] D. Cassani and A.F. Faedo, Constructing Lifshitz solutions from AdS, JHEP 05 (2011) 013 [arXiv:1102.5344] [INSPIRE].
- [59] W. Chemissany and J. Hartong, From D3-branes to Lifshitz Space-Times, Class. Quant. Grav. 28 (2011) 195011 [arXiv:1105.0612] [INSPIRE].
- [60] W. Chemissany, D. Geissbuhler, J. Hartong and B. Rollier, Holographic Renormalization for z=2 Lifshitz Space-Times from AdS, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 235017 [arXiv:1205.5777] [INSPIRE].
- [61] M.H. Christensen, J. Hartong, N.A. Obers and B. Rollier, Torsional Newton-Cartan Geometry and Lifshitz Holography, arXiv:1311.4794 [INSPIRE].
- [62] I. Papadimitriou, Holographic Renormalization of general dilaton-axion gravity, JHEP 08 (2011) 119 [arXiv:1106.4826] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M. Mulligan, C. Nayak and S. Kachru, An Isotropic to Anisotropic Transition in a Fractional Quantum Hall State, Phys. Rev. B 82 (2010) 085102 [arXiv:1004.3570]
   [INSPIRE].
- [64] K. Balasubramanian and J. McGreevy, String theory duals of Lifshitz- Chern-Simons gauge theories, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 194007 [arXiv:1111.0634] [INSPIRE].
- [65] I. Kanitscheider, K. Skenderis and M. Taylor, Precision holography for non-conformal branes, JHEP 09 (2008) 094 [arXiv:0807.3324] [INSPIRE].
- [66] S. Hollands, A. Ishibashi and D. Marolf, Counter-term charges generate bulk symmetries, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 104025 [hep-th/0503105] [INSPIRE].
- [67] E. Cartan, Sur les variétés à connexion affine et la théorie de la rélativité généralisée (première partie), Ann. Éc. Norm. Super. 40 (1923) 325.
- [68] E. Cartan, Sur les variétés à connexion affine et la théorie de la rélativité généralisée (première partie)(suite), Ann. Éc. Norm. Super. 41 (1924) 1.
- [69] J. Ehlers, Über den Newtonschen Grenzwert der Einsteinschen Gravitationstheorie, in Grundlagenprobleme der modernen Physik, J. Nitsch, J. Pfarr and E.W. Stachow, eds., pg. 65, Bibliographisches Institut, Mannheim, 1981.
- [70] C.W. Misner, K.S. Thorne and J.A. Wheeler, *Gravitation*, W.H. Freeman, San Francisco, 1973.
- [71] L.P. Eisenhart, Dynamical Trajectories and Geodesics, Ann. Math. 30 (1928) 591.
- [72] C. Duval, G. Burdet, H. Kunzle and M. Perrin, Bargmann Structures and Newton-cartan Theory, Phys. Rev. D 31 (1985) 1841 [INSPIRE].
- [73] C. Duval, G.W. Gibbons and P. Horvathy, Celestial mechanics, conformal structures and gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 3907 [hep-th/0512188] [INSPIRE].

- [74] B. Julia and H. Nicolai, Null Killing vector dimensional reduction and Galilean geometrodynamics, Nucl. Phys. B 439 (1995) 291 [hep-th/9412002] [INSPIRE].
- [75] E. Minguzzi, Eisenhart's theorem and the causal simplicity of Eisenhart's spacetime, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) 2781 [gr-qc/0612014] [INSPIRE].
- [76] X. Bekaert and K. Morand, Embedding nonrelativistic physics inside a gravitational wave, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 063008 [arXiv:1307.6263] [INSPIRE].
- [77] H. Kuenzle, Galilei and Lorentz structures on space-time comparison of the corresponding geometry and physics, Annales Poincaré Phys. Theor. 17 (1972) 337 [INSPIRE].
- [78] R. Andringa, E. Bergshoeff, S. Panda and M. de Roo, Newtonian Gravity and the Bargmann Algebra, Class. Quant. Grav. 28 (2011) 105011 [arXiv:1011.1145] [INSPIRE].
- [79] G. Dautcourt, On the Newtonian Limit of General Relativity, Acta Phys. Pol. B 21 (1990) 755.
- [80] D.T. Son, Newton-Cartan Geometry and the Quantum Hall Effect, arXiv:1306.0638 [INSPIRE].
- [81] P. Hořava and C.M. Melby-Thompson, Anisotropic Conformal Infinity, Gen. Rel. Grav. 43 (2011) 1391 [arXiv:0909.3841] [INSPIRE].
- [82] M. Henningson and K. Skenderis, The Holographic Weyl anomaly, JHEP 07 (1998) 023
   [hep-th/9806087] [INSPIRE].
- [83] P. Hořava, Membranes at Quantum Criticality, JHEP 03 (2009) 020 [arXiv:0812.4287] [INSPIRE].
- [84] P. Hořava, Quantum Gravity at a Lifshitz Point, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 084008
   [arXiv:0901.3775] [INSPIRE].
- [85] I. Adam, I.V. Melnikov and S. Theisen, A Non-Relativistic Weyl Anomaly, JHEP 09 (2009) 130 [arXiv:0907.2156] [INSPIRE].
- [86] P.R. Gomes and M. Gomes, On Ward Identities in Lifshitz-like Field Theories, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 065010 [arXiv:1112.3887] [INSPIRE].
- [87] H. Singh, Holographic flows to IR Lifshitz spacetimes, JHEP 04 (2011) 118
   [arXiv:1011.6221] [INSPIRE].
- [88] H. Singh, Lifshitz to AdS flow with interpolating p-brane solutions, JHEP 08 (2013) 097 [arXiv:1305.3784] [INSPIRE].
- [89] J. Gath, J. Hartong, R. Monteiro and N.A. Obers, Holographic Models for Theories with Hyperscaling Violation, JHEP 04 (2013) 159 [arXiv:1212.3263] [INSPIRE].
- [90] C. Hoyos, B.S. Kim and Y. Oz, *Lifshitz Hydrodynamics*, *JHEP* **11** (2013) 145 [arXiv:1304.7481] [INSPIRE].
- [91] C. Hoyos, B.S. Kim and Y. Oz, Lifshitz Field Theories at Non-Zero Temperature, Hydrodynamics and Gravity, arXiv:1309.6794 [INSPIRE].
- [92] K. Peeters, A Field-theory motivated approach to symbolic computer algebra, Comput. Phys. Commun. 176 (2007) 550 [cs/0608005] [INSPIRE].
- [93] K. Peeters, Introducing Cadabra: A Symbolic computer algebra system for field theory problems, hep-th/0701238 [INSPIRE].

- [94] S. de Haro, S.N. Solodukhin and K. Skenderis, Holographic reconstruction of space-time and renormalization in the AdS/CFT correspondence, Commun. Math. Phys. 217 (2001) 595
   [hep-th/0002230] [INSPIRE].
- [95] I. Papadimitriou and K. Skenderis, Thermodynamics of asymptotically locally AdS spacetimes, JHEP 08 (2005) 004 [hep-th/0505190] [INSPIRE].
- [96] C. Fefferman and C.R. Graham, Conformal Invariants, Elie Cartan et les Mathématiques d'aujourd'hui (Asterisque) 1103 (1985) 95.
- [97] C.R. Graham, Volume and area renormalizations for conformally compact Einstein metrics, math/9909042 [INSPIRE].
- [98] R. Penrose and W. Rindler, Spinors and Space-Time. Vol. 2: Spinor and Twistor Methods in Space-Time Geometry, Cambridge University Press, 1986.
- [99] J.D. Brown and M. Henneaux, Central Charges in the Canonical Realization of Asymptotic Symmetries: An Example from Three-Dimensional Gravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 104 (1986) 207 [INSPIRE].
- [100] M. Bruni, S. Matarrese, S. Mollerach and S. Sonego, Perturbations of space-time: Gauge transformations and gauge invariance at second order and beyond, Class. Quant. Grav. 14 (1997) 2585 [gr-qc/9609040] [INSPIRE].